## DEVELOPMENT AND HETEROGENEITY OF TYPE 2 INNATE LYMPHOID CELLS

## **IN MOUSE LUNGS**

by

Maryam Ghaedi

M.S., The University of British Columbia, 2015

## A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

## THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

## THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Pathology and Laboratory Medicine)

## THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

July 2019

© Maryam Ghaedi, 2019

The following individuals certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies for acceptance, the dissertation entitled:

Development and heterogeneity of type 2 innate lymphoid cells in mouse lungs

| submitted by   | Maryam Ghaedi                  | in partial fulfillment of the requirements for |
|----------------|--------------------------------|--|
| the degree of  | Doctor of Philosophy           |  |
| in             | Pathology and Laboratory Medic | ine  |
| Examining Co   | mmittee:                       |  |
| Dr. Fumio Tak  | xei                            |  |
| Supervisor     |                                |  |
| Dr. Ninan Abr  | aham                           |  |
| Supervisory C  | ommittee Member                |  |
| Dr. Pauline Jo | hnson                          |  |
| Supervisory C  | ommittee Member                |  |
| Dr. Megan Le   | vings                          |  |
| University Exa | aminer                         |  |
| Dr. Andrew W   | <sup>7</sup> eng               |  |
| University Exa | aminer                         |  |
| Additional Suj | pervisory Committee Members:   |  |
| Dr. Gerry Kry  | stal                           |  |
| Supervisory C  | ommittee Member                |  |

Dr. William Lockwood Supervisory Committee Member

## Abstract

Lung group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) drive allergic inflammation and promote tissue repair. To investigate the early developmental pathways that leads to the generation of lung ILC2, I divided adult bone marrow lymphoid primed multipotent progenitor (LMPPs) into CD127<sup>-</sup> (LMPP-s) and CD127<sup>+</sup> (LMPP+s) subsets and compared them with Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs). Although, all lymphocytes are thought to develop from CLPs, LMPP+s differentiated into T cells and ILCs more rapidly and efficiently than other progenitors in transplantation assays. These results suggested that some ILCs and T cells may develop from LMPP+s via CLP-independent pathways. To investigate whether distinct ILC2 subsets mediate the distinct ILC2 functions and elucidate their developmental relationship, we generated RORa lineage tracer mice and analyzed them by single cell RNA sequencing, flow cytometry and functional assays. Adult lung ILC2s were divided into IL- $18R\alpha^+ST2^-$  and IL- $18R\alpha^-ST2^+$  subsets. The former had an immature ILC phenotype, produced little cytokines and contained ILC progenitor like cells expressing Tcf7, whereas the latter was conventional ILC2s. Neonatal lung conventional ILC2s (IL-18Ra<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>) were divided into two distinct effector subsets and an IL- $18R\alpha^+ST2^-Tcf7^+$  progenitor-like subset. The two effector subsets were defined by the expression of ICOS and KLRG1, and they differentially produced the growth-factor amphiregulin and type 2 cytokines. Therefore, effector ILC2s diverge into tissue-repairing and pro-inflammatory subsets, which differ in transcriptional and phenotypic properties. The IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup>Tcf7<sup>+</sup> cells are likely IL-18 responsive lung ILC progenitors, which may contribute to ILC-poiesis in neonatal and inflamed lungs.

## Lay Summary

Our laboratory has characterized the functions of a lymphocyte population called ILC2 in mouse lungs. ILC2s contribute to the development of significant respiratory diseases including allergy, asthma and fibrosis. My doctoral research has elucidated the developmental pathways and complexity of lung ILC2s. I have showed that ILC2 development does not follow the conventional pathway of lymphocyte development. I have also showed that more restricted progenitors for ILC2s seem to seed neonatal and adult mouse lungs and generate ILC2s inside the lung, which might have implications for therapies targeting ILC2s. Plus, I have found that upon activation, ILC2s develop into two subsets, one that promotes inflammation (pro-inflammatory) and one that mediates tissue repair (tissue-repairing). I believe that pro-inflammatory ILC2s should be targeted in allergy and asthma, whereas tissue-repairing ILC2s could be targeted in cystic fibrosis.

## Preface

A version of Chapter 3 has been published. [Ghaedi, M], Steer, C. Martinez-Gonzalez, I. Halim, T. Abraham, N. and Takei, F. (4/2016) Common lymphoid progenitor-independent pathways of innate and T lymphocyte development. Cell Reports. 15(3): 471-480. I designed and performed the experiments, wrote and reviewed the paper. Martinez-Gonzalez, I., Steer, C., and Halim, T. performed experiments and reviewed the paper (the experiments depicted in Figure 3.5A were solely done by Martinez-Gonzalez, I.). Abraham, N. supervised the project, designed the experiments and wrote the paper.

A version of chapters 4 and 5 are under revision. [Ghaedi, M], Shen, ZY. Martinez-Gonzalez, I. Wei, L. Lu, X. Heravi-Moussavi, A. Marra, M. Bhandoola, A. and Takei, F. (12/2018) Single cell analysis of RORα lineage tracer mice revealed functional heterogeneity of lung ILC2s. I designed, performed the experiments, analyzed data and wrote the paper. Shen, ZY. designed, performed experiments and bioinformatics analyses of single cell RNA-sequencing data. Wei, L. and Heravi-Moussavi, A. performed bioinformatics analyses single cell RNA-sequencing data. Wei, L. and Heravi-Moussavi, A. performed bioinformatics analyses single cell RNA-sequencing data. Mei, I. and Heravi-Moussavi, A. performed experiments. Lu, X. designed and performed experiments in Figure 4.7 and Figure 5.6A. Marra, M. supervised the bioinformatics analysis. Bhandoola, A. designed and supervised the research. Takei, F. designed and supervised the research and wrote the paper.

All animal use was approved and performed in accordance with the guidelines of the animal care committee of the University of British Columbia and the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Canadian Council on Animal Care approval was granted under the certificate numbers: A16-0131 and A18-0231.

# **Table of Contents**

| Abstract                                     | iii   |
|--|-------|
| Lay Summary                                  | iv    |
| Preface                                      | V     |
| Гable of Contents                            | vi    |
| List of Tables                               | xi    |
| List of Figures                              | xii   |
| List of Abbreviations                        | xiv   |
| Acknowledgements                             | xvii  |
| Dedication                                   | xviii |
| Chapter 1: Introduction                      | 1     |
| 1.1 The Immune System                        | 1     |
| 1.1.1 The Adaptive Immune System Development | 1     |
| 1.1.2 The Innate Immune System               |       |
| 1.2 The Family of Innate Lymphocytes         | 5     |
| 1.2.1 Cytotoxic NK Cells                     | 6     |
| 1.2.2 Cytokine Producing ILCs                |       |
| 1.2.2.1 ILC1s                                |       |
| 1.2.2.2 ILC2s                                | 9     |
| 1.2.2.3 ILC3s                                | 9     |
| 1.3 ILC2s                                    |       |
| 1.3.1 ILC2 Phenotype and Function            |       |
|  | VI    |

| 1.3     | .2 ILC2 Heterogeneity   |     |
|---------|---|-----|
| 1.3     | .3 ILC2 Plasticity  | 16  |
| 1.4     | Development of Innate Lymphocytes                                     | 17  |
| 1.4     | .1 Classical Model of Lymphopoiesis                                   | 17  |
| 1.4     | .2 Common ILC Precursors  | 19  |
| 1.5     | Transcription Factors Regulating ILC Lineage and ILC2 Differentiation |     |
| 1.5     | .1 NFIL3  |     |
| 1.5     | .2 ID2  |     |
| 1.5     | .3 TOX  | 24  |
| 1.5     | .4 TCF-1  |     |
| 1.5     | .5 RUNX   |     |
| 1.5     | .6 GATA-3   |     |
| 1.5     | .7 RORα   |     |
| 1.5     | .8 BCL11b and GFI1  |     |
| 1.6     | Thesis Objectives   |     |
| Chapter | r 2: Materials and Methods  |     |
| 2.1     | Mice  |     |
| 2.2     | Rag-1/Red Mice  |     |
| 2.3     | RORα-YFP mice   |     |
| 2.4     | Primary Leukocyte Preparation   |     |
| 2.5     | Antibodies and Flow Cytometry   |     |
| 2.6     | RNA Isolation and Microarray Gene Expression Analysis                 |     |
| 2.7     | Single Cell mRNA Sequencing (scRNA-seq)                               |     |
|         |   | vii |

| 2.8      | BM Transplantation  |
|----------|---|
| 2.9      | BrdU Administration   |
| 2.10     | Accession Code  |
| 2.11     | Data and Materials Availability   |
| 2.12     | In vivo Stimulation   |
| 2.13     | In vitro Culture  |
| 2.14     | Statistics  |
| Chapter  | 3: Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Develop via Common-Lymphoid-Progenitor-      |
| Indepen  | dent Pathways40   |
| 3.1      | Introduction  |
| 3.2      | Results   |
| 3.2.     | 1 Lymphoid Progenitors in Adult Mouse BM Can Be Divided into Subsets with 41  |
| 3.2.2    | 2 Adult BM LMPP+s Are Potent T cell Progenitors                               |
| 3.2.     | Adult BM LMPP+s Are Potent Progenitors for ILC1s, ILC2s and ILC3s             |
| 3.2.4    | 4 RAG-1 Lineage Tracing   |
| 3.2.     | 5 Neonatal Lung ILC2s Persist into Adulthood                                  |
| 3.3      | Discussion  |
| Chapter  | 4: Single Cell Analysis of RORα Lineage Tracer Mice Revealed Heterogeneity of |
| Adult Lu | ung ILC2s   |
| 4.1      | Introduction  |
| 4.2      | Results   |
| 4.2.     | 1 RORα Lineage Tracing Marks Innate Lymphocytes Including Lung ILC2s 60       |

|     | 4.2.2             | ROR $\alpha$ Lineage Tracing Marks Lin <sup>-</sup> ROR $\gamma$ t <sup>-</sup> GATA-3 <sup>-</sup> Thy1 <sup>-</sup> and GATA-3 <sup>10</sup> Thy1 <sup>+</sup> |
|-----|-------------------|--|
|     | Cells in the Lung |  |
|     | 4.2.3             | ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies an ILC2 Cluster in Adult RORa-YFP Mouse  |
|     | Lungs             | 63   |
|     | 4.2.4             | ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies Two ILC2 Subsets in Adult RORα-YFP Mouse   |
|     | Lungs             | 67   |
|     | 4.2.5             | Adult Lung ILC2s Are Divided into IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2 <sup>-</sup> and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2 <sup>+</sup> Subsets 69   |
|     | 4.2.6             | Adult Lung IL-18Rα <sup>+</sup> ST2 <sup>-</sup> ILCs Express TCF-1  |
|     | 4.2.7             | Adult Lung IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup> ST2 <sup>-</sup> Are Not Dependent on CD127 Signaling for Their  |
|     | Develop           | ment   |
| 4.  | 3 Dise            | cussion  |
| Cha | pter 5: Si        | ingle Cell Analysis of ROR $\alpha$ -YFP Mice Revealed Heterogeneity of Neonatal   |
| Lun | g ILC2s.          |  |
| 5.  | 1 Intro           | oduction   |
| 5.  | 2 Res             | ults   |
|     | 5.2.1             | RORα Lineage Tracing Marks Neonatal Innate Lymphocytes Including Lung  |
|     | ILC2s             | 79   |
|     | 5.2.2             | ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies ILC2s in Neonatal RORa-YFP Mouse Lungs 81  |
|     | 5.2.3             | Identification of Two Distinct ILC2 Subsets in Neonatal RORa-YFP Mouse   |
|     | Lungs by          | v scRNA-seq Analysis   |
|     | 5.2.4             | Trajectory Analysis Revealed ILC Progenitor-Like Cells in Neonatal Lungs 88  |
|     |                   |  |
|     | 5.2.5             | Distinct Effector ILC2 Subsets and ILC Progenitor-Like cells in Neonatal Mouse   |

| 5.3      | Discussion    |    |
|----------|---------------|----|
| Chapter  | 6: Discussion | 97 |
| Future l | Direction     |    |
| Bibliogr | raphy         |    |

# List of Tables

| Table 4.1 Top 20 Differentially Expressed Genes by the 16 Cellular Clusters | in Figure 4.3B and  |
|---|---------------------|
| C   |                     |
| Table 5.1 Top 20 Differentially Expressed Genes by the 17 Cellular Clusters | in Figure 5.2 B and |
| C   |                     |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1.1 LMPPs Give Rise to CLPs, Which Are Perceived to Give Rise to All Lymphocytes 22   |
|--|
| Figure 3.1 Adult BM Lymphoid Progenitors Are Divided into Four Subsets   |
| Figure 3.2 LMPP+s Are More Efficient than LMPP-s, Ly6D- and Ly6D+ CLPs at Generating T   |
| Cells  |
| Figure 3.3 LMPP+s Are More Efficient than LMPP-s, Ly6D- and Ly6D+ CLPs at Generating   |
| ILCs   |
| Figure 3.4 RAG-1 Lineage Tracking  |
| Figure 3.5 Neonatal Lung ILC2s Persist in Adult Mice   |
| Figure 3.6 LMPP+s Are Upstream Lymphoid Progenitors to ILCs  |
| Figure 4.1 YFP Expression in Lymphoid Populations of Lung, BM and Intestine of ROR $\alpha$ -YFP                                       |
| Mice Shows the Expression of YFP by ILCs   |
| Figure 4.2 Flow Cytometric Analysis of RORa-YFP Mice Shows the Expression of YFP by  |
| Lin <sup>-</sup> RORγt <sup>-</sup> GATA-3 <sup>-</sup> Thy1 <sup>-</sup> and GATA-3 <sup>lo</sup> Thy1 <sup>+</sup> Cells in the Lung |
| Figure 4.3 ScRNA-seq Analysis of Adult RORa-YFP Mouse Lungs Identifies an ILC2   |
| Figure 4.4 ScRNA-seq Analysis of Adult RORa-YFP Mouse Lung ILC2s Identifies Two ILC2   |
| Subsets with Distinct Gene Expression Profiles   |
| Figure 4.5 Flow cytometric and Functional Analyses Confirm Two Distinct Adult Lung ILC2  |
| Subsets in RORa-YFP Mice   |
| Figure 4.6 Flow Cytometric and Functional Analyses Confirm Two Distinct Adult Lung ILC2  |
| Subsets in $Rag1^{-/-}$ Mice   |

| Figure 4.7 Flow Cytometric Analysis of Tcf7EGFP Mice Shows the Expression of EGFP by IL-      |
|---|
| 18Rα+ST2– ILCs in Adult Lungs   |
| Figure 4.8 Flow Cytometric Analysis of RORa-CD127cKO Mice Shows that IL-18Ra+ST2-             |
| ILCs in Adult Lung Are Not Dependent on IL-7 Signaling for Their Development                  |
| Figure 5.1 Flow Cytometric Analysis of ROR $\alpha$ -YFP Mice Shows the Expression of YFP by  |
| Neonatal ILC2s  |
| Figure 5.2 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies ILC2s in Neonatal Mouse Lungs                        |
| Figure 5.3 Differential Gene Expression Analysis of the Adult and Neonatal Lung ILC2s Subsets |
|   |
| Figure 5.4 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies Two Distinct ILC2 Subsets in Neonatal Mouse 88       |
| Figure 5.5 Trajectory Analysis of ScRNA-seq Neonatal Lung ILC2s Identifies Effector ILC2      |
| Subsets and ILC Progenitor-Like Cells in the Neonatal Lung                                    |
| Figure 5.6 Flow Cytometric and Functional Analysis Shows ILC Progenitor-Like Cells and        |
| Distinct Effector ILC2 Subsets in Neonatal Mouse Lungs  |

## List of Abbreviations

AB: antibody

AP1: activator protein 1

APC: allophycocyanin

B6: C57Bl/6

BAFF: B-Cell-Activating Factor

BCL11b: B cell leukemia/lymphoma 11B

BM: bone marrow

CHILPs: common progenitor to all helper-like ILCs

CLP: common lymphoid progenitor

CMP: common myeloid progenitors

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

CRTH2: chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on TH2 cells

DCs: dendritic cells

EGFP: enhanced green fluorescent protein

EILPs: early ILC progenitors

ETPs: early thymic progenitors

ETS: E26 transformation specific

FACS: florescence activated cell sorting

FOXP3: forkhead box P3

GATA3: GATA-binding protein 3

GFI-1: growth factor independent 1

GFLs: glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor family of ligands

HLH: Helix-Loop-Helix

HMG: high mobility group

HSC: haematopoietic stem cell

ID2: Inhibitor of DNA-binding 2

IFN: interferon

IFNy: interferon gamma

IL-17RB: IL-25 receptor

IL: interleukin

ILC: innate lymphoid cell

ILC1: innate lymphoid cell group 1

ILC2: innate lymphoid cell group 2

ILC2Ps: ILC2 progenitors

ILC3: innate lymphoid cell group 3

ILCPs: ILC precursor

ILFs: isolated lymphoid follicles

IRF: interferon-regulatory factor

Lin: lineage

LMPP: lymphoid primed multipotent progenitor

LN: lymph node

LT: lymphotoxin

LTi: lymphoid tissue inducer

Ly49: lymphocyte antigen 49 complex

MHC: major histocompatibility complex

NFIL3: nuclear factor interleukin-3

NK: natural killer

NKT: natural killer T cell

NOD/SCID: non obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient

NSG: NOD/SCID IL-2 receptor gamma chain knockout

PE: phycoerythrobilin

RAG: recombinase activating gene

ROR: retinoic acid receptor related orphan nuclear receptor

Sca-1: stem cell antigen 1

SCF: stem cell factor

ScRNA-seq: single cell RNA sequencing

TCF-1: T cell factor 1

TCR: T cell receptor

TGFβ: transforming growth factor-beta

Th: T helper

TLRs: Toll-like receptors

TNF-α: tumour necrosis factor-alpha

TOX: Thymocyte selection associated high-mobility group box protein

TRAIL: tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

TSLP: thymic stromal lymphopoietin

VIP: vasoactive intestinal peptide

 $\beta$ 2AR:  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor

## Acknowledgements

- Special thanks to my supervisor Dr. Fumio Takei, my advisor Dr. Avinash Bhandoola and my committee advisor Dr. Ninan Abraham for their dedication, support and kindness.
- Special thanks my supervisory committee members Dr. Pauline Johnson, Dr. Gerry Krystal and Dr. William Lockwood.
- Special thanks to my students: Zi Yi (Sophia) Shen, Bahar Heravi Moussavi and Lara Fricke.
- Special thanks to Lisa Wei, Dr. Alireza Heravi-Moussavi and Dr. Marco A. Marra.
- Special thanks to the past and present Takei laboratory members, Dr. Itziar Martinez-Gonzalez and Mona Orangi.
- Special thanks to BC Cancer flow core facility staff, specifically Wenbo Xu and Guillermo Simkin and the ARC facility staff, specifically Jane Jin and Rizaldy Gamboa.
- Special thanks to BRC-Seq Next Generation Sequencing Core in Biomedical Research Centre of the University of British Columbia, specifically Ryan Vander Werff.
- Special thanks to our funding: This work was supported by grants from the Canadian Institute of Health Research (to Fumio Takei). I am a recipient of a UBC Doctoral Affiliated Fellowship (Cordula and Gunter Paetzold).

# Dedication

To my beloved parents.

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **1.1** The Immune System

#### 1.1.1 The Adaptive Immune System Development

The immune system includes adaptive and innate immune systems. The adaptive immune system consists of B and T cell lymphoid lineages, that mediate antigen specific responses through their antigen specific receptors. Recombination activating gene enzymes (RAG-1 and 2) mediate V(D)J recombination and generation of these antigen specific receptors.

B cells are generated in the bone marrow (BM), express cell surface Ig, CD19, B220 and CD20, and mediate humoral immune response through generation of antibodies. B cells are divided into B-1 and B-2 (conventional) B cells. B-1 B cells are generated during fetal and neonatal period (Montecino-Rodriguez and Dorshkind, 2012). They are self-renewing innate-like B cells, which are mainly found in the peritoneal and pleural cavities. They have more limited antigen-receptor diversity than conventional B cells and constitutively produce natural antibodies (Cerutti et al., 2011). Natural antibodies, present in the circulation, recognize antigens commonly expressed by pathogenic viruses and bacteria such as capsular polysaccharide antigens and play important roles in controlling infections. Conventional B cells include follicular and marginal zone B cells that mainly develop from adult BM (Busslinger, 2004; Allman et al., 1999; Welinder et al., 2011). Conventional B cells are dependent on the transcription factor PU.1, B-Cell-Activating Factor (BAFF) and IL-7 signaling for their development, whereas all these are dispensable for the generation of B-1 B cells.

T cells are generated in the thymus from a BM precursor population that migrates from the BM to the thymus via the blood (Shortman and Wu, 1996; Rothenberg, 2012, 2014). In mice, the

thymus has the highest rates of T cell generation in the first 3-4 weeks of life. After puberty, the thymus gradually shrinks and the generation of new T cells becomes limited. Therefore, the peripheral pool of T cells is maintained by long-lived T cells through adulthood. After settling into the thymus, BM precursors receive Notch signaling that instructs commitment to the T cell lineage (Pui et al., 1999; Radtke et al., 2010, 1999). Notch signaling first induces the expression of the transcription factor T cell factor 1 (TCF-1) (Weber et al., 2011; Germar et al., 2011; Obaldia and Bhandoola, 2015). TCF-1 up-regulates the expression of the transcription factors GATA-binding protein 3 (GATA-3) and B cell leukemia/lymphoma 11B (BCL11b) that are essential for the Tcell-lineage development as well as upregulation of the components of the T cell receptor (TCR) complex. Notch signaling also regulates choices between the  $\alpha\beta$  vs  $\gamma\delta$  T cell lineages (Ciofani et al., 2006; Borowski et al., 2002; Kreslavsky et al., 2010; Lauritsen et al., 2006). In addition to the Notch signaling, IL-7 signaling is also essential for T cell development. T cell development is severely blocked in the absence of IL-7, or IL-7 receptor a (CD127) or common cytokine receptor  $\gamma$  chain ( $\gamma$ c) or JAK3 (Akashi et al., 1998). After BM precursors' initial differentiation phase into the T lineage pathway, these cells proliferate to develop into double-negative (DN) thymocytes, which do not express CD4, CD8 or CD3:TCR complex, and later give rise to  $\gamma\delta$  and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells (Koch and Radtke, 2011; Shah and Zúñiga-Pflücker, 2014; Krueger et al., 2017; Bhandoola et al., 2007). T cells expressing  $\gamma\delta$  receptors lack the expression of CD4 and CD8 co-receptors, develop during the fetal and neonatal period and mostly home to mucosal tissues (Dunon et al., 1997). They acquire a defined effector function during their development in thymus (Narayan et al., 2012). Considering the difficulties in identifying the ligands that bind  $\gamma\delta$  receptors, the functions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells has remained unclear. DN thymocytes that commit to the  $\alpha\beta$  lineage choice, gradually develop into CD4 and CD8 expressing double-positive (DP) thymocytes, later mature into CD8 or

CD4 single-positive (SP) thymocytes, and leave the thymus to form functionally distinct subsets in the periphery, namely CD8 and CD4 T cells (Starr et al., 2003; Klein et al., 2014). Additional populations that derive from DP thymocytes are regulatory T (Treg), natural killer T (NKT) and mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells (Godfrey et al., 2015). Treg cells express the transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) and depend on IL-2 signaling for their development (Ohkura et al., 2013). NKT cells express NK receptors, some of them also express CD4, but they are mostly negative for CD4 and CD8 expression (Benlagha et al., 2005). NKT cells differ from other  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, in recognizing CD1-bound glycolipid antigens rather than major histocompatibility complex class (MHC) molecules for their development and function (Brigl et al., 2003; Rossjohn et al., 2012). Early life composition of the gut microbiome is considered an important source of these agonist lipids that regulate the development of NKT cells (An et al., 2014). NKT cells also acquire effector programs during their development in the thymus. MAIT cells require a non-classical MHC molecule named MHC-related protein 1 (MR1) for their development and function (Seach et al., 2013; Garner et al., 2018). These T cells express an invariant TCR $\alpha$  chain that pair with a limited repertoire of  $\beta$  chains. MAIT cells recognize and become activated by bacterial and yeast derived metabolites that are presented by MR1 molecules. The  $\gamma\delta$  T, NKT and MAIT cell populations are all considered components of both the adaptive and innate immune system.

As mentioned, TCR $\alpha\beta$  T cells are divided into functionally distinct CD8 cytotoxic and CD4 helper T cells. TCF-1 expression in DP thymocytes plays critical role in regulating the development of CD8 versus CD4 T cells. TCF-1 positively regulate the transcription factors GATA-3 and ThPOK (*Zbtb7b*), both of which are required for the development CD4 T cells (Steinke et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2008). In addition, TCF-1 collaborates with the runt-related

3

transcription factors (RUNX) transcription factors family, which are required for the development of CD8 T cells, and repress CD4 T cell associated genes (Woolf et al., 2003). The development of cytotoxic CD8 T cells further requires the transcription factors EOMES and T-BET (Zhang and Bevan, 2011). CD4 T cells, upon activation, differentiate into distinct cytokine secreting T helper (Th) groups, namely Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17 and follicular Th cells (O'Shea and Paul, 2010). CD4 T cell differentiation into Th1 cells, which produce interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), requires the transcription factors T-BET and RUNX. The differentiation of CD4 T cells into Th2 cells, which produce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, requires GATA-3. CD4 T cells differentiation into Th17 cells, which produce IL-17 and IL-22, requires RUNX and ROR $\gamma$ t. The transcription factors involved in the development of CD4 Th subsets are discussed in more detail in section 1.5 of this chapter.

#### **1.1.2** The Innate Immune System

Innate immune responses are the first line of defense upon infections (Rivera et al., 2016; Baccala et al., 2009; Brubaker et al., 2015; Mogensen, 2009; Thaiss et al., 2016; Akira et al., 2006; Geering et al., 2013; Stone et al., 2010; Mildner and Jung, 2014; Merad et al., 2013). Most of the cells of the innate immune system are from the myeloid lineage that includes granulocytes (collective term for neutrophils, eosinophils, and basophils), macrophages, mast cells and dendritic cells (DCs). Granulocytes and macrophages provide phagocytic functions. Neutrophils are the most numerous innate immune cell population with prominent phagocytic capabilities. Eosinophil and basophil granules contain a variety of toxic proteins and enzymes, required for the defense against parasitic infections, which also contribute to the development of allergic inflammation. Mast cells are also important contributors to the protection against parasitic worms and development of allergic

4

reactions. Immature DCs migrate from BM to peripheral tissues, where they perform phagocytosis and micropinocytosis as sensor cells. Thereafter, they can migrate into lymphoid tissues to shape adaptive immune responses. Innate immune recognition of the microbial products occurs through the recognition of microbial-associated molecular patterns by pattern recognition receptors including phagocytic receptors, G-protein-coupled receptors, Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors and RIG-I-like receptors.

In addition to myeloid cells, the innate immune system includes a family of innate lymphocytes that also provide protection early during infections. These cells have lymphoid features but lack the expression of antigen receptors. They are stimulated by cytokines produced by non-immune and immune cells that have sensed microbial infection or tissue damage.

#### **1.2** The Family of Innate Lymphocytes

The family of innate lymphocytes includes cytotoxic natural killer (NK) cells and cytokine producing innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) (Koyasu et al., 2018; Diefenbach et al., 2017; Diefenbach, 2015; Diefenbach et al., 2014; Eberl et al., 2015; Klose and Artis, 2016; Artis and Spits, 2015). Cytokine producing ILCs are divided into three groups based on their developmental and functional similarities to the main groups of Th cells, namely group 1 ILCs (ILC1s), group 2 (ILC2s) and group 3 (ILC3s). Mouse parabiosis studies have indicated that ILCs are tissue resident cells (Gasteiger et al., 2015).

All innate lymphocytes depend on the  $\gamma$ c and JAK3 for their development and maintenance (Robinette et al., 2018; Colonna, 2018). These cells can develop in  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice. However, studies with RAG-1 lineage tracer mice show that NK, ILC2Ps and ILC2s transiently express Rag1 during their development (Yang et al., 2011; Karo et al., 2014; Ghaedi et al., 2016). Transient Rag

expression during NK cell development endow them with functional fitness, as *Rag* deficient NK cells are hyper-responsive, short-lived and cannot generate long-lived NK memory cells (Karo et al., 2014). Innate lymphocytes specialize for their tissue-specific functions during their development/maturation within tissues. In addition, ILC lineage representation shows clear differences among different tissues.

The chromatin regions accessible to transcription factors that serve as enhancers or repressors of gene expression are called regulomes and are defined by the assay for transposase-accessible chromatin-sequencing. Regulomes that dictate ILC and Th cell lineage specification are different from each other. In addition, ILC regulomes are mainly bound by E26 transformation specific (ETS) and RUNX transcription factors (Koues et al., 2016; Ebihara et al., 2015; Zook et al., 2016), whereas Th cell regulomes are bound by interferon-regulatory factor (IRF) and activator protein 1 (AP1). ILC and Th cells use similar regulatory regions to control type 1, 2, and 3 functional polarizations including the expression of their signature transcription factor and cytokine genes. These regulatory regions are accessible in ILCs, whereas they are inaccessible in naïve T cells until these cells are primed, activated and polarized (Shih et al., 2016).

#### **1.2.1** Cytotoxic NK Cells

NK cells are present in the BM, blood, spleen, lymph nodes (LN), lung and liver. They are the innate counterparts of CD8 T cells and similarly protect against viral infections and malignant cellular transformation by their capacity to produce IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , perforin and granzymes (Vivier et al., 2008). To perform their functions, NK cells express a variety of activating and inhibitory receptors, and integrate the signals received through these receptors. They express natural

cytotoxicity receptor 1 (NKp46), NK1.1 (in C57BL/6 mice), Fc receptors, NKG2 and Ly49 receptors. It is notable that every NK cell only expresses a fraction of these receptors.

NK cell differentiation starts when common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs) develop into pre-NK cell precursors (pre-NKP) defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>CD244<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Flt3<sup>-</sup>IL-2 receptor β (CD122)<sup>-</sup> (Carotta et al., 2011; Geiger and Sun, 2016). Pre-NKP first generate NK cell precursors (NKP) defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>CD122<sup>+</sup> (Rosmaraki et al., 2001; Fathman et al., 2011). These NKPs develop into immature NK cells, that are CD127<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup> that later gain expression of CD11b, CD49b (DX5) and Ly49 receptors and functional competence to produce IFN- $\gamma$  and become cytotoxic. The peripheral NK cell pool can be divided into subsets based on the expression of CD27 and CD11b (Kim et al., 2002; Hayakawa and Smyth, 2006; Chiossone et al., 2009), with the immature NK cells defined as CD27<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> and mature NK cells as CD27<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>, suggesting that NK cell maturation occurs in the periphery. Through pro-inflammatory cytokine exposure or viral infection, NK cells differentiate into effector and memory NK cells (Min-Oo et al., 2013; Kamimura and Lanier, 2015). During viral infection, CD8 T cells develop into KLRG1<sup>+</sup> shortlived and KLRG1<sup>-</sup> effector subsets (Kaech and Wherry, 2007). The KLRG1<sup>-</sup> CD8 T cells generate memory CD8 T cells. KLRG1<sup>-</sup> NK cells also seem to have a greater potential to give rise to longlived memory NK cells. In addition, NK cells with a history of *Rag1* expression are more likely to develop into KLRG1<sup>-</sup> NK cells and generate memory NK cells (Karo et al., 2014).

NK cells are dependent on the transcription factors nuclear factor interleukin-3 (NFIL3; also known as E4-binding protein 4), PU.1, Inhibitor of DNA-binding 2 (ID2), Thymocyte selection associated high-mobility group box protein (TOX) and EOMES for their development (Geiger and Sun, 2016). PU.1, a member of the ETS family of transcription factors, is required for the development of B, T, myeloid and NK cells. ETS-1 and myeloid ELF1-like factor are other

7

members of this family that are required for proper NK cell development (Barton et al., 1998; Ramirez et al., 2012; Lacorazza et al., 2002). NFIL3 is critical at the NKP stage for NK cell lineage commitment (Gascoyne et al., 2009; Kamizono et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2015a). NFIL3 deficient mice lack NK cells, whereas they have normal B and T cell development. The transcription factor RUNX3 and RUNX common obligatory partner (CBF- $\beta$ ) are required early during NK cell development and also for mature NK cells maintenance (Ohno et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2008). ID2 (Yokota et al., 1999; Boos et al., 2007; Schotte et al., 2010) and TOX (Aliahmad et al., 2010) are required for development of immature NK cells into mature cells. EOMES facilitate the acquisition of DX5 and Ly49 receptors (Townsend et al., 2004; Gordon et al., 2012).

IL-15 is required for NK cell development (Geiger and Sun, 2016; Ranson et al., 2003; Vosshenrich et al., 2005; Cooper et al., 2002; Marçais et al., 2014; Orange et al., 1996), while IL-7 is not. IL-12 is required for NK cell IFN- $\gamma$  production, expansion and memory generation. IL-18, type I IFNs and IL-33 are important for optimal expansion of these cells.

#### 1.2.2 Cytokine Producing ILCs

#### 1.2.2.1 ILC1s

ILC1s are considered to be the innate equivalents of Th1 cells and are similar to the previously described immature TRAIL<sup>+</sup>CD49a<sup>+</sup>CD49b(DX5)<sup>-</sup> NK cells (Takeda et al., 2001, 2005; Daussy et al., 2014). ILC1s mostly develop during the fetal and neonatal period (Constantinides et al., 2015) and are found in the liver, gut (Klose et al., 2014; Constantinides et al., 2014), salivary glands (Cortez et al., 2016) and adipose tissue (Sullivan et al., 2016). An ILC1 precursor is also characterized in the BM (Klose et al., 2014). ILC1s express T-BET, but not EOMES, and are dependent on T-BET and RUNX for their development (Gordon et al., 2012; Fuchs et al., 2013;

Klose et al., 2014; Daussy et al., 2014). ILC1s produce IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$  and TRAIL, but not perforin and granzymes (Cortez and Colonna, 2016; Colonna, 2018). ILC1s share close developmental, phenotypic and functional similarities with NK cells. They express NK1.1 and NKp46 and are dependent on IL-15, but not IL-7, for their development (Klose et al., 2014; Gronke et al., 2016). ILC1s are important in the efficient control of intracellular parasites including *Toxoplasma gondii*. ILC1 tissue residency program is driven by the transcription factor HOBIT and TGF $\beta$  signaling (Mackay et al., 2016). It is notable that HOBIT is also expressed by human NK cells and required for their development (Post et al., 2017). IL-15, IL-12 and IL-18 promote immediate ILC1 activation during infection (Weizman et al., 2017; Klose et al., 2014). The inhibitory molecules expressed by ILC1s include the ITIM receptor CD200R (binds CD200), TIGIT and CD96 (both bind CD155) (Cortez and Colonna, 2016; Colonna, 2018).

#### 1.2.2.2 ILC2s

ILC2s are the innate equivalents of Th2 cells (Koyasu et al., 2018). The phenotypic and functional characterization of ILC2 as well as their heterogeneity and developmental requirements are discussed in detail below.

#### 1.2.2.3 ILC3s

ILC3s are the innate equivalents of Th17 cells. They express the transcription factor ROR $\gamma$ t, on which they are dependent for their development. They are stimulated by IL-23, IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  and produce IL-17A/F and IL-22 (Pickert et al., 2009; Reynders et al., 2011; Hernández et al., 2015; Gronke and Diefenbach, 2015; Gronke et al., 2016; Branzk et al., 2018; Lindemans et al., 2015). IL-17 induces neutrophilia and IL-22 promotes epithelial cell production of Reg3

antimicrobial peptides, protection against viral and bacterial infections, tissue regeneration and wound healing.

ILC3s are heterogeneous. ILC3s that emerge during the fetal period and mediate the development of LNs and Peyer's patches are called lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells (Mebius et al., 1997; Yoshida et al., 1999; Eberl et al., 2004; Eberl, 2005). LTi cells express lymphotoxin (LT)  $\alpha 1\beta 2$  and activate LT $\beta R$  expressing stromal cells, which leads to recruitment of innate and adaptive immune cells and formation of lymphoid organs. In adult mice, at least two distinct ILC3 subsets are present based on the expression of CCR6 and T-bet. CCR6<sup>+</sup>T-bet<sup>-</sup> ILC3s resemble LTi cells and produce IL-17A/F and IL-22 upon activation. These cells express G-protein-coupled receptor 183 and migrate toward 7a,25-hydroxycholesterol produced by stromal cells in isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs) (Emgård et al., 2018). CCR6<sup>+</sup> ILC3s express receptor activator of nuclear factor kB ligand also known as TNF superfamily member 11 (RANKL or TNFSF11) and its receptor RANK (TNFRSF11a) (Bando et al., 2018). RANK-RANKL interactions between ILC3s inhibit their activation and proliferation to regulate their function and population size. CCR6<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>+</sup> develop during the first weeks after birth, are mostly found in the intestinal lamina propria, and can be divided into two subsets based on the expression of NKp46 (Gronke et al., 2016; Branzk et al., 2018; Klose et al., 2013, 2014; Rankin et al., 2013; Sanos et al., 2009; Luci et al., 2009; Satoh-Takayama et al., 2008; Vonarbourg et al., 2009). CCR6<sup>-</sup>T-bet<sup>+</sup> ILC3s that express NKp46 and NKG2D, produce IL-22 and IFNy but not IL-17A/F. T-bet and Notch signaling can instruct downregulation of the RORyt expression and their differentiation into IFNy and TNF $\alpha$  producing ILC1s (also known as ex-ILC3s) (Klose et al., 2013; Rankin et al., 2013; Viant et al., 2016; Chea et al., 2016a; Klose et al., 2014). It is notable that these ex-ILC3s can reverse this plasticity by regaining RORyt expression and losing NKp46 (Bernink et al., 2015; Rankin et al., 2016).

Nutrient signaling plays important roles in the development of fetal and neonatal lymphoid organs and immune fitness during adulthood. Vitamin A metabolite retinoic acid (RA) directly regulates ROR $\gamma$ t expression and the population size of fetal LTi cells, and hence the development of LNs and Peyer's patches (Van De Pavert et al., 2014). Vitamin A deficiency results in fewer and smaller LNs and PPs and reduced immune fitness later in life. RA also control adult ILC3 population size and their production of IL-22 (Spencer et al., 2014). RA deficiency results in compromised immunity to the attaching effacing bacterial pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. However, RA deficiency results in increased ILC2 number and activity and therefore immunity to helminth infections. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), is a transcription factor that is also activated by dietary (including flavonoids and glucosinolates found in plants), bacterial and endogenous ligands. Signals from AhR are required for the postnatal maintenance and expansion of CCR6<sup>-</sup> ILC3s, formation of the ILFs, proper IL-22 production and defense against infection with C. rodentium (Kiss et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012; Qiu et al., 2011; Kiss and Diefenbach, 2012). In addition, AhR signaling inhibit ILC2 activation and hence regulates ILC2 and ILC3 balance in the intestine (Li et al., 2018).

Peripheral nervous system can affect ILC functions. ILFs are innervated by the peripheral enteric nerves that are sheathed in glial cells. These glial cells sense microbial presence through TLR signaling and release glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor family of ligands (GFLs). ILC3s express the receptor tyrosine kinase RET that binds GFLs (Ibiza et al., 2016), resulting in their proper production of IL-22. In addition, after *Escherichia coli* infection, the vagal system release of acetylcholine stimulates ILC3s resulting in their production of the protectin conjugates in tissue regeneration 1, which mediates resolution of inflammation and tissue repair (Dalli et al., 2017).

ILC3s also play critical roles in the immune responses mediated by adaptive B and T cells. ILC3s are critical for the effective production of immunoglobulins by B cells, through their production of a variety of TNF superfamily ligands including LT $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 2, LT $\alpha$ 3, BAFF, RANKL, LIGHT, APRIL and CD40L (Tsuji et al., 2008; Kruglov et al.; Magri et al., 2014; Magri and Cerutti, 2015). ILC3s express MHC II and present commensal bacteria-specific antigens to T cells, which inhibit T cell activation and promote immune tolerance (Hepworth et al., 2013, 2015). ILC3derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor controls the colonic DCs and macrophages maintenance and functions that is required for inducing Treg cells and oral tolerance (Mortha et al., 2014).

#### 1.3 ILC2s

#### **1.3.1 ILC2 Phenotype and Function**

ILC2s mostly develop during neonatal period and can be found in the lung, gut, skin and adipose tissue (Bando et al., 2013; de Kleer et al., 2016; Saluzzo et al., 2017; Steer et al., 2017; Ghaedi et al., 2016; Hoyler et al., 2012). The main key cytokines that induce activation and effector functions of ILC2s include thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-2, IL-7, IL-25 and IL-33 (Van Dyken et al., 2016). ILC2s can be identified by a combination of cell surface markers, although their surface phenotypes vary depending on their tissue origin. Tissue-derived signals that are independent of the microbiota and cytokine signaling induce their tissue-specific gene expression profiles (Ricardo-Gonzalez et al., 2018; Zhu, 2018). IL-33R (ST2) is preferentially expressed on lung (Ricardo-Gonzalez et al., 2018; Halim et al., 2012b; a) and adipose tissue ILC2s (Molofsky et al., 2015), whereas IL-25R is expressed by gut ILC2s (von Moltke et al., 2015; Howitt et al., 2016; Gronke and Diefenbach, 2016). Moreover, skin ILC2s express IL-18Rα, and IL-18 is

required for their optimal activation, proliferation and function. It is notable that adult BM contains committed ILC2 precursors, termed ILC2 progenitors (ILC2Ps) (Halim et al., 2012b; Hoyler et al., 2012) and defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>KLRG1<sup>-</sup>. They produce low amounts of IL-5 and IL-13 upon stimulation with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and ionomycin compared to lung ILC2s. In addition, upon transplantation into alymphoid mice, they efficiently differentiate into ILC2s in the mucosal tissues.

In mouse lungs, ILC2s can be defined as lineage marker negative  $(Lin)^-$ , positive for Thy1 (CD90), IL-7 receptor  $\alpha$  (IL-7R $\alpha$ ) (CD127), ST2 and IL-2R $\alpha$  (CD25). These cytokine receptors are important stimulatory receptors for ILC2s (Martinez-Gonzalez et al., 2015; Van Dyken et al., 2016; Martinez-Gonzalez et al., 2016). ILC2s express the transcription factors GATA3 and ROR $\alpha$ , which are critically required for ILC2 development (Halim et al., 2012b; Wong et al., 2012; Hoyler et al., 2012; Mjösberg et al., 2012; Yagi et al., 2014), and are negative for the expression of the transcription factors Eomes, T-bet and ROR $\gamma$ t.

Lung ILC2s are stimulated in vivo by inhaled allergens or IL-33 and they produce large amounts of IL-5 and IL-13 (Halim et al., 2012a; Chang et al., 2011), which induce T cellindependent eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia, mucus hyperproduction, and airway hyperreactivity. ILC2s express the enzyme arginase-1 (Arg1), as a key regulator of their metabolic programming (Monticelli et al., 2016). Expression of Arg1 by ILC2s is required for proper arginine catabolism, polyamine biosynthesis and aerobic glycolysis necessary for their proliferation and pro-inflammatory function after activation. Allergen-experienced lung ILC2s acquire antigen nonspecific memory properties. They upregulate IL-25R, persist, and mediate an enhanced type 2 inflammation upon re-activation by unrelated allergens (Martinez-Gonzalez et al., 2018, 2016). ILC2s also promote allergen-induced Th2 cell differentiation and memory response (Halim et al., 2014; Martinez-Gonzalez et al., 2015; Halim et al., 2016), thus have important roles in both T cell independent and dependent allergic lung inflammation. Activated ILC2s also produce the growth factor amphiregulin, a ligand of the EGF receptor (Monticelli et al., 2011, 2015) to promote airway and intestinal epithelial growth and therefore tissue repair after influenza virus infection or intestinal damage. In addition ILC2s produce IL-4 (Pelly et al., 2016), IL-2 (Pelly et al., 2016), IL-9 (Wilhelm et al., 2011) and IL-10 (Seehus et al., 2017) as well as methionine enkephalin peptides (Brestoff et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Flach and Diefenbach, 2015). They express cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1 (CysLT1R) (Doherty et al., 2013), DR3 (TNFRSF25) (Meylan et al., 2014), GITR (TNFRSF18)/Ligand (TNFSF18) (Nagashima et al., 2018; Rauber et al., 2017), ICOS/Ligand (Maazi et al., 2015; Molofsky et al., 2015; Rauber et al., 2017) and OX40 ligand (Halim et al., 2018). ILC2s express a variety of inhibitory receptors including the ITIM-bearing receptors KLRG1 that binds to E-cadherin (Taylor et al., 2017a; Vivier, 2017) and programmed death 1 (PD-1) that binds to PD-1 ligand (PD-L1) (Taylor et al., 2017b; Yu et al., 2016). They express the receptors for and are inhibited by the cytokines IL-27, IFN $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  (Moro et al., 2016; Molofsky et al., 2015; Duerr et al., 2015). ILC2s also express the receptor and are inhibited by prostaglandin I<sub>2</sub> (Zhou et al., 2016).

ILC2s are in close proximity to peripheral nerves that can affect their functions. Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) is a neuropeptide that binds VIP receptor on ILC2s and enhance their cytokine production during helminth infections (Nussbaum et al., 2013). Neuromedin U is another neuropeptide that can bind the neuromedin receptor 1 on ILC2s resulting in their activation (Klose et al., 2017; Wallrapp et al., 2017; Cardoso et al., 2017). In addition, lung ILC2s reside in close proximity to pulmonary neuroendocrine cells that can release the neuropeptide calcitonin generelated peptide to stimulate ILC2s and amplify allergic responses (Sui et al., 2018). In contrast to

these activating receptors, ILC2s express the  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor ( $\beta$ 2AR) (Moriyama et al., 2018).  $\beta$ 2AR deficiency results in exaggerated ILC2 responses.  $\beta$ 2AR agonist treatment inhibits ILC2s activation and proliferation. Hence  $\beta$ 2AR pathway presents a neuronal-derived negative regulator of ILC2s.

Human ILC2 are defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> that are positive for chemoattractant receptorhomologous molecule expressed on TH2 cells (CRTH2)<sup>+</sup> (Mjösberg et al., 2011, 2012; Monticelli et al., 2016; Xue et al., 2014; von Moltke et al., 2017). They also express GATA-3, IL-25R, IL-33R, CD161 and Arg1, and produce IL-5 and IL-13 upon stimulation. The expression of CRTH2 by ILC2s reflect the ability of these cells to sense lipid mediators including prostaglandin D2 released during inflammation. In addition, human ILC2s express the receptors PTGER2 and PTGER4 and are inhibited by prostaglandin E2 (Maric et al., 2018). All these receptors/ligands on ILC2s enable them to interact with a variety of cell types and participate in a broad range of immune responses. However, it is unknown whether a single population of ILC2s produces all these molecules.

#### 1.3.2 ILC2 Heterogeneity

Until recently, the ILC2 population was thought to be homogeneous. Although it has been reported that intraperitoneal injection of IL-25 or helminth infection induces a population of KLRG1<sup>hi</sup>IL-25R<sup>+</sup> ILC2s, termed inflammatory ILC2s, in the lung (Huang et al., 2018b, 2015), these cells are not lung resident at resting state. Instead they migrate from intestinal lamina propria to peripheral sites including the lung. Single cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) analysis of human Lin<sup>-</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> ILCs in tonsil revealed distinct sub-populations of ILC3s (Björklund et al., 2016), whereas no heterogeneity among ILC2s was found. Moreover, scRNA-seq analysis of

Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> ILCs in the small intestine of mice divided the ILC1, ILC2 and ILC3 populations into distinct transcriptional states (Gury-BenAri et al., 2016). Intestinal ILC2s had four transcriptional states designated ILC2a-d, based on graded expression of *Gata3* and *Klrg1*. Flow cytometric analysis showed that >90% of intestinal ILC2s are KLRG1<sup>+</sup> and included IL-5<sup>+</sup>IL-4<sup>-</sup> cells, whereas the small KLRG1<sup>-</sup> subset included rare IL-5<sup>-</sup>IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells. In a more recent study, scRNA-seq analysis was performed on  $Il5^+$  ILC2s from the lung, gut, fat and skin as well as  $Argl^+$  cells from BM (Ricardo-Gonzalez et al., 2018; Zhu, 2018). All skin and ~10% lung *Il5*<sup>+</sup> ILC2s as well as less than 5% BM  $Argl^+$  cells expressed IL-18R $\alpha$ , but not ST2. IL-18 was required for the optimal IL-5 and IL-13 production and proliferation of skin ILC2s in a model of atopic dermatitis. In contrast, lung 115<sup>+</sup> ILC2s upon in vitro stimulation with IL-18 produced barely detectable amounts of IL-13. In addition, intradermal injection of IL-18 resulted in minimum *Il13* expression by lung *Il5*<sup>+</sup> ILC2s. The biological significance and the developmental pathways of the IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> ILC2 subset in the lung and BM are unknown. Another recent analysis of human ILC2s in various tissues by mass cytometry has shown extensive heterogeneity among individuals and tissue origins (Simoni et al., 2017). Human peripheral blood ILC2s were IL-18R $\alpha^+$  and they produced IL-5 and IL-13 upon stimulation with IL-18. However, it is unknown whether IL-18Ra is expressed by a subset of human ILC2s or on previously activated ILC2s. Although, these studies have shown that the ILC2 population may be more complex than previously thought, the functional significance and physiological relevance of ILC2 heterogeneity remains largely unknown.

#### **1.3.3** ILC2 Plasticity

Human ILC2s can trans-differentiate into IFN $\gamma$  producing ILC1s under the influence of IL-1 $\beta$  or IL-33 and IL-12 signaling. IL-1 $\beta$  induces ILC2 proliferation and cytokine production. IL-1 $\beta$  also

induces the transcriptional activation of the NK/ILC1-associated loci encoding T-bet, IL-12R $\beta$ 1 and IL-12R $\beta$ 2 in ILC2s, which enables them to respond to IL- 12 and convert into IFN $\gamma$  producing ILC1s (Ohne et al., 2016; Bal et al., 2016; Lim et al., 2016). Most of these IFN $\gamma$  expressing ex-ILC2s also express IL-13. The importance of IL-12 signaling in ILC2s/ILC1 conversion is confirmed by the analysis of individuals with Mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial disease due to lack of IL-12R $\beta$ 1. In these individuals, ILC2s fail to trans-differentiate into ILC1s. The increase in the T-bet expression by trans-differentiated ILC2s is correlated with downregulation in the expression of GATA-3, CRTH2, IL-5 and IL-13. These ex-ILC2s accumulate in lungs of individuals with the inflammatory disease severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). In addition, IL-18 and IL-12 can promote conversion of mouse ILC2s into ILC1, and this conversion is boosted in the presence of IL-33 (Silver et al., 2016). This trans-differentiation of lung ILC2s occurs in mice after influenza virus infection. Both IL- 33 and IL- 1 $\beta$  belong to the IL-1 family of cytokines and can activate NF- $\kappa$ B signaling that might be crucial for ILC2 trans-differentiation to ILC1s.

#### **1.4 Development of Innate Lymphocytes**

#### **1.4.1** Classical Model of Lymphopoiesis

Haematopoietic stem cells (HSC) are a fraction of Lin<sup>-</sup>EPCR<sup>+</sup>CD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup> cells in the haematopoietic organs including BM and can generate all types of blood cells (Benz et al., 2012). They have self-renewal capacity and differentiate into blood cell lineages by a stepwise loss of their lineage potential through differentiation into consecutive array of progenitors. HSCs initially differentiate into common myeloid progenitors (CMP) and lymphoid primed multipotent progenitors (LMPPs) (Challen et al., 2009; Kondo, 2010). CMPs give rise to

granulocyte/macrophage and megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitors and eventually neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, mast cells, monocytes/macrophages, DCs as well as megakaryocyte/platelets and erythroblasts/erythrocytes. On the other hand, LMPPs represent a progenitor population that is mainly primed for lymphoid lineage development but retain residual myeloid potential (Adolfsson et al., 2005).

In the classical scheme of lymphopoiesis, LMPPs that are identified as Lin<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>hi</sup>Sca-1<sup>hi</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup> BM cells first differentiate into CLPs (Kondo et al., 1997; Karsunky et al., 2008) that are identified as Lin-KitloSca-1loFlt3+CD127hi cells. CLPs lack myeloid potential and are considered to first develop into committed T, B and ILC progenitors to eventually give rise to T, B and innate lymphocytes. However, the studies on the most immature T cell progenitors in the thymus, termed early thymic progenitors (ETPs), suggested that T cell development does not follow the classical scheme of lymphocyte development (Allman et al., 2003; Bhandoola and Sambandam, 2006). A subset of LMPPs defined by their expression of Rag1 were more efficient T cell progenitors compared to CLPs in transplantation assays (Igarashi et al., 2002; Perry et al., 2006). Also, LMPPs can circulate in the peripheral blood, whereas CLPs are hardly detectable in the peripheral blood (Schwarz and Bhandoola, 2004). In addition, ETPs have residual myeloid potential. All these results suggest that ETPs and hence T cells develop from LMPPs via a CLPindependent pathway. Later studies showed that CLPs can be divided into two subsets based on the expression of Ly6D (Inlay et al., 2009). Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs which have residual myeloid and potent T and NK cell potential, were termed all-lymphoid progenitors (ALPs). Ly6D<sup>+</sup>CLPs that mainly include B cell progenitors, were termed B-cell-biased lymphoid pro-genitors (BLPs).
# 1.4.2 Common ILC Precursors

All innate lymphocytes including cytotoxic NK cells and helper-like ILCs develop from a common Tcf7 (TCF-1)-expressing precursor population termed early ILC progenitors (EILPs) (Figure 1.1) (Yang et al., 2015b; Harly et al., 2017; Harly and Bhandoola, 2017). EILPs are identified by Lin<sup>-</sup>*Tcf*<sup>7+</sup>α4β7<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup>Flt3<sup>10</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD122<sup>-</sup>CXCR6<sup>-</sup>. In addition to *Tcf*7, EILPs highly express Nfil3, Tox and Runx, which are required for the development of all innate lymphocytes. EILPs are considered specified but not committed progenitors to innate lymphocytes, since they have residual DC potential. It is notable that another common progenitor population to both NK and helper ILC lineages has been identified as  $\text{Lin}^{-}\text{CD127}^{+}\text{CXCR6}^{-/+}\alpha 4\beta 7^{+}\text{Flt3}^{-}$  BM cells and termed aLP (Yu et al., 2014; Possot et al., 2011). The CXCR6<sup>-</sup> aLP have lost the B cell potential but retain T cell and ILC lineage potential. However, the CXCR6<sup>+</sup> αLP only differentiates into the NK and ILC lineages. It is thought that these common progenitors first differentiate into Pre-NKP/NKP (Geiger and Sun, 2016) and common progenitors for the cytokine-producing (helperlike) ILCs termed CHILPs (Klose et al., 2014; Gronke et al., 2016). As mentioned earlier Pre-NKP/NKP give rise to mature NK cells. CHILPs, are Id2-expressing progenitors in the fetal liver and adult BM that give rise to ILC1, ILC2, ILC3 (including LTi cells), but not NK, T or B cells upon transfer into alymphoid mice and in in vitro differentiation assays. CHILPs are identified as  $Lin^{-1}d2^{+}\alpha 4\beta 7^{+}Thy 1^{+}CD127^{+}Flt3^{-}CD25^{-}ST2^{-}$  cells. A fraction of them expresses the transcription factor promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger (PLZF; encoded by the Zbtb16). PLZF is expressed in NKT cells and is required for their development (Kovalovsky et al., 2008; Savage et al., 2008). ID2 controls PLZF transcription during NKT cell development (Verykokakis et al., 2013), hence the PLZF<sup>-</sup> CHILPs might give rise to the PLZF<sup>+</sup> CHILPs. PLZF<sup>+</sup> CHILPs were termed common precursors to ILCs (ILCPs) (Constantinides et al., 2014). ILCPs express the transcription factor

genes *Tcf7*, *Tox, Rora* and *Gata3*. ILCPs had potential to give rise to ILC1, ILC2, ILC3, but not LTi, NK, T or B cells upon transfer into alymphoid mice and in *in* vitro differentiation assays, Hence, ILCPs had more restricted developmental options than CHILPs. In agreement with this, *Zbtb16* lineage tracing marks ILCs, but not NK or LTi cells. It is notable that ILCPs specifically express the cell surface marker PD-1 that allows their isolation without relying on the use of reporter mice (Xu et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2016). All these precursors are present in the fetal liver (Bando et al., 2015; Constantinides et al., 2014, 2015; Klose et al., 2014; Ishizuka et al., 2016; Possot et al., 2011; Cherrier et al., 2012; Chea et al., 2016b; Yoshida et al., 2001). However, ILCS generated during fetal and adult periods are different. During the fetal period, mainly ILC3s and ILC1s develop. Whereas, ILC2s and NK cells are mainly generated after birth. It is notable that the contribution of the aforementioned adult BM precursors to ILC generation is still not clear, considering that ILCs are long lived and seem to be replenished by self-renewal (Gasteiger et al., 2015). In addition, these cells might be replenished by a pool of tissue resident ILC progenitors (Ebihara et al., 2015).

In humans, several ILC-restricted progenitors have been identified (Renoux et al., 2015; Montaldo et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2018; Scoville et al., 2016). A human systemic ILC precursor population in circulation and tissues have also been found, which can give rise to NK cells, ILC1s, ILC2s and IL-22-expressing (but not IL-17A-expressing) ILC3s (Lim et al., 2017b, 2018) *in vivo* in humanized mice and *in vitro* differentiation assays. These systemic ILC precursors were defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>CD7<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>CD117(Kit)<sup>+</sup>. These cells lacked the expression of surface molecules associated with NK cells, ILC1s, ILC2s and ILC3s. They expressed intermediate levels of GATA-3 compared to NK cells and CRTH2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s and lacked RORγt, T-bet and Eomes. A fraction of these cells expressed PLZF. The transcriptomic and epigenetic analyses of these cells revealed high expression of *Cd2*, *Cd7*, *Tox*, *Tcf7*, *Runx3*, *Gata3*, *Id2*, *Zbtb16*, *Rora* as well as *Il18r1* and *Il1r1*. In addition, these cells do not express the key mature ILC-associated-genes including *Eomes*, *Tbx21*, *Rorc*, *Il1rl1*, *Il23r*, *Ifng*, *Il13*, *Il5* and *Il22* but have these genes in an epigenetically poised configuration. These systemic progenitors in circulation and in tissues may differentiate into ILCs within tissues in response to the local tissue microenvironment signals generated during homeostatic and inflammatory conditions.



#### Figure 1.1 LMPPs Give Rise to CLPs, Which Are Perceived to Give Rise to All Lymphocytes

T cell development does not require a CLP stage of development. In addition, it is generally perceived that EILPs develop from CLPs. EILPs are specified, but not committed progenitors to innate lymphocytes since they can differentiate into DCs. EILPs differentiate into NKP and CHILPs. NKPs give rise to cytotoxic NK cells. CHILPs give rise to both LTi cells and ILCPs. ILCPs are the common precursors to ILC1s, ILC2s and ILC3s. On the top of each developmental stage the cell surface proteins expressed are listed. On the bottom, the transcription factors expressed are listed. The main transcription factors expressed by ILC1s, ILC2s and ILC3s are also listed.

# 1.5 Transcription Factors Regulating ILC Lineage and ILC2 Differentiation

# 1.5.1 NFIL3

NFIL3 is a basic region leucine zipper transcription factor and a key regulator of both the NK cell and helper ILC lineages (Yu et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2015; Seillet et al., 2014, 2016; Geiger et al., 2014; Kamizono et al., 2009; Male et al., 2014). EILPs express Nfil3 as well as low levels of Id2 (Yang et al., 2015b). NFIL3 binds and regulates Id2 locus. NFIL3 is required for the development of aLPs, NKPs, CHILPs, ILCPs and ILC2Ps. Consequently, NFIL3 deficiency results in lowered frequencies and absolute numbers of NK cells, ILC1s, ILC2s and ILC3s. IL-7 signaling is speculated to be involved in the regulation of NFIL3. It is notable that only a transient expression of NFIL3 prior to ID2 is required for the innate lymphoid lineage specification and development. Deletion of NFIL3 after the induction of ID2 expression has no effect on the development and maintenance of these cells. NFIL3 was also shown to bind the TOX promoter, another transcription factor involved in early innate lymphoid lineage specification and development, in a mouse lymphoma cell line. During NK cell development NFIL3 also directly binds the regulatory region of EOMES and promote its transcription. In addition, NFIL3 is required for the proper development of Peyer's patches, but not LNs. NFIL3 deficiency results in reduced number of Peyer's patches as well as impaired recruitment and distribution of lymphocytes within them.

## 1.5.2 ID2

ID2 is strictly required for the development of all innate lymphocytes including cytotoxic NK cells and ILCs (Diefenbach et al., 2014; Kee, 2009; Yokota et al., 1999). ID2 is a Helix-Loop-Helix (HLH) transcriptional repressor, which can heterodimerize with E proteins to repress their transcriptional activity. E proteins are transcription factors containing an HLH domain as well as a basic DNA-binding region. Mammalian E proteins include E12 and E47, which arise through alternative splicing of the Tcf3, HEB (Tcf12), E2-2 (Tcf4) (Wang and Baker, 2015). E proteins are essential in the T and B cell development. ID2 heterodimerization with E proteins inhibit their DNA binding and transcriptional activity and suppress T and B cell fates. Consistent with the ID2 roles, several genes are upregulated in ID2 deficient  $\alpha$ LPs compared to their wild type counterparts that are known targets of E proteins (Seillet et al., 2016). In addition, these cells have lower expression of Tox, Gata3, Arg1 and Lmo4. Consequently, ID2 expression is not only required for commitment to the innate lymphoid lineage, but also for inducing/maintaining the critical regulators Tox and Gata3. ID2 is required at different development stages during NK cell and ILC lineage development. NKPs are ID2<sup>-</sup> and develop in ID2 deficient mice, whereas CHILP and ILCPs express ID2 and are dependent on it for their development (Boos et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2015b; Harly et al., 2017). ID2 is expressed after NK cell lineage specification and is required for their terminal differentiation (Boos et al., 2007; Fathman et al., 2011; Geiger and Sun, 2016). ID2 is also required for LN organogenesis. Notch and TOX signaling might be important in the induction of ID2 in progenitors to innate lymphocytes (Seehus et al., 2015a; Cherrier et al., 2012; Delconte et al., 2016).

# 1.5.3 TOX

TOX, encoded by the *Tox* gene, is a high mobility group (HMG)-box transcription factor that is required for the development of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T, Treg and NKT cells (Wilkinson et al., 2002; Aliahmad and Kaye, 2008; Aliahmad et al., 2011). TOX is also required for the development of LTi cells and NK cells (Aliahmad et al., 2010). Hence,  $Tox^{-/-}$  mice lack LN organogenesis and mature NK cells, whereas NKPs are present in these mice. EILPs,  $\alpha$ LPs, CHILPs and ILCPs express TOX

(Harly et al., 2017; Constantinides et al., 2014; Seehus et al., 2015a; Seillet et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2014). In addition, EILPs and CHILPs fail to develop and ILC1, ILC2 and ILC3 are severely reduced in numbers in  $Tox^{-/-}$  mice. It is suggested that Tox expression in ILC progenitors might be regulated by Notch or NFIL3 (Yu et al., 2014; Seehus et al., 2015b).

# 1.5.4 TCF-1

TCF-1, encoded by the *Tcf7* gene, is a HMG-box transcription factor. TCF-1 is critical in T cell lineage development and TCF-1 deficiency results in substantially reduced thymic cellularity and peripheral mature T cells (Ohteki et al., 1996; Verbeek et al., 1995; Weber et al., 2011; Germar et al., 2011; Obaldia and Bhandoola, 2015). TCF-1 is directly up-regulated by Notch signaling in ETPs and continues to be expressed during T cell development in thymus as well as mature T cells. TCF-1 induces the expression of the T-cell-lineage essential transcription factors GATA-3 and BCL11b and might also play a role in blocking B cell fate during T cell development. TCF-1 cooperates with lymphoid enhancer binding factor 1 to promote DP thymocytes to a CD4 T cell fate (Steinke et al., 2014). Furthermore, TCF-1 initiates Th2 differentiation by promoting GATA-3 expression and blocking Th1 cell fate (Yu et al., 2009).

During NK cell and ILC development, Tcf7 expression by EILPs (Yang et al., 2015b; Harly et al., 2017) is consistent with a transient Notch signaling. IL-7 signaling along with a transient Notch signaling in CLPs leads to the generation of ILC2s, whereas sustained Notch signaling in CLPs leads to the generation of T cells (Koga et al., 2018). NFIL3, TOX and TCF-1 are all expressed early during ILC lineage development (Yang et al., 2015b; Seillet et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2014; Seehus et al., 2015a; Harly et al., 2017; Ishizuka et al., 2016). NFIL3 and TOX might be involved in upregulating Tcf7 expression, and perhaps all the three transcription factors are

required for the efficient generation of EILPs. Therefore, NFIL3-TOX-TCF-1 cascade may provide the early transcriptional machinery required for NK and ILC lineage specification and commitment.  $Tcf7^{-/-}$  mice have severely reduced  $\alpha$ LPs, CHILPs and NKPs (Seillet et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2015b). The remaining  $Tcf7^{-/-} \alpha LPs$  have upregulated HSC and B cell developmental programs genes including *Hhex*, *Lmo2*, *Spib*, *Irf8* and *Ly6d* (Seillet et al., 2016), suggesting that TCF-1, in addition to ID2, is involved in blocking alternative fate progression. In accordance with T cell development, TCF-1 might activate the expression of GATA-3 and BCL11b during ILClineage development (Yang et al., 2013; Seillet et al., 2016). TCF-1 promotes ILC2 development through GATA-3-dependent and -independent pathways. TCF-1 up-regulates Ill7rb and Il2ra expression by ILC2s through a GATA-3-dependent pathway, and directly up-regulates the expression of *ll7r*.  $Tcf7^{-/-} \alpha LPs$  have lower levels of *Bcl11b* that is specifically required for ILC2 development. Hence, TCF-1 deficiency results in loss of ILC2Ps, ILC2s and compromised immune responses to the nematode Nippostrongylus brasiliensis (Mielke et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2013). TCF-1 is also required for the development NKp46<sup>+</sup>RORyt<sup>+</sup> ILC3s and hence defense against C. rodentium infections (Mielke et al., 2017) as well as proper establishment of Ly49 receptor repertoire on NK cells (Held et al., 2003, 1999). ID2 can suppress Tcf7 expression in NK cells (Delconte et al., 2016), hence ID2 expression during the development of innate lymphocytes might contribute to the suppression of *Tcf7* expression as these cells mature.

## 1.5.5 RUNX

RUNX1 and RUNX3 play important roles in the development of several hematopoietic lineages. RUNX1 is necessary for the development of HSCs and lymphoid progenitors including LMPPs and CLPs (Wang et al., 1996; Wong et al., 2011; Satpathy et al., 2014). During T cell development, RUNX1 is highly expressed in DN and DP thymocytes. RUNX1 is required for the repression of CD4 expression in DN thymocytes, efficient  $\beta$ - and positive selection processes and generation of NKT cells (Taniuchi et al., 2002; Egawa et al., 2005, 2007). RUNX3 is expressed by CD8 single positive thymocytes and represses CD4 and ThPOK expression in these cells (Setoguchi et al., 2008; Egawa et al., 2007; Egawa and Littman, 2008). During Th1 cell differentiation, RUNX3 cooperate with T-bet to repress *Il4* and activate *Ifng* transcription (Naoe et al., 2007; Djuretic et al., 2007; Kohu et al., 2009). RUNX3 also inhibits GATA-3 activity to promote Th1 cell differentiation. RUNX1 regulates ROR $\gamma$ t and Th17 differentiation and maintains FOXP3 expression in Treg cells (Kitoh et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2008).

NK cell-specific deletion of RUNX3 or CBF- $\beta$  (*Cbfb*, the common obligatory partner of RUNX proteins) results in their great reduction and immature phenotype with low expression of Eomes, Ly49, DX5 and inefficient IFN $\gamma$  production (Levanon et al., 2014; Ebihara et al., 2015). ILCPs highly express RUNX1, RUNX3 and CBF- $\beta$  (Ebihara et al., 2015; Tachibana et al., 2011). Hematopoietic cell specific deletion of RUNX3 results in the accumulation of Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>GATA-3<sup>int</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> cells in the intestinal lamina propria (tissue resident ILC1 and ILC3 progenitors termed ILCLN cells), reductions of ILC1s and absence of ILC3s. RUNX3 is involved in the regulation of ROR $\gamma$ t and AhR in ILC3s. In conclusion, RUNX3 is necessary for the differentiation of ILCLN cells into ILC1s and ILC3s, whereas it is dispensable for ILC2 development.

## 1.5.6 GATA-3

GATA-3 is a double zinc-finger transcription factor upregulated early during T cell development by Notch and TCF-1 signaling (Obaldia and Bhandoola, 2015). It is required for the establishment of the early thymic T cell progenitors, induction of BCL11b expression, T cell lineage specification and commitment (Ting et al., 1996; Hosoya et al., 2009; García-Ojeda et al., 2013),  $\beta$ -selection and CD4 single positive thymocyte development (Henderson et al., 1994; Pai et al., 2003; Hernández-Hoyos et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2008). GATA-3 is required for the differentiation of Th2 cells, as well as Th2 cell maintenance and cytokine production (Zhu et al., 2004; Pai et al., 2004). TCR and cytokine stimulation promote GATA-3 expression in CD8 T cells to maintain their optimal expression of CD127, maintenance and proliferation (Wang et al., 2013).

GATA-3 is important at multiple stages during ILC development. EILPs express intermediate levels of GATA-3 and are partially dependent on it for their establishment (Harly et al., 2017). CHILPs also express intermediate levels of GATA-3 (Klose et al., 2014). ILCPs are GATA-3<sup>+</sup> and are fully dependent on it for their development (Harly et al., 2017; Constantinides et al., 2014). GATA-3 deficiency in hematopoietic cells results in the loss of all T cells and ILCs (hence loss of LNs), but not NK cells (Yagi et al., 2014; Serafini et al., 2014). GATA-3 might also be required for the maintenance and function of ILC1s (Klose et al., 2014; Samson et al., 2003). Among ILCs, ILC2Ps and mature ILC2s highly express GATA-3 and are not only dependent on GATA-3 for their development but also maintenance and IL-5 and IL-13 cytokine production (Hoyler et al., 2012; Mjösberg et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2012). GATA-3 expression by ILC2s is also necessary for the induction of cytokine receptors ST2, IL-25R and CD25 (Yang et al., 2013). GATA-3 is also required for the CD127 expression and hence maintenance as well as IL-22 production of ILC3s (Zhong et al., 2016).

#### 1.5.7 RORα

Retinoic acid receptor related orphan nuclear receptor (ROR) family includes ROR $\alpha$  (*Rora*), ROR $\beta$  (*Rorb*) and ROR $\gamma$  (*Rorc*) (Jetten, 2007, 2009). ROR $\gamma$ t, expressed by ILC3s, Th17 cells and

double positive thymocytes, is the thymus specific isoform of ROR $\gamma$ . *Rora* is widely expressed in the family of innate lymphocytes. EILPs, ILCPs (Constantinides et al., 2014; Harly et al., 2017), fetal ILCPs and LTi progenitors (Ishizuka et al., 2016) as well as human systemic ILC precursors express *Rora* (Lim et al., 2017b). All mature ILCs highly express *Rora* (Hoyler et al., 2012; Robinette et al., 2015).

Mice with homozygous staggerer mutation (Rora<sup>sg/sg</sup>) have a spontaneous deletion of the ROR $\alpha$  DNA-binding domain (Jetten, 2007, 2009). ROR $\alpha$  is highly expressed in brain, specifically the cerebellum and thalamus. The Rora<sup>sg/sg</sup> mice have underdeveloped cerebellar cortex resulting in staggering gait and tremor. In addition, ROR $\alpha$  deficiency results in the loss of BM ILC2Ps and mature ILC2 in different tissues (Halim et al., 2012b; Wong et al., 2012). ROR $\alpha$ -deficient mice do not seem to have defects in the development of ILC3s. However, ILC3 production of IL-17 and IL-22 is compromised in these mice (Lo et al., 2016), which is consistent with the role of ROR $\alpha$  in regulating Th17 cell cytokine production (Yang et al., 2008). A large-scale, genome-wide association study of asthmatic versus healthy individuals showed that *Ror* $\alpha$  single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were associated with asthma (Moffatt et al., 2010). In this study, SNPs in *Ill8r1, Illrl1, Il33* and *Il13* genes were also shown to be associated with asthma. In addition, ROR $\alpha$ -deficient mice fail to develop allergic asthma and are protected from fibrogenesis (Jaradat et al., 2006; Lo et al., 2016). Therefore, ROR $\alpha$  seems to be widely expressed during ILC lineage development and functional maturation.

#### 1.5.8 BCL11b and GFI1

The zinc finger transcription BCL11b is upregulated by Notch signaling, directly and indirectly via TCF-1 and GATA-3, in DN2 thymocytes (Liu et al., 2010). Thereafter, BCL11b is

continuously expressed by DP, SP thymocytes and mature T cells. BCL11b deficiency results in a block from DN2 to DN3 stage of development (Wakabayashi et al., 2003). BCL11b deficient DN2 thymocytes express the stem/progenitor, myeloid and innate lymphocyte lineage associated genes (*Nfil3, Id2* and *Il2rb*), which should be downregulated at this stage (Li et al., 2010a). BCL11b deficient thymic T cell progenitors develop into self-renewing NK like cells (Li et al., 2010b). Hence, BCL11b is critical for T lineage commitment. In addition, BCL11b is required in mature T cells to inhibit their access to NK cell fate (Li et al., 2010b). BCL11b binds to GATA3 to colocalize at important cis-regulatory elements in Th2 cells (Fang et al., 2018) and blocks non-Th2 alternative cell fates in these cells.

A fraction of CHILPs and ILCPs expresses BCL11b (Yu et al., 2016). BCL11b<sup>+</sup> CHILPs only generate ILC2s, whereas BCL11b<sup>-</sup> CHILPs generate a mixture of ILC lineages. About a half of the BCL11b<sup>+</sup> CHILPs express IL-25R, and are considered early ILC2 progenitors. BCL11b deficiency in hematopoietic cells, resulted in the loss of these IL-25R<sup>+</sup>BCL11b<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> CHILPs, ILC2Ps and mature peripheral ILC2s. BCL11b is specifically required during ILC2 development (Walker et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2015; Califano et al., 2015; Spooner et al., 2013) to maintain their genetic and functional identity. BCL11b directly regulates the transcriptional repressor growth factor independent 1 (GFI-1) in order to upregulate GATA3 and ST2 and inhibit SOX4, IL-23R, ROR $\gamma$ t, IL-17 and IL-22 expression in ILC2s. In addition, BCL11b directly represses AHR expression in ILC2s. It is notable that GFI-1 expression during Th2 differentiation of naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also promotes Th2 and antagonizes Th17 polarization (Zhu et al., 2009).

## **1.6 Thesis Objectives**

The overall goal of my doctoral thesis was to elucidate the developmental pathways and complexity of lung ILC2s in neonatal and adult periods. My specific objectives were to first elucidate the early developmental process that leads to the generation of these cells in the BM, and second to elucidate ILC2 lineage heterogeneity in adult and neonatal lungs. Breaking down ILC2 developmental pathways, complexity and the unique functions of the ILC2 subsets may provide further insights into how ILC2 subsets contribute to specific pathological conditions including allergy and asthma and assist in developing specific therapeutic interventions.

According to the classical model of lymphopoiesis, early ILC progenitors including EILPs, CHILPs and ILCPs and hence mature ILCs develop from CLPs. In addition, it has been shown that mature ILCs can be generated from CLPs (Possot et al., 2011; Hoyler et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2012; Klose et al., 2014; Constantinides et al., 2014). However, previous studies by us and others have shown that LMPPs are much more efficient than CLPs in generating ILC2Ps and mature ILC2s in transplantation assays (Yang et al. 2011; Halim et al. 2012). Our primary results, obtained during my MSc studies in Dr. Fumio Takei laboratory, suggested that a subset of BM LMPPs expressing CD127 (defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>hi</sup>Sca-1<sup>hi</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>) expression was more efficient than CLPs defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>lo</sup>Sca-1<sup>lo</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>) in generating T cells, CHILPs and ILCs (Ghaedi, 2015) in transplantation assays. In addition, we realized that, while CLPs were rare, the CD127 expressing LMPPs were the predominant lymphoid progenitors in the neonatal period during which the development of T cells and ILCs is highly active. Hence the first objective of this thesis (discussed in Chapter3) was to determine whether there are CLP-independent developmental pathways for ILC development during adulthood. In order to achieve this objective, we characterized various adult BM lymphoid progenitors and assessed their gene expression

profiles as well as their capacities to differentiate into adaptive and innate lymphocytes. Our results collectively favored a temporal model of lymphocyte development, within which LMPPs directly contribute to the generation of T cells and innate lymphocytes and this pathway being highly active during neonatal period (Ghaedi et al., 2016). On the other hand, the generation of B cells required the CLP stage of development and was active mainly during adulthood.

The results obtained by pursuing the first objective of my thesis, led us to realize that lung ILC2 population was a heterogeneous population and hence we decided to study the complexity of this lineage in adult and neonatal periods. In addition, we were wondering about how the pool of long-lived lung resident ILC2s are maintained and whether adult BM progenitors are actively contributing to the generation of ILCs in tissues. Hence, the second objective of this thesis (discussed in chapters 4 and 5) is to elucidate the complexity of the lung ILC2 population during adult (discussed in chapter 4) and neonatal period (discussed in chapter 5), the functional properties of ILC2 subsets, as well as their developmental relationship. We have identified ILC2 cells resembling BM ILC progenitors in adult and neonatal lungs that might contribute to the generation of ILC2s in the lung as well distinct ILC2 effector subsets during neonatal period, hence provided evidence for the complexity of the ILC2 lineage.

# **Chapter 2: Materials and Methods**

# 2.1 Mice

C57BL/6 (B6), B6.Ly5SJL, NSG, ROR $\alpha$ -YFP and B6. $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice were obtained and maintained in the British Columbia Cancer Research Centre animal facility, under specific-pathogen-free conditions. ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mice were generated by crossing B6. $ROR\alpha$ -IRES-Cre (Chou et al., 2013) mice with B6.129X1-Gt(ROSA)26Sortm1(EYFP)Cos/J. The use of these mice was approved by the animal committee of the University of British Columbia and in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.  $Tcf7^{EGFP}$  mice (Yang et al., 2015b) were kept in NIH animal facility and their use was approved by relevant NIH Animal Care and Use Committees. Adult mice of 4–10 weeks of age and 12-day-old neonatal mice of both sexes were used.

# 2.2 Rag-1/Red Mice

BMs from Rag-1/Red (CD45.2) and B6 (control) (CD45.2) mice were received from Dr. Paul Kincade's laboratory, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center. The BM cells  $(5-8 \times 10^6)$  from Rag-1/Red or B6 mice were transferred into lethally irradiated B6.Ly5SJL mice. Eight weeks later, these mice were used any further experiments.

# **2.3 RORα-YFP mice**

A fraction of RORα-YFP mice had spontaneous YFP expression in all their cells. These mice were excluded, by checking their blood lecukocytes, from any further analysis. Also, these mice lacked the expression of NK1.1 on their NK cells, and hence I used Nkp46 in all my analyses instead.

## 2.4 Primary Leukocyte Preparation

Lung tissue was minced and fragments were digested in 5 ml DMEM containing collagenase IV (142.5 U/ml; Thermo Fisher, 17104019) and DNase I (118,050 U/ml, Sigma-Aldrich, 9003-98-9) for 25 minutes at 37°C on a shaker (150 rpm). The single cell suspension was filtered through a 70µm cell strainer and washed once with 5 ml DMEM containing 10% FBS and Penicillin-Streptomycin (10,000 U/ml). Leukocytes were enriched by centrifugation (10 minutes, 650×g) on a 36% Percoll gradient (Sigma-Aldrich, P4937) and red blood cells (RBC) were lysed by ammonium chloride solution. Single cell suspensions were prepared from small intestine in the same way.

For BM cells, tibia, femur and pelvic bones were crushed in 10 ml PBS containing 2% FBS and Penicillin-Streptomycin (10,000 U/ml) and the single-cell suspension was filtered through a 70 $\mu$ m cell strainer and washed once with 5 ml of the same media. This was followed by RBC lysis by ammonium chloride.

#### 2.5 Antibodies and Flow Cytometry

Single cell suspensions were incubated with anti-mouse CD16/32 antibody (clone 2.4G2). eFluor 450-conjugated Lin-antibody cocktail contained anti-CD3 (145-2C11; RRID:AB\_10735092), TCR $\alpha\beta$  (H57-597; AB\_11039532), TCR $\gamma\delta$  (GL3; AB\_2574071), NKp46 (29A1.4; AB\_10557245), CD19 (1D3; AB\_2734905), CD11b (M1/70; AB\_1582236), CD11c (N418; AB\_1548654), Ly-6C/G (Gr-1) (RB6-8C5; AB\_1548788) and Ter119 (TER-119; AB\_1518808). For BM, anti-CD45R/B220 (RA3-6B2; AB\_1548761) was added to the Lin-cocktail. For intestine, anti-NKp46 was removed from the Lin-cocktail. For intracellular transcription factor staining,

PerCP-eFluor 710-anti-EOMES (Dan11mag; AB 10609215), Pecy7-anti-T-bet (4B10; AB\_11042699), eFluor 660- or PE-anti-GATA-3 (TWAJ; AB\_10596663 or AB\_1963600), PEanti-ROR gamma (t) (B2D; AB\_10805392) and Foxp3/Transcription staining buffer set (Thermo Fisher; 00-5523-00) were used. The rest of the antibodies used in this study include Pecy7-anti-Ly-6A/E (Sca-1) (D7; AB 469668), APC-anti-CD117 (c-Kit) (2B8; AB 469431), eFluor 450anti-Ly-6D (49-H4; AB\_2574089), FITC- or eFluor 700-anti-CD45.1 (A20; AB\_465058 or AB\_493733), eFluor 450-anti-NK1.1 (PK136; AB\_2043877), V500-anti-CD45 (30-F11; AB\_10697046), APC-anti-LPAM-1 (Integrin α4β7) (DATK32; AB\_10730607), PerCP-eFluor 710- or APC-anti-IL-33R (ST2) (RMST2-2; AB\_2573883 or AB\_2573301), FITC-anti-T1/ST2 (DJ8; AB\_947549), PerCP-eFluor 710-anti-CD218a (IL-18Ra) (P3TUNYA; AB\_2573764), Brilliant Violet 605-anti-CD90.2 (Thy1.2) (53-2.1; AB\_11203724), Alexa Fluor 700- or PE or Pecy7-anti-CD127 (A7R34; AB\_657611 or AB\_465844 or AB\_469649), Brilliant Violet 711anti-KLRG1 (2F1; AB\_2738542) and PE-anti CD278 (ICOS) (7E.17G9; AB\_466273). For the detection of YFP along with intracellular transcription factors from ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse tissues, single cell suspensions were stained for cell surface markers and viability dye (Thermo Fisher, 65-0865-18), followed by a pre-fixation step with 0.5% paraformaldehyde, washed with 5 ml PBS containing 2% FBS, and stained for the intra-nuclear transcription factors per manufacturer's instructions. Flow cytometry analysis was performed on a BD Fortessa flow cytometer and FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences). Flow cytometry data were analyzed using FlowJo 8.7 (Tree Star).

## 2.6 RNA Isolation and Microarray Gene Expression Analysis

RNA from purified progenitors (LMPP-, LMPP+, Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLP andLy6D<sup>+</sup> CLP) was extracted using Trizol (Thermo Fisher). Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100, RNA amplification, and microarray services were performed by Sick Kids, The Centre for Applied Genomics. Hybridization was carried out on the Affymetrix Mouse GeneChip ST 2.0. All data analysis was performed with FlexArray 1.6.3 (Genome Quebec).

## 2.7 Single Cell mRNA Sequencing (scRNA-seq)

Adult and neonatal (12-day-old) RORa-YFP mouse lungs were processed and single cell suspensions were stained with viability dye (Thermo Fisher, 65-0865-18), anti-CD45 and Lincocktail antibodies as above. Viable CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>lo</sup>YFP<sup>-</sup> and YFP<sup>+</sup> cells were purified at 2 to 1 ratio. For the neonatal sample, FITC-anti-CD8 (53-6.7; RRID:AB\_464915) was added as a Lin antibody. The Purified Cells were loaded on the Chromium Single Cell Controller (10X Genomics) and libraries were prepared using the Chromium Single Cell 3' Reagents Kits (v2 chemistry; 10X Genomics), according to the manufacturer's protocol. The obtained libraries were sequenced on a NextSeq 500 (Illumina). Cell Ranger software (v2.0.1; 10X Genomics) was used to perform demultiplexing, alignment, counting as well as initial clustering, and differential gene expression analysis. The reads were aligned to the mm10 genome, with the genome re-annotated to include YFP, TCR and immunoglobulin genes. ScRNA-seq analysis was performed using Seurat package (Butler et al., 2018) (version 2.1.0) in R (version 3.4.2) (R core team, 2017). The data were normalized and scaled to remove unwanted sources of variation according to the Seurat package criteria. The Seurat's RunPCA function was used to perform linear dimensional reduction and the first 19 principle components (PC) were used for further analysis. For the analysis of only ILC2s,

15 PCs were used for further analysis. Seurat's FindClusters and RunTSNE functions were used to identify the cell clusters and visualize them. A range of resolutions were tested, and a resolution of 0.6 was used. Before unsupervised clustering of ILC2 barcodes, B cells expressing Cd79a, Cd79b, Ms4a1, Ebf1 or Pax5, NK cells expressing Gzma, Gzmb, Eomes, Ncr1 or Prf1, stromal cells expressing Scgb3a1, T cells co-expressing any TCR genes and Cd4, Cd8a or Cd5, and NKT cells co-expressing any TCR genes and Klrk1 were filtered out. Seurat's FindMarkers function was used to find differentially expressed genes among clusters/subsets. The FindMarkers functions were performed two times for adult and neonatal ILC2 subsets, once with only assessing genes that are present in at least 20% of the cells in either of the subsets. The second time this criterion was removed and all the genes that were differentially expressed between subsets were determined. Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were used to determine the significance of the differential expression. Single cell trajectory was constructed using the Monocle package (Trapnell et al., 2014) (version 2.6.1) in R. State 1 was manually selected as the root of the neonatal ILC2 differentiation trajectory based on the similar gene expression profile of this state to BM ILC progenitors (Yang et al., 2015b; Constantinides et al., 2014; Seehus et al., 2015a).

#### 2.8 BM Transplantation

B6.Ly5SJL (CD45.1) mice were lethally irradiated (two doses of 6 Gy with 4-hr wait in between or 10 Gy in one dose) and intravenously injected with purified progenitors (CD45.2) and 10<sup>5</sup> helper BM cells from NSG mice (CD45.1). Drinking water of the irradiated mice was supplemented with HCl and ciprofloxacin for 4 weeks.

## 2.9 BrdU Administration

Neonatal mice received three daily intranasal injections of 0.4 mg of BrdU. Lungs were collected at indicated time points. Adult mice were given drinking water containing 0.8 mg/ml BrdU, which was prepared freshly every 2nd day until experimental endpoint. Staining for BrdU was done using a FITC BrdU Flow Kit (BD Biosciences).

# 2.10 Accession Code

The GEO accession numbers for the microarray and scRNA-seq data reported are GSE67034 and GSE122762, respectively.

## 2.11 Data and Materials Availability

ScRNA-seq data are deposited under the private GEO accession number GSE122762 and can be accessed using the token uxozmawypjwnfmr.

## 2.12 In vivo Stimulation

Mice were anesthetized by isofluorane inhalation first. Intranasal administrations of recombinant mouse IL-33 (0.25µg) (BioLegend, 580508) or papain (25µg) (Sigma-Aldrich, 76216) in 40 µl PBS were performed on days 0, 1, and 2. Lungs were collected and analyzed on day 5.

#### 2.13 In vitro Culture

For each *in vitro* culture, lung cells were prepared from 12-20 mice. ILC2s and other cell populations were sorted by a BD FACSARIA III or FUSION. Purified adult ILC2s (500 cells) were cultured in 200 µl of RPMI1640 containing 10% FBS and Penicillin-Streptomycin (100

U/ml) with PMA (30 ng/ml) and ionomycin (500 ng/ml). Bio-Plex Pro<sup>™</sup> Mouse Cytokine 23-plex Assay (Bio-Rad, m60009rdpd) was used to determine the respective chemokines and cytokines. Purified neonatal ILC2s (1000 cells) were cultured in the same way with 1 or 10 ng/ml of IL-33 (BioLegend, 580508) and IL-7 (Thermo Fisher, PMC0071) each. IL-5 (RRID:AB\_2574980), IL-13 (RRID:AB\_2575028) and amphiregulin (R&D Systems, DY989) ELISA kits were used.

# 2.14 Statistics

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPad Software). Two-tailed Student's t or Mann-Whitney unpaired test was used to determine the statistical significance.  $p \le 0.05$  (\*),  $p \le 0.01$  (\*\*\*),  $p \le 0.001$  (\*\*\*) and  $p \le 0.0001$  (\*\*\*\*) were considered significant.

# Chapter 3: Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Develop via Common-Lymphoid-Progenitor-Independent Pathways

# 3.1 Introduction

ILCs are generally thought to develop from CLPs in the BM. However, our group and others have shown that LMPPs are more efficient than CLPs in generating ILCs and T cells in transplantation assays (Halim et al., 2012b; Yang et al., 2011; Allman et al., 2003). We realized that the neonatal period is a very important stage for lung ILC2 development (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016; Steer et al., 2017). Within this period, LMPPs were the predominant lymphoid progenitors in the hematopoietic organs spleen and BM, whereas CLPs were rare. In addition, neonatal CLPs, unlike LMPPs, could not efficiently differentiate into T cells and ILC2s in transplantation assays. A small subset of LMPPs defined by their CD127 expression, which we termed LMPP+, was particularly efficient in differentiating into ILCs and T cells in transplantation assays (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016). Therefore, neonatal T cells and ILC2s seemed to be mostly generated from LMPP+s. In this chapter of my thesis, we continued our previous studies to determine whether adult BM LMPP+s differentiate into ILCs via CLP-independent pathways. In addition, we investigated whether the large pool of ILC2s generated during the neonatal period become long-lived cells and persist into adulthood. These studies lead to the better understanding of the lymphoid progenitors involved in the ILC generation and how this process is regulated in the neonatal and adult periods.

# 3.2 Results

## 3.2.1 Lymphoid Progenitors in Adult Mouse BM Can Be Divided into Subsets with

We first divided adult mouse BM Lin<sup>-</sup> cells into KithiSca-1hi and KitloSca-1ho subsets. The KithiSca-1<sup>hi</sup> cells included the conventional LMPPs defined as Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup>, which we termed LMPP-s (Figure 3.1A). A small fraction of LMPPs was CD127<sup>+</sup> (Adolfsson et al., 2005; Luc et al., 2012), which we termed LMPP+s (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016). The cKitloSca-1lo subset included the Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> CLPs (Karsunky et al., 2008; Kondo et al., 1997). In agreement with previous reports, we could divide CLPs into Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> subsets. LMPP-s were Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and only a small fraction of the LMPP+s was expressing Ly6D. In order to investigate whether LMPP-s, LMPP+s, Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs present distinct lymphoid progenitor subsets, they were purified from adult mouse C57BL/6 BM and compared by Affymetrix microarray gene expression analyses. All the populations expressed the key transcription factor genes required for early lymphocyte development (Rothenberg, 2014), including Sfpi1 (PU.1), Ikzf1 (IKAROS family zinc finger 1), Tcf3 (E2A Immunoglobulin Enhancer Binding Factors E12/E47) and Tcf12 (Transcription Factor 12) (Figure 3.1B). The expression of myeloid and B cell lineage associated genes showed a gradient of expression from LMPP-s to Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs. The expression of myeloid lineage associated genes including Cebpa, Ctsg and Prtn3 were highest in LMPP-s (Figure 3.1C), and showed a gradual decrease in LMPP+s, Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs. On the other hand, the expression of B cell lineage associated genes including Ebf1, Pax5, Blk, Blnk, Vpreb1, Vpreb2 and Cd79a were lowest in LMPP-s (Figure 3.1D). The expression of these genes was slightly higher in LMPP+s than LMPP-s. These genes were expressed at higher levels in Ly6D+ CLPs than all other progenitors examined. The expression of T cell and ILC lineage associated genes were equally low among all the four populations (Figure 3.1E and F). The phenotype and gene

expression profiles of these progenitor populations suggested that that they might present sequential lymphoid progenitors that are committing into the lymphoid lineage by gradually losing their myeloid potentials, while they might have distinct potential for different lymphoid lineages.

| Α                               | CD45+Li  |             |         |  | Flt3+0 | FIt3+CD127-   |  | Flt3+CD127+ |  |              |               |
|---------------------------------|--|-------------|---------|--|--------|---|--|-------------|--|--------------|---------------|
| °01<br>°01<br>°01<br>°01<br>°01 | 12.5<br>0 10' Sca-1  | 25          |         | 19.5 5.12<br>Ω<br>Ω<br>0<br>0<br>19.5 5.12<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0<br>0 |        |   | CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD<br>CD |             | 12.7<br>12.7<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10 |              | Figure<br>3.1 |
|                                 | Δ 10 <sup>5</sup><br>10 <sup>4</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>5</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>4</sup><br>10 <sup>4</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>4</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>5</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>4</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>5</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>4</sup><br>Δ 10 <sup>4</sup> |             |         |  |        | 50.9<br>10 <sup>2</sup><br>10 <sup>2</sup><br>10 <sup>2</sup><br>10 <sup>2</sup><br>10 <sup>2</sup><br>Ly6D |  |             |  |              | Aum           |
| В                               | Sfpi1  | 11.01       | 10.56   | 10.32  | 10.15  | E   | T-ce   | ell-lineage | e-associa  | ated         |               |
|                                 | ,<br>Ikzf1   | 9.66        | 10.19   | 10.44  | 10.36  | Notch1  | 8.45   | 8.86        | 8.88   | 8.97         |               |
|                                 | Tcf3   | 11.11       | 11.16   | 11.30  | 11.33  | Hes1  | 6.04   | 8.41        | 8.49   | 8.88         |               |
|                                 | Tcf12  | 8.37        | 8.01    | 8.58   | 8.15   | Lef1  | 6.69   | 6.44        | 6.48   | 8.11         |               |
|                                 |  | LMPP-       | LMPP+   | Ly6D-  | Ly6D+  | Ccr9  | 4.88   | 6.26        | 6.21   | 6.09         |               |
|                                 |  |             |         | CLP  | CLP    |   | LMPP-  | LMPP+       | Ly6D–  | Ly6D+        |               |
| С                               |  | d-cell-line | age-ass | ociated  | F      | <b>F</b> II C lineage appealated  |  |             |  |              |               |
| Ŭ                               | Cebpa  | 8.28        | 7.71    | 7.03   | 6.55   | NEO   |  |             | -associa   |              |               |
|                                 | HK3  | 10.37       | 8.46    | 6.60   | 3.48   | INIII3<br>Tof7  | 0.23   | 6.08        | 0.85   | 6.24<br>5.60 |               |
|                                 | Csf3r  | 8.08        | 7.47    | 6.80   | 4.83   |   | 5.30   | 7.00        | 7.20   | 5.63         |               |
|                                 | USTIF  | 9.33        | 7.21    | 8.39   | 6.10   | IOX   | 6.49   | 7.22        | 8.32   | 7.07         |               |
|                                 | ADCA9  | 0.70        | 4.88    | 2.94   | 3.30   | 102<br>71 JU 40   | 6.96   | 7.10        | 6.25   | 7.20         |               |
|                                 | Ciec7a<br>Eogr2b   | 7.00        | 5.30    | 5.55   | 3.07   | 201016  | 5.06   | 5.52        | 5.74   | 5.64         |               |
|                                 | Ctoa   | 10.56       | 0.40    | 0.00   | 4.91   | Gata3   | 4.82   | 5.20        | 5.48   | 5.46         |               |
|                                 | Eac  | 7.26        | 6.62    | 6.40   | 1.02   | Rora  | 5.30   | 5.02        | 4.96   | 5.20         |               |
|                                 | Drtn2  | 0.05        | 0.03    | 6.45   | 4.92   | Bcl11b  | 5.14   | 5.30        | 5.15   | 5.40         |               |
|                                 | Ccla   | 10.86       | 8.80    | 7 10   | 6.85   | Tbx21   | 5.50   | 5.88        | 5.42   | 5.88         |               |
|                                 | 0013   | I MPP-      | I MPP+  | 1 v6D-   | 1 v6D+ | Eomes   | 4.90   | 4.23        | 5.47   | 4.80         |               |
|                                 |  |             | 2       | CLP  | CLP    | Rorc  | 3.46   | 3.35        | 3.28   | 3.74         |               |
|                                 | B-cell-lineage-associated  |             |         |  |        |   | 5.93   | 6.08        | 6.77   | 6.23         |               |
| D                               | ll7r   | 4 25        | 9 49    | 9.81   | 10.06  | ltgb7   | 5.28   | 5.51        | 5.52   | 5.53         |               |
|                                 | l v6d  | 3 42        | 8.23    | 5.62   | 11 41  |   | LMPP-  | LMPP+       | Ly6D-  | Ly6D+        |               |
|                                 | Eyea<br>Fbf1   | 5 42        | 7 84    | 7.54   | 10.24  |   |  |             | CLPs   | CLP          |               |
|                                 | Pax5   | 5.74        | 6.06    | 5.91   | 7.90   |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Foxo1  | 6.49        | 6.95    | 7.43   | 8.08   |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Rag1   | 3.41        | 8.30    | 8.21   | 11.11  |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Blk  | 3.82        | 8.54    | 8.41   | 10.40  |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Blnk   | 6.66        | 9.09    | 10.39  | 11.15  |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Vpreb1   | 6.45        | 6.88    | 7.82   | 10.09  |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Vpreb2   | 3.64        | 6.48    | 4.07   | 9.69   |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 | Cd79a  | 4.58        | 4.38    | 5.71   | 7.51   |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 |  | LMPP-       | LMPP+   | Ly6D-  | Ly6D+  |   |  |             |  |              |               |
|                                 |  |             |         | CLP  | CLP    |   |  |             |  |              | 4             |

#### BM Lymphoid Progenitors Are Divided into Four Subsets.

(A) Adult B6 mouse BM CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup> cells were gated for Kit<sup>hi</sup>Sca-1<sup>hi</sup> and Kit<sup>lo</sup>Sca-1<sup>lo</sup>. Kit<sup>hi</sup>Sca-1<sup>hi</sup> cells were further divided into Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup> (LMPP-s) and Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> (LMPP+s; red gate). Kit<sup>lo</sup>Sca-1<sup>lo</sup> cells were gated for Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> (CLPs). LMPP-s, LMPP+s and CLPs were analyzed for Ly6D expression. Numbers in plots indicate percentages of the gated cells. Data are representative of at least 3 independent experiments. LMPP-s (n = 3 replicates), LMPP+s (n = 3 replicates), Ly6D<sup>-</sup> (n = 2 replicates) and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs (n = 2 replicates) were purified from adult B6 mouse BM, and RNA was extracted from each progenitor population for Affymetrix microarray global gene expression analysis. Expression of the early lymphoid (B), myeloid (C), B cell (D), T cell (E) and ILC lineage associated genes (F) is shown. Numbers indicate normalized median values obtained by the Affymetrix Power Tools method. Lighter (yellow) and darker (blue) shading indicates higher and lower expression, respectively.

## 3.2.2 Adult BM LMPP+s Are Potent T cell Progenitors

To assess the differentiation capacities of LMPP-s, LMPP+s,  $Ly6D^-$  and  $Ly6D^+$  CLPs, these cells were purified from adult C57BL/6 mouse BM (CD45.2) and transplanted each into lethally irradiated congenic B6.Ly5SJL mice (CD45.1). The transplanted mice were analyzed at 7, 10, 17, and 27 days post-transplantation to determine the kinetics of lymphocyte development from each progenitor population. LMPP+s had the most rapid engraftment in the thymus (7 days) and generated much higher numbers of thymocytes than LMPP-s, Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs at all the time points post-transplantation (7, 10, 17, and 27 days) (Figure 3.2A and B). LMPP+-derived thymocytes increased in numbers from ~1500 on day 7 to ~  $4 \times 10^7$  on day 17. LMPP+-derived thymocytes gradually progressed from CD4 and CD8 double negative thymocytes on day 7 and 10 post-transplantation to double positive on day 17 and eventually single-positive on day 27 (Figure 3.2C). LMPP-s were slower than LMPP+s in the generation of thymocytes. Both Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs generated much less thymocytes than LMPP+s at all the time points posttransplantation. LMPP+-derived thymocyte numbers decreased from ~  $4 \times 10^7$  on day 17 to ~  $2 \times$  $10^7$  on day 27, suggesting that single positive T cells are leaving the thymus during this period. Hence, we analyzed donor-derived T cells in the spleen at 17 and 27 days post-transplantation of the four progenitor populations. LMPP+-transplanted mice had significantly higher numbers of donor-derived T cells in the spleen than other subsets at both time points (Figure 3.2D).

In contrast to T cells, Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs generated much higher numbers of spleen CD19<sup>+</sup>B220<sup>+</sup> B cells than LMPP-s, LMPP+s and Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs at 7 and 10 days post-transplantation (Figure 3.2E and F). LMPP progenitor subsets generated more B cells than CLP subsets at 17 and 27 days posttransplantation. LMPP+s rapidly generated NK cells in the spleen at 7 days post-transplantation (Figure 3.2G). More NK cells were generated from Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs than other progenitor subsets at 10 days. At 17 and 27 days, more NK cells were generated from LMPP subsets than CLPs. In addition, myeloid cells (CD11b<sup>+</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^-$ NK1.1<sup>-</sup>) were generated in the spleen from LMPP-s at 7 days post-transplantation. Small numbers of myeloid cells were also generated from LMPP+s (Figure 3.2H).





**Figure 3.2 LMPP+s Are More Efficient than LMPP-s, Ly6D– and Ly6D+ CLPs at Generating T Cells** LMPP-s, LMPP+s, Ly6D<sup>–</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs were purified from adult C57BL/6 mouse BM (CD45.2+), and 2,000 cells of each progenitor population were intravenously injected along with 10<sup>5</sup> BM cells from NSG mice (CD45.1<sup>+</sup>) into lethally irradiated congenic B6.Ly5SJL recipients (CD45.1<sup>+</sup>). The tissues of the recipient mice were analyzed by flow cytometry at 7, 10, 17, and 27 days post-transplantation. (A) The cells in the thymuses of the recipient mice were

analyzed by flow cytometry. Live donor-derived cells (CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) were gated. (B) Absolute numbers of donorderived thymocytes are shown in bar graphs. (C) Live donor-derived cells (CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) from the LMPP+ transplanted mice were further analyzed for CD4 and CD8 expression. (D) Absolute numbers of donor-derived T cells (TCR $\alpha\beta^+NK1.1^-$ ) in the spleen of the transplanted mice at 17 and 27 days post-transplantation are shown in bar graphs. (E) B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>B220<sup>+</sup>) in the spleens of the recipient mice were gated for derived cells (CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>). (F) Absolute numbers of donor-derived B cells are shown in bar graphs. (G) Absolute numbers of donor-derived NK cells (NK1.1<sup>+</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta^-$ ) in the spleen are shown in bar graphs. (H) Absolute numbers of donor-derived myeloid cells (CD11b<sup>+</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^-NK1.1^-$ ) in the spleen are shown in bar graphs. Two-tailed Student's t or Mann-Whitney unpaired test was used to determine the statistical significance. Mean ± SEM; p≤ 0.05 (\*), p≤ 0.01 (\*\*), p≤ 0.001 (\*\*\*) and p≤ 0.0001 (\*\*\*\*) were considered significant. Data are representative of at least three experiments with four mice in each condition.

## 3.2.3 Adult BM LMPP+s Are Potent Progenitors for ILC1s, ILC2s and ILC3s

Donor-derived ILC1 (NK1.1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>) and ILC2s (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>) could be detected in the lungs of the recipient mice at 17 and 27 days post-transplantation. These cells were undetectable at the earlier time points. The number of LMPP+-derived ILC1s was considerably higher at 17 and 27 days post-transplantation compared to the very few generated from other progenitor subsets (Figure 3.3A and B). In addition, LMPP+s generated significantly higher numbers of ILC2s compared to Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs at both time points (Figure 3.3C and D). Intestinal ILC generation was slow compared to lung and intestines were analyzed at 7 and 10 weeks post-transplantation. Significantly more intestinal ILC2s and ILC3s were generated from LMPP+s than  $Ly6D^-$  and  $Ly6D^+$  CLPs (Figure 3.3E and F) at the different time points. Thus, LMPP-s, LMPP+s, Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs are all capable of differentiating into T, B, NK cells and ILCs. However, these lymphoid progenitor subsets are considerably different from each other in their kinetics of differentiation. LMPP+s are the most rapid and potent progenitors of T cells and ILCs. In contrast, much smaller numbers of T cells and ILCs are generated from Ly6D<sup>-</sup> or Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs. On the other hand, Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs are the most rapid and potent progenitors to B cells at the earlier time points post-transplantation. LMPP-s, LMPP+s and Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs are all efficient NK cell progenitors to varying degrees depending on the time point analyzed. In addition to

lymphocytes, myeloid cells are generated from LMPP-s in the spleen at 7 days posttransplantation. LMPP+s also generated small number of myeloid cells at the same time point.





Figure 3.3 LMPP+s Are More Efficient than LMPP-s, Ly6D- and Ly6D+ CLPs at Generating ILCs

The lungs of the recipient mice were analyzed at 17 and 27 days post-transplantation for donor-derived ILC1s and ILC2s by flow cytometry. (A) The contour plots show ILC1 gating strategy at 27 days post-transplantation. CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup> cells were first gated and ILC1s were sequentially gated by Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>. (B) Absolute numbers of donor-derived ILC1s are shown in bar graphs. (C) The contour plots show ILC2 gating strategy at 27 days post-transplantation. CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup> cells were first gated and ILC2s were gated by Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>. (D) Absolute numbers of donor-derived ILC2s are shown in bar graphs.

The intestines of the recipient mice were analyzed at 7 and 10 weeks post-transplantation for donor-derived ILC2s and ILC3s by flow cytometry. (E) CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells were sequentially gated and divided into  $ROR\gamma t^{-}Kit^{lo}$  (ILC2s) and  $ROR\gamma t^{+}Kit^{+}$  (ILC3s). (F) Absolute numbers of donor-derived ILC2s (left) and ILC3s (left) at 7 and 10 weeks post-transplantation are shown in bar graphs.

# 3.2.4 RAG-1 Lineage Tracing

In our primary studies (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016), we analyzed the RAG-1-Cre/Rosa26 tandem dimer red fluorescent protein (tdRFP) mice (RAG/Red), in which cells expressing RAG-1 during their development should be irreversibly labeled by tdRFP. Our analyses indicated that LMPP-s were RAG/Red<sup>-</sup>, ~25% of LMPP+s were RAG/Red<sup>+</sup>. Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs were ~40% and 60% RAG/Red<sup>+</sup>, respectively. On the other hand, ~40% of adult lung ILC2s were RAG/Red<sup>+</sup>. To further investigate the differentiation potential of adult BM lymphoid progenitors into ILC2 and T lineages, LMPP-s, RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> LMPP+s, RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> and RAG/Red<sup>+</sup> CLPs were purified from adult RAG/Red mouse BM and transplanted each into lethally irradiated congenic B6.Ly5SJL mice. RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> LMPP+ transplantation resulted in the most-efficient ILC2 generation in the lung (Figure 3.4A and B), whereas RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> and RAG/Red<sup>+</sup> CLPs generated very small numbers of ILC2s. RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> LMPP+ also engrafted thymus and generated thymocytes much more efficiently than other progenitor populations (Figure 3.4C and D). These results further suggested that LMPP+s are the upstream lymphoid progenitors to ILC progenitors including EILPs, CHILPs and ILCPs as well as ETPs, hence their transplantation results in efficient ILC and T cell generation.



#### Figure 3.4 RAG-1 Lineage Tracking

BM cells (5–8 ×10<sup>6</sup>) from Rag-1/Red (CD45.2) mice or normal B6 mice (control) (CD45.2) were transferred into lethally irradiated B6.Ly5SJL mice. Eight weeks later, Donor-derived LMPP-s (RAG/Red<sup>-</sup>), RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> LMPP+s, RAG/Red<sup>-</sup> and Rag/Red<sup>+</sup> CLPs were purified from the Rag-1/Red transplanted mice and intravenously injected (2,000 cells per mouse) into lethally irradiated B6.Ly5SJL mice (CD45.1), along with 10<sup>5</sup> BM cells from NSG mice (CD45.1). (A) The lungs of the recipient mice were analyzed at 3 weeks post-transplantation for donor-derived ILC2s, sequentially gated by Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>. (B) The bar graph shows the absolute numbers of donor-derived cells (CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) in contour plots. (D) The bar graph shows the absolute numbers of donor-derived thymocytes.

## 3.2.5 Neonatal Lung ILC2s Persist into Adulthood

We established that adult LMPP+s are potent progenitors to T cells and ILCs. In addition, our primary results indicated that these cells are the predominant lymphoid progenitors in spleen and BM in the neonatal period, during which T cells and ILCs are actively developing (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016). To determine the turnover rate of adult mouse lung ILC2s, they were labeled by bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) administration in drinking water. Adult lung ILC2s slowly incorporated BrdU, but the percentages of BrdU-labeled ILC2s remained less than 25 (Figure 3.5A) up to 30 days. This was not due to inefficient delivery of BrdU to the lung, because the majority (over 75%) of lung ILC2s stimulated by intranasal papain injections were efficiently labeled by BrdU in drinking water (Figure 3.5B, left). ILC2 progenitors in the BM of naive mice were also labeled by BrdU (Figure 3.5B, right). Therefore, the large majority of lung ILC2s in naive adult mice seemed to be long-lived quiescent cells. To test whether ILC2s generated in the neonatal period persist and become quiescent ILC2s in adult lungs, neonatal mice received intranasal injections of BrdU at days 4, 6, and 9 after birth (Figure 3.5C, diagram). At day 10, a large majority of neonatal lung ILC2s was labeled by BrdU (Figure 3.5, left histogram). Six weeks after the BrdU injections, almost 30% of lung ILC2s were positive for BrdU, although the intensities of BrdU labeling significantly decreased (Figure 3.5C, right histogram). These results indicate that lung ILC2 development is highly active in the neonatal period, whereas the majority of adult lung ILC2s are quiescent with only a minor subset turning over. Furthermore, a sizable subset of adult lung ILC2s seem to be generated in the neonatal period.



#### Figure 3.5 Neonatal Lung ILC2s Persist in Adult Mice

(A and B) Mice were given drinking water containing 0.8 mg/ml BrdU continuously. Lung ILC2s were analyzed (black) by flow cytometry for BrdU incorporation at the days indicated, after the start of BrdU treatment (A). Mice given plain drinking water were used as controls (gray). The percentage of BrdU-labeled lung ILC2s is also shown in a bar graph. BrdU-labeled lung ILC2s were analyzed from mice that received three consecutive intranasal doses of papain (15 mg, black) or PBS (control, gray) and analyzed 4 days later (B, left histogram). BrdU incorporation by BM ILCPs on day 14 for mice with BrdU (black) or plain drinking water (gray) is shown (B, right histogram). (C) Left diagram shows intranasal injections BrdU on days 4, 6, and 9. Lungs were collected at indicated time points. Right histograms show the staining for BrdU at indicated time points. The numbers indicate the percentages of cells in the gates. The data are representative of four replicates.
#### 3.3 Discussion

HSCs differentiate into LMPPs that have a limited self-renewal capacity. LMPPs are thought to give rise to CLPs, which will further differentiate into pre-T, pre-B progenitors, NKP, and CHILP and eventually mature T, B, NK and ILCs. However, our results suggested that ILCs and T cells directly develop from a subset of LMPPs, termed LMPP+s, bypassing CLP stage of development. This pathway seemed particularly active during neonatal period, which is a critical stage of ILC and T cell lineage development (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016). LMPP+s were considerably different from conventional LMPPs, termed LMPP-s in our study, in their gene expression profiles as well as their capacity to differentiate into lymphoid and myeloid cells. LMPP+s significantly differed from LMPP-s in the expression of myeloid and B-cell-lineage-associated genes. LMPP+s were more efficient in engrafting thymus and differentiating into thymocytes compared to LMPPs. LMPP+s were also more efficient in differentiating into ILCs in the peripheral tissues than LMPP-s. On the other hand, LMPP-s were more efficient in generating myeloid cells. LMPP+s in our study are similar to ALPs (Inlay et al., 2009) in phenotype as well as lymphoid and myeloid lineage potential. It is notable that ALPs included both kithi and kitlo cells, that likely corresponded to both LMPP+s and Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs in our study. LMPP+s and Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs were different from each other in the expression of myeloid and B cell lineage associated genes. Furthermore, LMPP+s were much more efficient than Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs in thymic engraftment and differentiating into thymocytes as well as the generation of lung and intestinal ILCs. The kinetics analyses of the transplantation assays suggested that LMPP+s differentiated into T cells and ILCs, without first differentiating into Ly6D<sup>-</sup> CLPs. Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs differentiated into splenic B cells much more rapidly and efficiently than LMPP-s, LMPP+s and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs. At later time points posttransplantation, more B cells are generated from LMPP+s than from Ly6D+ CLPs, which can be explained by the development of more Ly6D+ CLPs from LMPP+s and subsequent generation of high numbers of B cells.

Normal adult mouse BM contains five times more CLPs than LMPP+s that possibly contribute to the ILC lineage in adult mice. However, our BrdU labeling experiments indicate that only a minor fraction of adult ILC2s seems to turn over. Furthermore, our previous studies (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016) indicate that LMPP+s are the most abundant lymphoid progenitors in neonatal mouse BM and spleen when thymopoiesis and ILC development is most active. In addition, neonatal lung ILC2s persist into adulthood and become long-lived tissue resident cells. In addition to LMPP+s, CHILPs are also abundant in neonatal spleen (Ghaedi et al., 2016), which is in contrast to their small numbers and frequencies in adult BM (Klose et al., 2014; Gronke et al., 2016; Constantinides et al., 2014, 2015; Yang et al., 2015b). Therefore, it seems the development of ILCs from BM lymphoid progenitors in adults might be limited in steady state. The active pool of ILC progenitors during neonatal period might not only contribute to the generation of long-lived ILCs (Gasteiger et al., 2015), but also long-lasting pool of tissue resident ILC progenitors that can replenish ILC pool within tissues during adulthood. The existence of these tissue resident progenitors and ILC development within tissues are in agreement with the data showing clear differences in the tissue-specific proportional representation, phenotypes and functions of ILCs. In addition, our and another group analysis of adult RAG/Red mouse lung ILC2s (Ghaedi et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2011) indicated ILC2s are heterogeneous with regard to *Rag1* fate mapping. We showed that 40% of ILC2s are RAG/Red<sup>+</sup>. These results along with BrdU labeling of neonatal lung ILC2s, which showed that about 30% of adult lung ILC2s are generated in the neonatal period provided evidence on lung ILC2 heterogeneity.

Our data suggest that some long-lived T cells and ILCs develop from LMPP+s bypassing the CLP stage at the neonatal stage and persist into the adulthood (Figure 3.6), whereas short-lived B cells are continuously produced from the prevalent BM Ly6D+ CLPs in adults.



Figure 3.6 LMPP+s Are Upstream Lymphoid Progenitors to ILCs

## Chapter 4: Single Cell Analysis of RORα Lineage Tracer Mice Revealed Heterogeneity of Adult Lung ILC2s

#### 4.1 Introduction

Our results indicate that LMPP+s give rise to ILCs (Ghaedi et al., 2016). The BM common ILC precursors including EILPs (Yang et al., 2015b), CHILPs (Klose et al., 2014) and ILCPs (Constantinides et al., 2014) differentiate along the ILC lineage as they gradually upregulate the transcription factors TCF-1 (encoded by *Tcf7*), TOX (*Tox*), ID2 (*Id2*) and PLZF (*Zbtb16*) (Yu et al., 2016; Ishizuka et al., 2016; Harly et al., 2017).

In mouse lungs, ILC2s can be defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>Thyl<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> that are GATA3<sup>+</sup>ROR $\alpha^+$  (Halim et al., 2012b; Wong et al., 2012; Hoyler et al., 2012), and Eomes<sup>-</sup>T-bet<sup>-</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup>. Lung ILC2s play important roles in the development of allergic inflammation, and ILC2 numbers are elevated in the peripheral blood and sputum of asthma patients (Smith et al., 2016; Ying et al., 2016). ILC2s are involved in other lung diseases including COPD (Silver et al., 2016) and fibrosis (Hams et al., 2014). It is important to elucidate the complexity of the lung ILC2 population and the functional properties of ILC2 subsets, as well as their developmental relationship, so that proper subsets are targeted in therapeutic interventions. In order to study lung ILC2 complexity, we generated an ILC lineage tracer mouse model, based on the expression of the transcription factor ROR $\alpha$ . *Ror* $\alpha$  is expressed in early ILC progenitors (Constantinides et al., 2014; Harly et al., 2015; Halim et al., 2012b; Wong et al., 2017a) and mature ILCs (Hoyler et al., 2012; Robinette et al., 2015; Halim et al., 2012b; Wong et al., 2012; Lo et al., 2016). Therefore, ROR $\alpha$  lineage tracer mice enabled us to identify mature and immature ILC2s without relying on their expression of cell surface markers, specific cytokines or enzymes. To further adopt an

unbiased and comprehensive approach for studying ILC2 lineage complexity and heterogeneity, we analyzed all adult lung CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>lo</sup> cells by single cell RNA-sequencing and confirmed the results by flow cytometric and functional analyses. By this approach, we have identified a distinct cell population in adult lungs that resembles ILC progenitors in the BM.

#### 4.2 Results

#### 4.2.1 RORa Lineage Tracing Marks Innate Lymphocytes Including Lung ILC2s

We generated ROR $\alpha$  lineage tracer mice by crossing *Rora-IRES-Cre* (Chou et al., 2013) and R26R-EYFP mice, which have a *loxP*-flanked transcription stop sequence followed by the gene encoding yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) in the ROSA26 locus. In these ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mice, cells expressing *Ror* $\alpha$  during their development should be irreversibly labeled by YFP. As expected, most (>80%) conventional ILC2s, defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> (Figure 4.1A) or Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> (Figure 4.1B) were YFP<sup>+</sup> in naïve adult mice. Intranasal IL-33 treatment resulted in the expansion of the YFP<sup>+</sup> ILC2s. Less than 1% B (CD19<sup>+</sup>) and 1.5% T cells (TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^+$ ) in adult lungs expressed YFP (Figure 4.1C). About 9% of TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^-$ NKp46<sup>+</sup> lung cells were YFP<sup>+</sup>, most of which were NK cells co-expressing Eomes and T-bet (Figure 4.1D). In the BM, only less than 4% of Lin<sup>-</sup> $\alpha4\beta7^+$ ST2<sup>-</sup> cells, which should include EILPs (Yang et al., 2015b), CHILPs (Klose et al., 2014) ILCPs (Constantinides et al., 2014) were YFP<sup>+</sup> (Figure 4.1E). In contrast, the majority (>70%) of ILC2Ps (Lin<sup>-</sup> $\alpha4\beta7^+$ CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>) (Halim et al., 2012b; Hoyler et al., 2012) were YFP<sup>+</sup>. Small intestine ILC2s and ILC3s were also labeled by YFP, albeit to a lesser degree than lung ILC2s (Figure 4.1F).



#### Figure 4.1 YFP Expression in Lymphoid Populations of Lung, BM and Intestine of RORa-YFP Mice Shows

#### the Expression of YFP by ILCs

(A) Lung ILC2s from naïve and IL-33 treated adult mice were sequentially gated by CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> in contour plots, and their expression of YFP in ROR $\alpha$ -YFP (black line) and B6 control (filled grey) mice is shown by histograms. (B) Lung ILC2s from naïve and IL-33 treated adult mice were sequentially gated by CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> in contour plots, and their expression of YFP in ROR $\alpha$ -YFP (black line) and B6 control (filled grey) mice is shown by histograms. (C-D) YFP expression by adult lung CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells and TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^+$ T cells (C), TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^-NKp46^+$  (YFP<sup>+</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta^-NKp46^+$  are analyzed for Eomes and T-bet expression) (D). (E) BM Lin<sup>-</sup> $\alpha4\beta7^+ST2^-$  and Lin<sup>-</sup> $\alpha4\beta7^+$ CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2Ps. (F) Intestinal Lin<sup>-</sup>ROR $\gamma^-$ GATA-3<sup>+</sup> ILC2s and Lin<sup>-</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>+</sup>GATA-3<sup>int</sup> ILC3s in ROR $\alpha$ -YFP (black line) and B6 control (filled grey) mice is shown by histograms.

#### 4.2.2 RORα Lineage Tracing Marks Lin<sup>-</sup>RORγt<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup> and GATA-3<sup>10</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>

#### Cells in the Lung

The Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells in adult lungs, were ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> and included GATA-3<sup>hi</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>, GATA-3<sup>lo</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> and GATA-3<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup> cells (Figure 4.2). The Thy1<sup>+</sup> cells included ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> ILC2s and a small fraction of ST2<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> cells. The GATA-3<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup> cells were negative for the expression of all lymphoid-associated markers tested (data not shown). The Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells in the intestine included GATA-3<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> ILC2s and GATA-3<sup>lo</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>+</sup> ILC3s. Considering that ILC1s and NK cells were excluded from the Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> population in our analyses and ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>+</sup>ILC3s were scarce in the lung. Hence, these results suggested that Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup>GATA-3<sup>lo</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> cells might be unconventional ILC2s.



**Figure 4.2** Flow Cytometric Analysis of RORα-YFP Mice Shows the Expression of YFP by Lin<sup>-</sup>RORγt<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup> and GATA-3<sup>lo</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> Cells in the Lung The CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells from adult lungs and small intestine were gated and analyzed for the expression of GATA-3 and RORγt as well as GATA-3 and Thy1. The lung Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> cells are further analyzed for the expression of

3 and RORγt as well as GATA-3 and Thy1. The lung Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> cells are further analyzed for the expression of ST2 and CD25. Data are representative of at least 3 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group in each experiment.

#### 4.2.3 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies an ILC2 Cluster in Adult RORα-YFP Mouse Lungs

In order to fully assess the lung ILC2 heterogeneity, we analyzed all CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>lo</sup> cells (Figure 4.3A) from adult (6-9 weeks old) ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse lungs by droplet-based scRNA-seq. Unsupervised clustering of the cells in this dataset identified 16 distinct clusters (Figure 4.3B and C). ILC2 cluster was then identified by the expression of ILC2-associated genes including *Areg*, *1l7r*, *Rora* and *Gata3* (Figure 4.3C and Table 4.1). The ILC2 cluster was also evident on the *t*-SNE plot based on its high expression of *Rora*, *Gata3*, *1l1rl1*, *Areg* and *Arg1* (Figure 4.3D). Other clusters included stromal (*Gsn*, *Dcn*, *Clec3b*, *Apoe*, *Serping1* and *Inmt*), myeloid (*Siglech*, *Alox5ap*, *Ctsh* and *Irf8*), B (immunoglobulin genes, *Cd79a*, *Cd79b* and *Ms4a1*), NK (*Klra4*, *Klrd1*, *Klre1*, *Tyrobp*) and *Gzma*) and T cell (*Cd3e*, *Cd3d*, *Cd3g*, *Trac*, *Trbc2*, *Trdc* and *Cd28*) (Figure 4.3B and C, and Table 4.1). The *Yfp* was mostly expressed in the ILC2, NK and stromal cell clusters (Figure 4.3D). *Yfp*<sup>+</sup> NK and stromal cell clusters did not express *Rora*, suggesting that these cells developed from *Rora* positive progenitors.







Figure 4.3 ScRNA-seq Analysis of Adult RORa-YFP Mouse Lungs Identifies an ILC2

(A) Gating strategy for the purification of Lin<sup>lo</sup> cells from adult ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse lungs for scRNA-seq analysis. (B) *t*-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (*t*-SNE) plot shows distinct clusters within the 4,664 sequenced cells. (C) Heatmap of the differentially expressed genes by the clusters from **B**. Top 10 differentially expressed transcripts of the lymphoid lineages are shown. (D) *t*-SNE plots showing expression of the indicated individual genes.

| Cluster 1 | Cluster 2 | Cluster 3 | Cluster 4 | Cluster 5    | Cluster 6 | Cluster 7 | Cluster 8 | Cluster 9 | Cluster 10 | Cluster 11 | Cluster 12        | Cluster 13 | Cluster 14 | Cluster 15 | Cluster<br>16     |
|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|--------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|------------|------------|-------------------|------------|------------|------------|-------------------|
| Gsn       | S100a4    | Gzma      | Igkc      | Cd3d         | Cbr2      | Scgb3a1   | Cox6a2    | Car4      | Ccl21a     | Upk3b      | 2810417H<br>13Rik | Cd79a      | Hhip       | S100g      | Hbb-bt            |
| Dcn       | Areg      | Fcerlg    | Iglc2     | Cd3g         | Нр        | Bpifa1    | Siglech   | Cldn5     | Mmrn1      | Gpm6a      | Birc5             | Ly6d       | Enpp2      | Slc34a2    | Alas2             |
| Clec3b    | Il7r      | Tyrobp    | Ly6d      | Trac         | Sftpb     | Scgb3a2   | Alox5ap   | Ramp2     | Lyvel      | Msln       | Ccnb2             | Iglc2      | Tagln      | Pla2g1b    | Hbb-bh1           |
| Apoe      | Rgcc      | Nkg7      | Iglc1     | Trbc2        | Scgb1c1   | Reg3g     | Ccr9      | Emp2      | Ptprb      | Upk1b      | Rrm2              | Ms4a1      | Mustnl     | Ager       | Hba-a2            |
| Serping1  | Ramp1     | Ccl5      | Cd79a     | Cd3e         | Sftpa1    | Bpifb1    | Cd300c    | Egfl7     | Cldn5      | Cldn15     | Ube2c             | Fcerlg     | Thbs1      | Lyz1       | Snca              |
| Inmt      | Rora      | Klrd1     | Cd74      | Ms4a6b       | Cyp2f2    | Wfdc2     | Lairl     | Ecscr     | Egfl7      | Igfbp5     | Hist1h2ap         | Cd79b      | Aspn       | Cxcl15     | Hba-a1            |
| Mgp       | Gata3     | Klrel     | Cd79b     | Cd28         | Wfdc2     | Tff2      | Mpeg1     | Kdr       | Gpihbp1    | Nkain4     | Top2a             | Iglc1      | Acta2      | Chil1      | Hbb-bs            |
| Serpinfl  | Ccr8      | Klrkl     | Ighm      | Ms4a4b       | Scgb3a2   | Lypd2     | Sh3bgr    | Cyp4b1    | Apold1     | Sbsn       | Stmn1             | Ighm       | Bmp5       | Lyz2       | Bpgm              |
| Cyr61     | Fgl2      | AW112010  | Ms4a1     | Cd8b1        | Sfta2     | Cyp2f2    | Smim5     | Calcrl    | Ramp2      | Krt19      | Cks1b             | Igkc       | Cyp2e1     | Lcn2       | Fam220a           |
| Id3       | Thy1      | Klra4     | Iglc3     | Lat          | Sftpd     | Cxcl17    | Cybb      | Tmem100   | Gng11      | Clu        | Smc2              | Tyrobp     | Grem2      | Sfta2      | Ube2l6            |
| Igfbp4    | Ccdc184   | Klra7     | Vpreb3    | Lefl         | Dcxr      | Sult1d1   | Pld4      | Cd36      | Aqp1       | Cav1       | Dut               | Cd74       | Serpine2   | Sftpc      | Isg20             |
| Colla2    | Emb       | Ctsw      | Ebfl      | Gm8369       | Ldhb      | Fxyd3     | Rnase6    | Cdh5      | Sdpr       | Igfbp6     | Hmgn2             | Ebf1       | Igfbp5     | Sftpd      | Cabin1            |
| Fbln1     | Zcchc10   | Klral     | Cd24a     | Hcst         | Gsta4     | Gsto1     | Plaur     | Ednrb     | Tm4sf1     | Slpi       | Hmgb2             | Gzma       | Adamts1    | Sftpb      | Cd3e              |
| Timp3     | Itgb7     | Xcl1      | Fcmr      | Tcf7         | Selenbp1  | Cbr2      | Bst2      | Kitl      | S100a16    | Tm4sf1     | Tuba1b            | Dok3       | P2ry14     | Sftpa 1    | Mta2              |
| Pcolce2   | Ltb       | Ncr1      | Siglecg   | Trdc         | Gsta3     | Krt18     | Ctsh      | Icam2     | Prss23     | Aqp1       | Cenpa             | Ccl3       | Myl9       | Bex2       | Ppp1r12<br>a      |
| Mfap5     | Furin     | Ccl4      | H2-Ab1    | Lck          | Scgb1a1   | Gsta4     | Tcf4      | Acvrl1    | Hpgd       | Hspb1      | H2afx             | Ncr1       | Lum        | Fabp5      | 1810058I<br>24Rik |
| Cxcl12    | Gadd45b   | Ccl3      | H2-Eb1    | Ikzf2        | Retnla    | Нр        | Plac8     | Ly6c1     | Fxyd6      | Csrp2      | 2700094K1<br>3Rik | Vpreb3     | Egr1       | Wfdc2      | Mkrn1             |
| Sparc     | Nfkb1     | Klra9     | H2-Aa     | Ccl5         | Mgst1     | Retnla    | Irf8      | Crip2     | Ifitm3     | Rarres2    | H2afz             | Spib       | Ier3       | Napsa      | Sdha              |
| Pil6      | Tcrg-C4   | Spry2     | Cd72      | <i>Ly6c2</i> | Lypd2     | Mgstl     | Tyrobp    | Tspan13   | Ier3       | Aebp1      | Tubb5             | Ighd       | Тррр3      | Elovl1     |                   |
| Mt1       | Ccl1      | Gzmb      | Iglv1     | Trbc1        | Prdx6     | Scgblal   | Ccl4      | Ly6a      | Sepp1      | Fxyd3      | H2afv             | Gm8369     | Atf3       | Npc2       |                   |

#### Table 4.1 Top 20 Differentially Expressed Genes by the 16 Cellular Clusters in Figure 4.3B and C

The table shows the top 20 genes that are differentially expressed ( $p \le 0.01$ ) by each cluster in Figure 4.3B and C. The genes were selected by the FindMarkers function in the Seurat package.

## 4.2.4 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies Two ILC2 Subsets in Adult RORα-YFP Mouse Lungs

Further unsupervised clustering of the ILC2 cluster divided ILC2s into two subsets (1 and 2), each expressing a distinct set of genes (Figure 4.4A-C). Subset 1 highly expressed the conventional ILC2-associated genes including *Il1rl1* (ST2) (Halim et al., 2012a; b), *Tnfrsf18* (GITR) (Nagashima et al., 2018), *Areg* (amphiregulin) (Monticelli et al., 2015, 2011) and *Arg1* (arginase-1) (Monticelli et al., 2016). In contrast, subset 2 infrequently expressed *Il1rl1* and *Tnfrsf18* and instead had high expression of *Cd7* (CD7), *Cd2* (CD2), *Runx3* (Runx3), *Tcf7* (TCF-1) and *Il18r1* (IL-18rα). The two subsets equally expressed *Id2*, *Gata3*, *Rora*, *Il7r*, *Thy1* and *YFP* (Figure 4.4D).





#### Figure 4.4 ScRNA-seq Analysis of Adult RORa-YFP Mouse Lung ILC2s Identifies Two ILC2 Subsets with

#### **Distinct Gene Expression Profiles**

(A) The ILC2 cluster from Figure 4.3B/C was subjected to further unsupervised clustering that divided ILC2s into two subsets (subset 1 and 2). Heatmap shows the top 20 genes that are differentially expressed by the subsets 1 and 2. (B-C) Heatmap shows all the genes that are differentially expressed ( $p \le 0.05$ ) by the adult ILC2 subsets. Genes that have higher expression in subset 1 than 2 (B), as well as genes that have higher expression in subset 2 than 1 (C) are shown. The genes selected and shown in the heatmap are found by the FindMarkers function with modification in the Seurat package. (D) Heatmap shows the expression of the ILC(2)-associated genes by the subsets 1 and 2. The arrows point to the genes that are mentioned in the text.

#### 4.2.5 Adult Lung ILC2s Are Divided into IL-18Rα<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> and IL-18Rα<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup> Subsets

The two ILC2 subsets detected by the scRNA-seq highly expressed Thy1, 1l7r and Yfp, while differentially expressing Il18r1. Il1rl1 and Flow cytometric analysis of Lin<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>RORyt<sup>-</sup> cells in adult Rora-YFP mouse lungs revealed two subsets, namely the IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> conventional ILC2s and a small IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> subset (Figure 4.5A). About a half of the IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells were YFP<sup>+</sup>. The IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells were negative for CD25, KLRG1 and IL-25R and had low expression of GITR and GATA-3 compared to IL- $18R\alpha^{-}ST2^{+}YFP^{+}$  conventional ILC2s (Figure 4.5B). The IL- $18R\alpha^{+}ST2^{-}YFP^{+}$  cells increased in numbers along with conventional ILC2s following intranasal papain treatment (Figure 4.5A and D). To test the capacities of the IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup>cells to produce cytokines, these cells and IL- $18R\alpha^{-}ST2^{+}YFP^{+}$  ILC2s were purified from naïve and papain-treated mouse lungs and stimulated with PMA and ionomycin. After 3 days, the culture supernatants were analyzed for multiple cytokines. The IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells produced IL-5, albeit much lower amounts than conventional ILC2s (Figure 4.5D). The IL- $18R\alpha^+ST2^-YFP^+$  cells also produced small amounts of IL-2, IL-4, IL-17 and high amounts of MIP-1 $\alpha$  and MIP-1 $\beta$ , whereas IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  were undetectable.

The same two subsets were also found in  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 4.6A). In agreement with the results obtained with Rora-YFP mouse lung analysis, the IL-18Ra<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells from naïve  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice also produced small amounts of IL-5, IL-2, IL-4, IL-17, MIP-1a and MIP-1 $\beta$  compared to IL-18Ra<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s (Figure 4.6B) and expanded after intranasal papain injections (Figure 4.6A and C).



## Figure 4.5 Flow cytometric and Functional Analyses Confirm Two Distinct Adult Lung ILC2 Subsets in RORa-YFP Mice.

(A) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> cells were sequentially gated and divided into IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) subsets and their expression of YFP in adult naïve (top) and papain-treated (bottom) lung ROR $\alpha$ -YFP and B6 control (filled grey) mice is shown by histograms. (B) The expression of CD127 and CD25 (left), GITR and KLRG1 (middle) as well as GATA-3 and IL-25R (right) by the IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> (black) in A (top) are shown by contour plots. (C) Absolute numbers of IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> (black) in A in naïve and papain-treated lungs are shown in bar graphs. (D) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells from adult naïve (top) and papain-treated (bottom) lung ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mice were sorted into IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) cells and stimulated for 72 hours with PMA and ionomycin. The amounts of cytokines and chemokines in the culture supernatants were determined.



## Figure 4.6 Flow Cytometric and Functional Analyses Confirm Two Distinct Adult Lung ILC2 Subsets in *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice

(A) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> cells from adult naïve (top) and papain-treated (bottom) lung in *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were sequentially gated and divided into IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) subsets. (B) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells from adult naïve lung *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice as in **A** (top) were sorted into IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) cells and stimulated for 72 hours with PMA and ionomycin. The amounts of cytokines and chemokines in the culture supernatants were determined. (C) Absolute numbers of IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) in **A** in naïve and papain-treated lungs are shown in bar graphs.

#### 4.2.6 Adult Lung IL-18Rα<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> ILCs Express TCF-1

The IL-18R $\alpha^+$ ST2<sup>-</sup> cells did not express mature ILC2 markers and produced very little cytokines suggesting that they might be immature ILCs. In addition, the scRNA-seq gene expression profile of these cells indicated that a fraction of them express *Tcf7* (Figure 4.7A, C and D). Therefore, we analyzed their expression of *Tcf7*, using *Tcf7*<sup>EGFP</sup> mice. Consistent with scRNA-seq results, about a half of the IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells were GFP<sup>+</sup> (Figure 4.7A), whereas the conventional IL-18R $\alpha^-$ ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s were negative. The IL-18R $\alpha^+$ ST2<sup>-</sup>*Tcf7*<sup>EGFP+</sup> cells along with the conventional ILC2s expanded after intranasal papain injections. ILC3s express low levels of *Tcf7* in *Tcf7*<sup>EGFP</sup> mice (Yang et al., 2015b). To exclude the rare ILC3s in our analysis and also examine TCF-1 protein expression by IL-18R $\alpha^+$ ST2<sup>-</sup> cells, we performed intracellular transcription factor staining of Tbet and ROR $\gamma$ t and TCF-1 of adult lung cells (Figure 4.7B). We confirmed that IL-18R $\alpha^+$ ST2<sup>-</sup> cells express TCF-1, but not T-bet and ROR $\gamma$ t, and expand after intranasal papain injections. Whereas, conventional IL-18R $\alpha^-$ ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s were negative for the expression of TCF-1.



Figure 4.7 Flow Cytometric Analysis of Tcf7EGFP Mice Shows the Expression of EGFP by IL-18Ra+ST2-

#### **ILCs in Adult Lungs**

(A) Adult lung Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells from naïve (top) and papain-treated (bottom)  $Tcf7^{EGFP}$  mice were sequentially gated and divided into IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) subsets, and analyzed for the expression of EGFP and Kit. (B) Adult lung Lin<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> cells from naïve (top) and papain-treated (bottom)  $Tcf7^{EGFP}$  mouse lungs were sequentially gated and analyzed for the expression of TCF-1 and ST2 (left) as well as IL-18R $\alpha$  and ST2 (right).

# 4.2.7 Adult Lung IL-18Rα<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> Are Not Dependent on CD127 Signaling for Their Development

To compare the developmental requirements of the IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> versus IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s, we developed ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO mice, by crossing *Rora-IRES-Cre* (Chou et al., 2013) and *Il7r*<sup>*Il*/*Il*</sup> mice, which have *loxP* sites flanking exon 3 of *Il7r*. In these ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO mice, cells expressing *Ror* $\alpha$  during their development will have deletion of *Il7r* exon 3 resulting in their defective CD127 expression and signaling. Lung and intestinal ILC2 development were severely impaired in ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO. This was to be expected as ILC2s strictly depend on CD127 signaling for their development and maintenance (Hoyler et al., 2012). In contrast, the B, T and Treg cell populations in the spleen and lung of ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO were unaffected (Figure 4.8A). NK cells and ILC1s, which do not require CD127 signaling for their development (Geiger and Sun, 2016; Klose et al., 2014), also developed normally in these mice. The number of ILC3s (in the small intestine) in these mice were lower than controls but this did not reach statistical significance.

Flow cytometric analysis of Lin<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> cells in naïve and papain-treated adult ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO mouse lungs showed that IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells were not reduced compared to the same subset in the ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse lungs (Figure 4.8B and C). Although, only about a half of the IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells were YFP<sup>+</sup> in the ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mice (Figure 4.5A), the lack of any reduction in naïve and papain-treated ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO mouse lungs, and considering the severe reductions of ILC2s in these mice, indicated that IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> are less dependent on CD127 signaling for their development than ILC2s.



#### Figure 4.8 Flow Cytometric Analysis of RORa-CD127cKO Mice Shows that IL-18Ra+ST2-ILCs in Adult

#### Lung Are Not Dependent on IL-7 Signaling for Their Development

(A) Absolute numbers of B, T, Treg, NK cells and ILC1s in the spleen (left), B, T, Treg, NK cells, ILC1s and ILC2s in the lung (middle), and ILC2s and ILC3s in the intestine (right) in B6 (black) and ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO (white) mice are shown in bar graphs. (B) Adult lung Lin<sup>-</sup>Tbet<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup> cells from naïve (top) and papain-treated (bottom) ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO mice were sequentially gated and divided into IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) subsets. (C) Absolute numbers of IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> and IL-18R $\alpha$ -ST2<sup>+</sup> subsets (as gated in B) from naïve (left) and papain-treated (right) ROR $\alpha$ -YFP (black) and ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO (white) mice are shown in bar graphs.

#### 4.3 Discussion

In this study, we generated a lineage tracer mouse model that marks ILCs with YFP, based on the expression of the transcription factor RORa. By scRNA-seq and flow cytometry we found  $Lin^{-}CD127^{+}Thy1^{+}ST2^{-}IL-18R\alpha^{+}YFP^{+}$  cells in adult lungs that has an ILC progenitor-like phenotype. The adult ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells did not express T-bet and ROR $\gamma$ t, the master transcription factors for ILC1s and ILC3s, respectively, and expressed low GATA-3 critical for ILC development (Hoyler et al., 2012; Zhu, 2017; Yagi et al., 2014; Serafini et al., 2014; Tindemans et al., 2014). The ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  population was also found in Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> mice confirming that it belongs to the ILC lineage. Unlike conventional ILC2s, ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells were CD25<sup>-</sup>GITR<sup>10</sup>. They also lacked KLRG1 and IL-25R expression, excluding the possibility of them being inflammatory ILC2s (Huang et al., 2014, 2018a). These cells produced the same cytokines as ILC2s, albeit to much lower amounts, similar to the cytokine production capacities of BM ILC2Ps (Halim et al., 2012b). The ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells in our study are very similar to the unconventional ILC2s recently reported (Ricardo-Gonzalez et al., 2018). The lung ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+115<sup>+</sup></sup> cells in this report were considered functionally similar to skin ILC2s. It should be noted that the use of the RORa lineage tracer mice in our study, unlike the *Il5* reporter mice, enabled us to capture all ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells in the lung regardless of their basal activation status. In addition, the ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells in our study are similar to the systemic human ILC precursors and expressed the ILC progenitor associated transcription factor genes Rora, Tcf7, Gata3, Id2 and Runx3 as well as Cd2, Cd7, Il7r, Il1r1 and Ill8r1 (Lim et al., 2017a). They both lacked any expression T-bet and RORyt and had low expression of GATA-3. The analysis of ROR $\alpha$ -CD127cKO mice revealed that ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup> cells were independent of CD127 signaling for their development. It is notable that BM ILC progenitors

are not dependent on IL-7 signaling for their development (Harly et al., 2017). Interestingly, ILC3s which are known to be dependent on CD127 signaling for their development and maintenance, were less severely reduced compared to ILC2s. This might be due to the IL-15 signaling compensating for the lack of IL-7 signaling (Robinette et al., 2015). Therefore, our results suggest that the ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells might be ILC progenitors. However, the ILC progenitor capacity of these cells should be confirmed using *in vivo* and *in vitro* differentiation assays.

## Chapter 5: Single Cell Analysis of RORα-YFP Mice Revealed Heterogeneity of Neonatal Lung ILC2s

#### 5.1 Introduction

ILC2s actively develop during the neonatal period (Ghaedi et al., 2016) and become long-lived tissue-resident cells (Gasteiger et al., 2015) in mucosal tissues including the lung. Neonatal lung ILC2s proliferate and become activated due to the spontaneous release of IL-33 in the lung (de Kleer et al., 2016; Saluzzo et al., 2017; Steer et al., 2017). Thereafter, ILC2s become long-lived tissue-resident cells (Gasteiger et al., 2015) in mucosal tissues including the lung. Therefore, the analysis of neonatal lung ILC2s not only provides insights into their heterogeneity after physiological activation with IL-33 but also their lung-specific developmental pathways during the most active phase of their generation. In order to study lung neonatal ILC2 complexity, we adopted the same strategy for our scRNA-seq analysis of ROR $\alpha$ -YFP neonatal mouse lung as we did for adult mice. By this approach, we could further confirm that a distinct ILC subset resembling BM ILC progenitors is present in neonatal lung, which might actively contribute to the generation of ILC2s in the lung during this period. In addition, we could identify two alternative effector fates of ILC2 differentiation, namely pro-inflammatory and tissue-repairing ILC2s.

#### 5.2 Results

### 5.2.1 RORα Lineage Tracing Marks Neonatal Innate Lymphocytes Including Lung

#### ILC2s

In agreement with the efficient labeling of adult lung ILC2s by YFP, most (>80%) ILC2s, defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> (Figure 5.1A) or Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> (Figure 5.1B) were

also YFP<sup>+</sup> in neonatal (12-day-old) mouse lung. In addition, the Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells in neonatal lungs, were RORγt<sup>-</sup> and included GATA-3<sup>hi</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>, GATA-3<sup>lo</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> and GATA-3<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup> cells (Figure 5.1C). The Thy1<sup>+</sup> cells included ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> ILC2s and a small fraction of ST2<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> cells. The GATA-3<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>-</sup> cells were negative for the expression of all lymphoid-associated markers tested (data not shown). These also suggested that Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup>GATA-3<sup>lo</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> cells might be unconventional ILC2s.



Figure 5.1 Flow Cytometric Analysis of RORa-YFP Mice Shows the Expression of YFP by Neonatal ILC2s

(A) Lung ILC2s from neonatal (12-day-old) mice were sequentially gated by CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>GATA-3<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> in contour plots, and their expression of YFP in ROR $\alpha$ -YFP (black line) and B6 control (filled grey) mice is shown by histograms. (B) Neonatal lung ILC2s were sequentially gated by CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> in contour plots, and their expression of YFP in ROR $\alpha$ -YFP (black line) and B6 control (filled grey) mice is shown by histograms. (B) The CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells from neonatal lungs were gated and analyzed for the expression of GATA-3 and ROR $\gamma$ t as well as GATA-3 and Thy1. The lung Lin<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup> cells are further analyzed for the expression of ST2 and CD25. Data are representative of at least 3 independent experiments with at least 3 mice per group in each experiment.

#### 5.2.2 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies ILC2s in Neonatal RORa-YFP Mouse Lungs

We analyzed all CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup><math>lo</sup> lung cells (Figure 5.2A) from neonatal (12-day-old) ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mice by scRNA-seq. Unsupervised clustering revealed 17 distinct clusters of stromal, myeloid, B, NK, T cell and ILC2 (Figure 5.2B and C and Table 5.1 Top 20 Differentially Expressed Genes by the 17 Cellular Clusters in ). The ILC2 clusters were identified by their differential expression of ILC2-associated genes including *Arg1*, *1113*, *Areg*, *Gata3* and *111r11*. The ILC2 clusters were also evident on the *t*-SNE plot based on their high expression of *Rora*, *Gata3*, *117r*, *111r11*, *Areg*, *Arg1*, *115* and *1113* (Figure 5.2D). We combined the ILC2 clusters to carry out further analyses. We first confirmed that neonatal ILC2s are activated by analyzing differentially expressed genes by neonatal and naïve adult ILC2s. Consistent with the previous reports (de Kleer et al., 2016; Saluzzo et al., 2017; Steer et al., 2017), our analysis showed that neonatal ILC2s are expressing higher amounts of *Arg1*, *1113*, *115* and *Klrg1* than adult ILC2s (Figure 5.3A).</sup>







Figure 5.2 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies ILC2s in Neonatal Mouse Lungs

(A)Gating strategy for purification of Lin<sup>lo</sup> cells from 12-day-old neonatal ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse lungs for scRNA-seq analysis. (B) *t*-Distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (*t*-SNE) plot shows distinct clusters within the 21,256 sequenced cells. (C) Heatmap of the differentially expressed genes by the clusters from **B**. Top 10 differentially expressed transcripts of the lymphoid lineages are shown. (D) *t*-SNE plots showing expression of the indicated individual genes.



#### Figure 5.3 Differential Gene Expression

#### Analysis of the Adult and Neonatal Lung

#### ILC2s Subsets

(A) Heatmap shows the top genes that are differentially expressed ( $p \le 0.05$ ) by the adult (combined adult ILC2s from Figure 4.4A) and neonatal ILC2s (combined ILC2 subsets from Figure 5.4A). The arrows point to the activation-associated genes *Arg1*, *Il5*, *Il13* and *Klrg1*.

| Cluster<br>1 | Cluster 2    | Cluster 3 | Cluster 4 | Cluster 5    | Cluster 6 | Cluster 7 | Cluster 8         | Cluster 9 | Cluster<br>10 | Cluster<br>11 | Cluster 12 | Cluster 13 | Cluster 14 | Cluster<br>15 | Cluster<br>16 | Cluster<br>17 |
|--------------|--------------|-----------|-----------|--------------|-----------|-----------|-------------------|-----------|---------------|---------------|------------|------------|------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| Igkc         | Tyrobp       | S100a4    | Spry2     | Gzma         | Eln       | S100a4    | 2810417H<br>13Rik | Cd3d      | Hbb-bs        | lfitm l       | Sftpa 1    | Bst2       | Car1       | Cldn5         | Fscnl         | Dcn           |
| Cd74         | Nkg7         | Argl      | Piml      | Klrd1        | Aspn      | Argl      | Hmgb2             | Cd3e      | Hba-a1        | Ccl6          | Lyz2       | Cox6a2     | Vamp5      | Egfl7         | Zmynd15       | Igfbp6        |
| Cd79a        | Klrd1        | S100a6    | Actb      | Nkg7         | Sparc     | Rgcc      | Stmn1             | Cd8b1     | Hba-a2        | Ccl3          | Sftpb      | Siglech    | Gm15915    | Ramp2         | Il12b         | Upk3b         |
| Ly6d         | Ccl5         | Ramp1     | Kdm6b     | Tyrobp       | Bgn       | Samsn1    | Tuba1b            | Trac      | Hbb-bt        | Ccl9          | S100g      | Smim5      | Clec4d     | Gng11         | Cxcl16        | Aebp1         |
| Ms4a1        | Igkc         | 1113      | Notch2    | Fcerlg       | Col3a1    | Ltb4r1    | Birc5             | Trbc2     | Alas2         | Alox5ap       | Wfdc2      | Ccr9       | Gstm5      | Tmem100       | Cacnb3        | <i>Gpc3</i>   |
| Ebfl         | Gzma         | Gata3     | Abhd2     | AW11201<br>0 | Mustn1    | Gata3     | Ube2c             | Cd3g      | Snca          | Mcpt8         | Ager       | Lairl      | Aqp1       | Sdpr          | Basp1         | Nkain4        |
| Cd79b        | Fcerlg       | Samsn1    | Pdcd4     | Ccl5         | Cyr61     | S100a6    | Tubb5             | Ms4a6b    | Ube2l6        | Hdc           | Sftpd      | Plaur      | Tspo2      | Ecscr         | Tm4sf5        | Mgp           |
| Vpreb3       | Ly6d         | Rgcc      | Cbx3      | Klrk1        | Tgfbi     | Cxcl2     | Cks1b             | Lefl      | Bpgm          | Il6           | Cxcl15     | Runx2      | Gata2      | Tm4sf1        | Marcks        | Rarres2       |
| Iglc1        | AW11201<br>0 | Ltb4r1    | Wtap      | Cd7          | Serpine2  | Il1rl1    | Top2a             | Ifi27l2a  | Fam46c        | Lilr4b        | Cldn18     | Tcf4       | Арое       | Scn7a         | Cd83          | Meg3          |
| Ighm         | Klrk1        | Rgs1      | Insig1    | Klrel        | Tagln     | Ramp1     | Hmgn2             | Ms4a4b    | Mkrn l        | Osm           | Cbr2       | Alox5ap    | Cox6b2     | S100a16       | Ccr7          | Арое          |
| Iglc3        | Ebfl         | Klrgl     | Slc39a1   | Ctsw         | Col1a2    | Rora      | Rrm2              | Gm8369    | Slc25a37      | Cypllal       | Krt18      | Grn        | Cdk6       | Cdh5          | Net1          | Collal        |
| Iglc2        | Xcl1         | Stab2     | B4galt1   | Il18r1       | Collal    | Areg      | H2afx             | Tcf7      | Gpx1          | Csf2rb        | Sfta2      | Ly6c2      | Khk        | Hpgd          | Cd63          | Sparc         |
| H2-Ab1       | Serpinb6b    | Areg      | Kmt2d     | Ms4a4b       | Fstl1     | Gadd45b   | H2afz             | Ikzf2     | Bnip3l        | Csrp3         | Chil1      | Rnase6     | Myb        | Stmn2         | Trafl         | Igfbp5        |
| Cd24a        | Ctsw         | Rora      | Zc3hav1   | Xcl1         | Serpinh1  | Klrg1     | Cenpa             | Lck       |               | Lilrb4a       | Cldn3      | Plac8      | Ifitm2     | Cav1          | Gclc          | Col3a1        |
| Cd72         | Klrel        | Cxcl2     | Pan3      | Serpinb6b    | Pam       | Nfkb1     | Cdca3             | Trbc1     |               | Cd200r3       | Anxa3      | Irf8       | Mt1        | Calcrl        | Epstil        | Serpinh<br>1  |
| Spib         | Iglc2        | Furin     | Alkbh5    | Sh2d1a       | Fos       | Hilpda    | Ccnb2             | Lat       |               | Ier3          | Lmo7       | Pld4       | Atpif1     | Cd36          | Cst3          | Col1a2        |
| Siglecg      | Ifng         | Ccl1      | Supt16    | Gimap4       | Mfap4     | Klk8      | Smc2              | Gimap3    |               | Ccl4          | Bex4       | Ctsh       | Gpx1       | Crip2         | Npc2          | Ifitm3        |
| H2-Eb1       | Cd7          | Ctla2a    | Rpgrip1   | Ncr1         | Mfap2     | Fam110a   | Cenpf             | Gimap4    |               | Cd63          | Emp2       | Ctsb       | Stmn1      | Ifitm3        | Klf6          | Csrp2         |
| Н2-Аа        | Gimap4       | Hilpda    | Ppp1r16b  | Car2         | Id3       | Rgs1      | Mki67             | Rgs10     |               | Ifitm2        | Sftpc      | Tyrobp     | Plac8      | Ifitm2        | Serpinb6b     | Fabp5         |
| Mzb1         | Ccl4         | Gadd45b   | Furin     | Ifng         | Thbs1     | 1113      | Dut               | Bcl2      |               | Apoe          | Npc2       | Psap       | Nop10      | Sepp1         | Ccl5          | Gsn           |

Table 5.1 Top 20 Differentially Expressed Genes by the 17 Cellular Clusters in Figure 5.2 B and C The table shows the top 20 genes that are highly expressed ( $p \le 0.01$ ) by each cluster in Figure 5.2B and C. The genes were selected by the FindMarkers function in the Seurat package.

## 5.2.3 Identification of Two Distinct ILC2 Subsets in Neonatal RORα-YFP Mouse Lungs by scRNA-seq Analysis

Further unsupervised clustering of the combined neonatal ILC2s, divided them into two subsets (1 and 2), each expressing a distinct set of genes (Figure 5.4A). Subset 1 mainly included ILC2s with high expression of *Il5*, *Il13*, *Arg1* and *Klrg1*, whereas subset 2 was highly enriched in *Areg* and *Icos* expressing ILC2s. A complete analysis of the transcripts that were differentially expressed between these two subsets indicated that the *Il5/Il13* expressing subset also had slightly higher expression of the activation marker *Cd69* (Figure 5.4B). Whereas, the *Areg/Icos* expressing subset had slightly higher expression of *Zbtb16*, *Kit* and *Il7r* (Figure 5.4A, C and D). *Zbtb16* encoding the transcription factor PLZF, is known to induce the upregulation of ICOS (Gleimer et al., 2012). The two subsets equally expressed *Id2*, *Gata3*, *Thy1* and *Il1rl1* (Figure 5.4D).







#### Figure 5.4 ScRNA-seq Analysis Identifies Two Distinct ILC2 Subsets in Neonatal Mouse

(A) The ILC2 clusters from Figure 5.2B/C were combined and subjected to further unsupervised clustering, which divided them into two subsets (subset 1 and 2). Heatmap shows top 20 genes that are differentially expressed by the subsets 1 and 2. (B-C) Heatmap shows all the genes that are differentially expressed ( $p \le 0.05$ ) by the neonatal ILC2 subsets. Genes that have higher expression in subset 1 than 2 (B), as well as genes that have higher expression in subset 2 than 1 (C) are shown. The genes selected and shown in the heatmap are found by the FindMarkers function with modification in the Seurat package. (D) Heatmap shows the expression of the ILC(2)-associated genes by the subsets 1 and 2. The arrows point to the genes that are mentioned in the text.

#### 5.2.4 Trajectory Analysis Revealed ILC Progenitor-Like Cells in Neonatal Lungs

Lung ILC2 development starts soon after birth (Ghaedi et al., 2016). To examine the developmental relationship between the two neonatal ILC2 subsets above, individual neonatal ILC2s were positioned along a differentiation trajectory according to the virtual progression of their transcriptome (Figure 5.5A) (Trapnell et al., 2014; Trapnell, 2015). This analysis placed individual ILC2s into 5 different states. State 1 was enriched for cells expressing ILC progenitor-associated genes including *ll7r*, *Kit*, *Tcf7* (Yang et al., 2015b; Obaldia and Bhandoola, 2015), *Tox* (Seehus et al., 2015b) and Zbtb16 (Constantinides et al., 2014) and lacked expression of the mature ILC2associated genes including *Il1rl1*, Areg, Il5, Il13, Arg1 and Klrg1 (Figure 5.5A and B), suggesting that these cells are ILC progenitors residing in neonatal lungs. Analyses of the genes differentially expressed along cell fate progression from state 1 to states 4 and 5 revealed progressive downregulation of the ILC-progenitor-associated genes Tcf7 (Yang et al., 2015b), Tox (Seehus et al., 2015a) and Runx3 (Ebihara et al., 2015) as well as Ill8r1 (Figure 5.5C). Mature ILC2-associated genes *Il1rl1*, Areg, Arg1, Il5, Il13 and Klrg1 showed progressive up-regulation along their cell fate progression. The state 1 progenitor cells appeared to differentiate into two distinct ILC2 effector subsets (states 4 and 5) (Figure 5.5A and B). State 4 was enriched for cells expressing *II5*, *II13*, Arg1 and Klrg1, whereas state 5 was enriched for cells expressing Areg and Icos. State 2 seemed to be a transitional state connecting progenitors to the mature cells in states 4 and 5. State 3 did not have any distinctive features from states 4 and 5 (data not shown). These results suggested that an ILC progenitor population exists in the neonatal lung that gradually differentiates into two alternative effector fates, namely pro-inflammatory and tissue-repairing ILC2s.



89

#### Figure 5.5 Trajectory Analysis of ScRNA-seq Neonatal Lung ILC2s Identifies Effector ILC2 Subsets and ILC

#### **Progenitor-Like Cells in the Neonatal Lung**

(A) Single cell trajectory was constructed from the neonatal ILC2 dataset in Figure 5.4A using the Monocle package and neonatal ILC2s were ordered in pseudotime along a tree-like differentiation trajectory. Five distinct segments or states of the trajectory were identified. (B) Heatmap of the expression of ILC2-associated genes in the indicated states in A. (C) Changes in the expression of the indicated ILC2-associated genes along cell fate progression in pseudotime, from state 1 to states 4 and 5 in A.
# 5.2.5 Distinct Effector ILC2 Subsets and ILC Progenitor-Like cells in Neonatal Mouse Lungs

The scRNA-seq analyses above showed two subsets of effector ILC2s and a population of ILC progenitor-like cells in neonatal lungs. To further study the ILC progenitor-like cells, we carried out flow cytometric analyses of neonatal (12-day-old) lungs and adult BM as well as neonatal BM of  $Tcf7^{EGFP}$  mice (Figure 5.6A). The Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells were divided into two subsets based on the expression of ST2. The lung ST2<sup>-</sup> cells highly expressed EGFP and included IL-18Ra<sup>+</sup>Kit<sup>+</sup> and IL-18Ra<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>-</sup> cells. The ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s were EGFP negative and mostly IL-18Ra negative. In the adult BM, ILC progenitors defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>EGFP<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> were mostly IL-18Ra and Kit positive. In contrast, the Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2Ps were EGFP<sup>-</sup>IL-18Ra<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>-</sup>. In the neonatal BM, only very small numbers of Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> were found and included similar cell populations as neonatal lung and adult BM. These results showed that early ILC progenitor-like cells in the lung are similar to early ILC progenitors, but not ILC2Ps in the BM.

Consistent with the scRNA-seq data, neonatal B6 lung ILC2s (Lin<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>) were divided into two subsets based on the expression of KLRG1 and ICOS (Figure 5.6B). The KLRG1<sup>-</sup>ICOS<sup>+</sup> had slightly higher expression of CD127. Unlike neonatal ILC2s, the divergence between KLRG1 and ICOS was not clear in adult lung ILC2s after papain treatments. (Figure 5.6C). We purified the neonatal KLRG1<sup>+</sup>ICOS<sup>-</sup> and KLRG1<sup>-</sup>ICOS<sup>+</sup> subsets as well as KLRG1<sup>+</sup>ICOS<sup>+</sup> and KLRG1<sup>-</sup>ICOS<sup>-</sup> cells and stimulated *in vitro* by a combination of IL-33 and IL-7 (Figure 5.6D). After the indicated time points, the KLRG1<sup>+</sup>ICOS<sup>-</sup> produced much higher amounts of IL-5 and IL-13, compared to other subsets and minimally produced amphiregulin. The KLRG1<sup>-</sup>ICOS<sup>+</sup> subset produced the highest amount of amphiregulin and did not produce much IL-5 and IL-13. These findings indicated that KLRG1 and ICOS expression distinguish two functionally distinct effector

subsets of neonatal ILC2s, namely IL-5/IL-13 cytokine-producing ILC2s and amphiregulin producing ones.



92

#### Figure 5.6 Flow Cytometric and Functional Analysis Shows ILC Progenitor-Like Cells and Distinct Effector

#### ILC2 Subsets in Neonatal Mouse Lungs

(A) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>cells from neonatal (12-day-old) lung, adult and neonatal (12-day-old) BM from *Tcf7*<sup>EGFP</sup> mice were sequentially gated and divided into EGFP<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> (green) and EGFP<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup> (black) subsets, and analyzed for the expression of IL-18R $\alpha$  and Kit. (B) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells from 12-day-old B6 mouse lungs were analyzed for KLRG1 and ICOS expression. The expression of ST2 and CD127 by the KLRG1<sup>+</sup>ICOS<sup>-</sup> (red gate) and KLRG1<sup>-</sup>ICOS<sup>+</sup> (purple) subsets were overlapped in dot plot. (C) CD45<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells from papain treated adult B6 mouse lungs were analyzed for KLRG1 and ICOS expression. (D) Lin<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells from papain treated adult B6 mouse lungs were analyzed for KLRG1 and ICOS expression. (D) Lin<sup>-</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells from papain treated adult B6 mouse lungs were divided into four subsets based on KLRG1 and ICOS expression, as shown in contour plot. Each subset was sorted and cultured for the indicated hours (hr) with IL-33 and IL-7 (1 ng/ml each for cytokine and 10 ng/ml for amphiregulin analysis). The amounts of IL-5, IL-13 and amphiregulin in the culture supernatants were determined by ELISA. Data in A are representative of 2 independent experiments. Data in B, C and D are representative of at least 3 independent experiments with 12 mice per group in each experiment. Mean ± SEM. p≤ 0.05 (\*), p≤ 0.01 (\*\*), p≤ 0.001 (\*\*\*) and p≤ 0.0001 (\*\*\*\*) were considered significant (two-tailed Student's t test).

#### 5.3 Discussion

In this chapter, our scRNA-seq and flow cytometry analyses of neonatal RORa-YFP mice revealed three transcriptionally distinct ILC2 subsets; Tcf7 expressing ILC progenitor-like, Klrg1/II5/II13 and Icos/Areg expressing effector ILC2 subsets. We confirmed that the neonatal lung ILC progenitor-like cells phenotypically similar to BM **ILCPs** are as they are Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>*Tcf*7<sup>GFP+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>. Both neonatal lung and adult BM ILCPs were also IL-18Rα<sup>+</sup>Kit<sup>+</sup>. ILC progenitor-like cells were more frequent in neonatal lungs than BM, suggesting that neonatal lung tissue might provide an important niche for the development of lung ILC2s. It remains to be determined whether these ILC progenitor-like cells are long lived resident cells and contribute to the ILC development in the lung of neonates and adult. It has been reported that hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs) and early thymic progenitors (ETPs) express IL-18Rα (Gandhapudi et al., 2015). IL-18 plus IL-7 promotes the expansion of HSCs and CLPs, and IL-18 alone can promote differentiation of ETPs into double negative stage 3 in vitro. In addition, IL-18R $\alpha$  is one of the cytokine receptors upregulated during the transition of all-lymphoid progenitors to EILPs and ILCPs (Harly et al., 2017).

We divided the neonatal ILC2s into two functionally distinct subsets based on the expression of KLRG1 and ICOS. The KLRG1<sup>+</sup> subset produced large amounts of IL-5 and IL-13, whereas the ICOS<sup>+</sup> subset produced high amounts of amphiregulin. Considering that neonatal ILC2s are activated (de Kleer et al., 2016; Steer et al., 2017; Saluzzo et al., 2017), these results suggested that activated ILC2s diverge into two distinct effector fates of pro-inflammatory IL-5/IL-13 producer and tissue-repairing amphiregulin producer ILC2s. Unlike neonatal ILC2s, the divergence between activated adult lung ILC2s KLRG1 and ICOS was not clear. It has been reported that some degree of heterogeneity exist in the adult lung ILC2 population with regard to

cytokine and amphiregulin production after intraperitoneal IL-33 injections (Monticelli et al., 2015). The putative pro-inflammatory KLRG1<sup>+</sup> ILC2s have high expression of Arg1 encoding arginase-1 (Arg1), which is required for the cytokine production by ILC2s (Monticelli et al., 2016). KLRG1, an ITIM-bearing inhibitory receptor for E-cadherin, is a marker for highly activated ILC2s and acts as an immune checkpoint (Vivier, 2017; Taylor et al., 2017a). On the other hand, the putative tissue-repairing ILC2s have high expression of ICOS. The ICOS/ligand interaction promotes survival and cytokine production of adult ILC2s after intranasal IL-33 administration (Maazi et al., 2015). In our study ICOS is specifically expressed by amphiregulin-producing neonatal ILC2s. It remains to be determined whether blocking ICOS/ligand interaction inhibits amphiregulin production by these cells. The tissue-repairing ILC2s have high expression of *Tnfaip3*, *Per1* and *Irf2bp2*. *Tnfaip3* and *Per1* encode ubiquitin-modifying enzyme A20 and period circadian regulator 1, respectively, which are known to inhibit NF-κB (Matmati et al., 2011; Sugimoto et al., 2014). Irf2bp2 encodes interferon regulatory factor 2 binding protein 2, which inhibits NFAT signaling and also acts as an activator of vascular endothelial growth factor A expression in muscle cells (Teng et al., 2010; Carneiro et al., 2011). Therefore, the high expression of these genes suggests that NF- $\kappa$ B and NFAT signaling and cytokine production might be actively inhibited in amphiregulin-producing ILC2s. The tissue-repairing ILC2s also had high expression of *Stab2* encoding stabilin-2. The scavenger receptor stabilin-2 binds to hyaluronic acid and other glycosaminoglycans (Harris et al., 2007; Schledzewski et al., 2011; Harris and Weigel, 2008), which are upregulated in the extracellular matrix during inflammation and has to be taken up and degraded before the original matrix can be restored. The role of Stabilin-2 in promoting tissue repairing phenotype and function of these cells remains to be elucidated.

Overall, neonatal lung ILC2s were divided into two distinct effector subsets and an IL- $18R\alpha^+ST2^-Tcf7^+$  progenitor-like subset. The two effector subsets were defined by the expression of ICOS and KLRG1, and they differentially produced the growth-factor amphiregulin and type 2 cytokines. The IL- $18R\alpha^+ST2^-Tcf7^+$  cells are likely IL-18 responsive lung ILC progenitors, which may contribute to ILC-poiesis in neonatal and inflamed lungs.

### **Chapter 6: Discussion**

Lung ILC2s play important roles in the development of allergic inflammation (Halim et al., 2012a; Martinez-Gonzalez et al., 2015). ILC2 numbers are elevated in the peripheral blood and sputum of asthma patients (Smith et al., 2016; Ying et al., 2016). In addition, ILC2s are involved in other significant lung pathologies including COPD (Silver et al., 2016) and fibrosis (Hams et al., 2014). Hence, they are recognized as potential therapeutic targets. It is important to elucidate the developmental pathways and complexity of the lung ILC2s as well as the functional properties of stimulated ILC2 subsets, so that proper subsets are targeted in therapeutic interventions. During my PhD studies, I explored the developmental pathways and complexity of the lung ILC2s during adult and neonatal periods, using various transgenic mouse models, microarray global gene expression, scRNA-seq, flow cytometric and functional analyses.

During my MSc studies in Dr. Fumio Takei lab, we realized that lung ILC2s actively develop during neonatal period (Ghaedi, 2015; Ghaedi et al., 2016; Steer et al., 2017). We also realized that CLPs were very rare during this period in BM and spleen, whereas LMPPs including LMPP-s and LMPP+s were prevalent. The rare neonatal CLPs, even when transplanted in the same numbers as neonatal LMPP+s, were far less competent than LMPP+s to give rise to ILC2s and T cells. In addition, our and another lab's reports indicated that adult BM LMPPs are more efficient than CLPs in generating ILCs and T cells in transplantation assays (Halim et al., 2012b; Yang et al., 2015b). These results were in contrast to our general understanding that all lymphocytes develop from CLPs and showed similarities with CLP-independent pathways of T cell development (Allman et al., 2003). Hence, I began my PhD studies with addressing the early developmental processes that leads to the generation of ILCs as well as T cells during adulthood, described in Chapter 3. I divided adult BM lymphoid progenitors based on the expression of Kit,

Sca-1, Flt3, CD127 and Ly6D into four populations namely LMPP-s (Lin<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>hi</sup>Sca-1<sup>hi</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup>), LMPP+s (Lin<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>hi</sup>Sca-1<sup>hi</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>), Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs (Lin<sup>-</sup>Kit<sup>lo</sup>Sca-1<sup>lo</sup>Flt3<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>). I characterized the gene expression profile of these lymphoid progenitors as well as their distinct potentials for different lymphoid lineages in transplantation assays (Ghaedi et al., 2016). I found that LMPP+s were different from conventional LMPP-s, Ly6D<sup>-</sup> and Ly6D<sup>+</sup> CLPs in their gene expression profiles as well as their capacity to differentiate into ILCs and T cells. Although, the expression of T cell and ILC-lineage associated genes were generally low among these four populations, LMPP+s were the most efficient progenitor population to engraft thymus and mucosal tissues and generate thymocytes and ILCs, respectively. Interestingly, LMPP+s had residual myeloid potentials as they could generate very small number of myeloid cells early after transplantation and also give rise to granulocyte/monocyte colonies when cultured with IL-3, stem cell factor, IL-6 and erythropoietin for 14 days (Ghaedi, 2015). The Affymetrix microarray global gene expression analysis of LMPP+s provided valuable information with regard to their differential gene expression compared to other lymphoid progenitors. However, we did not detect expression of T cell and ILC-lineage associated genes by LMPP+s. It is unknown whether LMPPs are heterogeneous and only a small subset is committed for the T and ILC lineages. Future studies with scRNA-seq analysis of LMPP+s can provide insights into their heterogeneity and the existence of bi-potent T and ILC as well T or ILC restricted progenitors among them. Also, scRNA-seq analysis of LMPP+s of neonatal spleen and BM as well as adult BM can provide information on how the gene expression profile of LMPP+s changes as a function of time during neonatal and adult periods.

In addition to LMPP+s, CHILPs were also more abundant in the neonatal spleen (Ghaedi et al., 2016) than adult BM (Klose et al., 2014; Gronke et al., 2016; Constantinides et al., 2014,

2015; Yang et al., 2015b). It also became clear that ILCs are tissue resident (Gasteiger et al., 2015). Therefore, we speculated that the contribution of BM lymphoid progenitors in adults to ILC generation in steady state might be limited. Hence, we became interested in investigating the existence of lung-resident ILC progenitors that could replenish ILC2 pool during adulthood. In addition, our analysis of adult RAG/Red mouse lung ILC2s indicated (Ghaedi et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2011) that 40% of ILC2s are RAG/Red<sup>+</sup> and therefore have developed from Rag1 positive progenitors, described in Chapter 3. And BrdU labeling of neonatal lung ILC2s indicated that at least 30% of adult lung ILC2s are generated in the neonatal period. These results convinced us that lung ILC2 population is heterogeneous. Therefore, I decided to investigate the existence of tissueresident ILC progenitors as well as ILC2 heterogeneity and complexity in adult and neonatal lungs, described in Chapters 4 and 5, respectively. In order to do so, I generated RORa lineage tracer mice (RORa-YFP mice). Considering that Rora is expressed in early ILC progenitors (Constantinides et al., 2014; Harly et al., 2017; Ishizuka et al., 2016; Lim et al., 2017a) and mature ILCs (Hoyler et al., 2012; Robinette et al., 2015; Halim et al., 2012b; Wong et al., 2012; Lo et al., 2016), RORα-YFP mice provided a comprehensive model to identify immature and mature lung ILC2s. To further adopt a comprehensive and an unbiased approach for studying ILC2 heterogeneity, we analyzed all adult and neonatal lung CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>lo</sup> cells by scRNA-seq and confirmed the results by flow cytometric and functional analyses. In adult RORa-YFP mouse lungs, described in Chapter 4, I found Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>IL-18Rα<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>YFP<sup>+</sup> cells that expressed low levels of GATA-3, but not T-bet and RORyt. A fraction of these cells expressed II5 and II13 and upon in vitro stimulation with PMA and ionomycin, they could produce the same cytokines as ILC2s, albeit to much lower amounts. Their expression of these cytokines indicated that they belong to the ILC2 lineage. And their lower expression of these cytokines compared to mature

lung ILC2s indicated that they are functionally immature with cells that are perhaps in different degrees of differentiation toward mature ILC2 fate. Intranasal papain treatment resulted in the expansion of these cells, suggesting that they are capable of sensing and responding to tissue inflammation by their expression of IL-18Ra. The Lin<sup>-</sup>T-bet<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>RORyt<sup>-</sup>IL- $18R\alpha^+ST2^-$  population was also found in  $Rag1^{-/-}$ . These cells also produced lower amounts of ILC2-associated cytokines and expanded after intranasal papain treatment. The scRNA-seq analysis of the IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells indicated that they express *Tcf*7, and our analysis of *Tcf*7<sup>EGFP</sup> mice further confirmed this. In addition, the Lin<sup>-</sup>T-bet<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells expressed the TCF-1 transcription factor in naïve and papain-treated lungs. IL-18R $\alpha$ +ST2<sup>-</sup> cells showed close phenotypic similarities to the reported systemic human ILC precursors (Lim et al., 2017a). Both of these populations share the expression of the ILC-lineage associated transcription factor genes Rora, Tcf7, Gata3, Id2 and Runx3 as well as Cd2, Cd7, Il7r, Il1r1 and Il18r1. They both also have low expression of GATA-3 and lack T-bet and RORyt expression. Consistent with a previous study (Harly et al., 2017) indicating that ILCPs do not depend on CD127 signaling for their development, lung IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells are also not dependent on CD127 signaling for their development as they are found in naïve and papain-treated RORa-CD127cKO mouse lungs. Hence, the ST2<sup>-</sup>IL-18R $\alpha^+$  cells in our study might be ILC progenitors. Albeit *in vivo* and *in vitro* differentiation assays are required to confirm that these cells possess ILC progenitor capacities.

ILC2 development starts soon after birth (Ghaedi et al., 2016; de Kleer et al., 2016; Saluzzo et al., 2017; Steer et al., 2017). Neonatal ILC2s accumulate and expand in the lung and are also activated due to the endogenous IL-33 release by neonatal lung epithelium. Therefore, we also carried the analysis of neonatal ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse lungs, described in the Chapter 5, which not

only provided us with further insights into their development in the lung during their most active phase of development, but also provided valuable information with regard to the heterogeneity of ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s. I adopted the same gating strategy that I used for the analysis of adult lung cells, and analyzed all 12-day-old neonatal lung CD45<sup>lo/+</sup>Lin<sup>lo</sup> cells by scRNA-seq. By this approach, I identified distinct ILC2 subsets; a *Tcf7* expressing ILC progenitor-like subset as well as distinct *Klrg1/II5/II13* and *Icos/Areg* expressing effector ILC2 subsets. The neonatal lung ILC progenitor-like cells are phenotypically similar to BM ILCPs (Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Tcf7<sup>GFP+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup>). In addition, both the ILC progenitor-like cells in neonatal lung and adult BM ILCPs are IL-18Ra<sup>+</sup>Kit<sup>+</sup>. Hence, they are phenotypically similar to the adult lung Lin<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>IL-18Ra<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells, suggesting that these lung ILC progenitor-like cells might contribute to the ILC development in the neonatal and adult lung.

I divided the neonatal ST2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s into two functionally distinct subsets based on the expression of KLRG1 and ICOS. The KLRG1<sup>+</sup> subset represented the pro-inflammatory ILC2s and produced large amounts of IL-5 and IL-13. On the other hand, the ICOS<sup>+</sup> ILC2s, represented tissue-repairing ILC2s and produced amphiregulin. My results suggested that activated neonatal ILC2s diverge into two distinct effector fates of pro-inflammatory and tissue-repairing ILC2s. In agreement with the pro-inflammatory potential of KLRG1<sup>+</sup> ILC2s, these cells have a high expression of *Arg1* encoding arginase-1, which is required for ILC2 cytokine production (Monticelli et al., 2016). On the other hand, the putative tissue-repairing ILC2s have high expression of *Tnfaip3*, *Per1* and *Irf2bp2*, suggesting that NF-κB and NFAT signaling and cytokine production might be actively inhibited in these cells (Matmati et al., 2011; Sugimoto et al., 2014; Teng et al., 2010; Carneiro et al., 2011). I realized that a similar divergence in the expression of KLRG1 and ICOS also occurs with papain-treated adult lung ILC2s. My results are in agreement 101

with previous reports indicating that IL-33-activated lung ILC2s show some degree of heterogeneity with regard to cytokine and amphiregulin production (Monticelli et al., 2015).

We are currently carrying additional experiments to assess the progenitor properties of  $Lin^{-}CD127^{+}Thy1^{+}IL-18R\alpha^{+}ST2^{-}YFP^{+}$  cells of adult ROR $\alpha$ -YFP mouse lungs. In order to do so, I have purified these cells along with BM Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells (ILCPs) (CD45.2) as controls and transplanted each into lethally irradiated congenic B6.Ly5<sup>SJL</sup> mice (CD45.1) together with helper BM cells from the lymphocyte-deficient NSG mice (CD45.1). I have also purified  $Rag1^{-/-}$ lung  $Lin^{-}CD127^{+}Thy1^{+}IL-18R\alpha^{+}ST2^{-}$ mouse cells BM and Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells (ILCPs) and transplanted each into lethally irradiated congenic B6.Ly5SJL mice (CD45.1). In addition, we will purify the neonatal lung Tcf7 expressing ILC progenitor-like cells described in our study (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>Tcf7<sup>EGFP+</sup>IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells) from 12-day-old Tcf7<sup>EGFP</sup> mice, along with adult BM Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>Tcf7<sup>EGFP+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells (CHILPs and ILCPs) (CD45.2) as controls and transplant each into lethally irradiated congenic B6.Ly5<sup>SJL</sup> mice (CD45.1). We will analyze the lungs, spleens and intestines of the transplanted mice at 6-weeks post-transplantation to fully access the differentiation potential of adult and neonatal lung IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells into different ILC and adaptive lymphoid lineages. We are also assessing the *in vitro* differentiation potentials of the lung IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells on stromal cells (OP9-DL1/OP9) with IL-7 and SCF. In addition, we are assessing the proliferation and cytokine capacity of adult lung IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> cells upon IL-18, IL-33 and papain *in vivo* intranasal treatment into ROR $\alpha$ -YFP and  $Rag1^{-/-}$ .

We are also investigating the signals that drive the dichotomy between neonatal proinflammatory and tissue-repairing ILC2s. Neonatal lung ILC2s show a peak of proliferation and activation due to the spontaneous release of IL-33 by epithelium (de Kleer et al., 2016; Steer et al., 2017; Saluzzo et al., 2017). Therefore, neonatal lung ILC2 numbers are significantly lower in  $II33^{-/-}$  mice than wild type controls (Steer et al., 2017). I am analyzing neonatal  $II33^{-/-}$  mouse lung ILC2 for their expression of KLRG1 and ICOS to assess whether IL-33 is responsible for driving the divergence of ILC2 pro-inflammatory and tissue-repairing subsets. Considering that tissue-repairing ILC2s specifically express ICOS, I will assess the roles of ICOS/ligand signaling in amphiregulin production by these cells. To do so, I will purify neonatal lung ILC2s (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>+</sup>) and culture these cells in IL-7+IL-33 in the presence or absence of an ICOS blocking antibody to later assess the amounts of amphiregulin and cytokines in the culture supernatants.

## **Future Direction**

We now know that in addition to IL-18R $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>ST2<sup>-</sup> ILC progenitor-like cells, multiple mature (ST2<sup>+</sup>) ILC2 populations co-exist in the adult lung: in the steady state, neonatally-derived ILC2s, adultderived ILC2s, ILC2s that derive from Rag1 positive and negative progenitors. I believe that significant avenues of research can follow these studies. One important question is whether ILC2s that are derived during neonatal and adult periods can have different gene expression profiles and functions. Designing proper mouse models can help in answering this question, as an example Tcf7-IRES-CreERT2 (Cre recombinase - estrogen receptor T2) mice that are administered tamoxifen over a one month period in adulthood can shed some light on the contribution of adult versus neonatal ILC progenitors to the generation of lung ILC2s and whether adult- versus neonatally-derived ILC2s might be functionally different. Another question that can be asked is whether ILC2s that are generated from Rag1 positive and negative progenitors might be functionally different. This question can be answered using *Rag1* fate-mapping mouse models. Similar studies on NK cells have indicated NK cells that derive from Rag1 expressing progenitors are more functionally fit with a higher potential to generate NK memory cells than NK cells that derive from Rag1 negative progenitors (Karo et al., 2014). It would be interesting to examine the functional fitness and memory generation potential of ILC2s that derive from Rag1 positive and negative.

Another significant question is how lung ILC2 identity is established and maintained: to what extent cell-intrinsic qualities inherited from their BM precursors versus lung tissue specific signals are important in this process. One possible way to answer this question is to deplete the lung ILC2 pool by irradiation, which also disrupts lung tissue homeostasis, and then compare the gene expression profile of the BM-derived ILC2s, to unperturbed lung ILC2s. Similar studies have 104

been carried out to compare the gene expression profile of repopulating BM-derived macrophage populations in different tissues and embryonically derived tissue resident macrophages. These studies have indicated that BM derived macrophage populations acquire significantly different transcriptional profiles with much less active tissue-specific enhancers compared to the embryonically derived macrophages (Ginhoux and Guilliams, 2016). In addition, these studies can reveal the tissue specific signals that imprint lung ILC2 identity.

Another significant question is how long-lived neonatal ILC2s self-maintain and persist in adult lungs. Our study also reveals the possibility that lung ILC progenitors might be long-lived and persist from neonatal period to adulthood. Hence the same question might become relevant to tissue-resident ILC progenitors.

Lung ILC2s derive from neonatal and adult ILC progenitors as well as *Rag1* positive and negative progenitors (Ghaedi et al., 2016). These cells show a heterogeneous profile after activation and include KLRG1<sup>+</sup> pro-inflammatory and ICOS<sup>+</sup> tissue-repairing ILC2s. A subset of activated ILC2s acquire memory-like characteristics and can mediate enhanced responses (Martinez-Gonzalez et al., 2016, 2018). Understanding lung ILC2s origins, developmental pathways and the tissue factors that regulate their identity, maintenance and functional heterogeneity after activation is fundamental for the design of future specific therapeutic interventions.

## **Bibliography**

- Adolfsson, J., R. Månsson, N. Buza-Vidas, A. Hultquist, K. Liuba, C.T. Jensen, D. Bryder, L. Yang, O.-J. Borge, L. a M. Thoren, K. Anderson, E. Sitnicka, Y. Sasaki, M. Sigvardsson, and S.E.W. Jacobsen. 2005. Identification of Flt3+ lympho-myeloid stem cells lacking erythro-megakaryocytic potential a revised road map for adult blood lineage commitment. *Cell*. 121:295–306. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.013.
- Akashi, K., M. Kondo, and I.L. Weissman. 1998. Role of interleukin-7 in T-cell development from hematopoietic stem cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 165:13–28.
- Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*. 124:783–801. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015.
- Aliahmad, P., A. Kadavallore, B. de la Torre, D. Kappes, and J. Kaye. 2011. TOX Is Required for Development of the CD4 T Cell Lineage Gene Program. *J. Immunol.* 187:5931–5940. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101474.
- Aliahmad, P., and J. Kaye. 2008. Development of all CD4 T lineages requires nuclear factor TOX. *J. Exp. Med.* 205:245–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20071944.
- Aliahmad, P., B. De La Torre, and J. Kaye. 2010. Shared dependence on the DNA-binding factor TOX for the development of lymphoid tissue-inducer cell and NK cell lineages. *Nat. Immunol.* 11:945–952. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs262.
- Allman, D., J. Li, and R.R. Hardy. 1999. Commitment to the B lymphoid lineage occurs before DH-JH recombination. *J. Exp. Med.* 189:735–40.
- Allman, D., A. Sambandam, S. Kim, J.P. Miller, A. Pagan, D. Well, A. Meraz, and A.
  Bhandoola. 2003. Thymopoiesis independent of common lymphoid progenitors. *Nat. Immunol.* 4:168–74. doi:10.1038/ni878.

- An, D., S.F. Oh, T. Olszak, J.F. Neves, F.Y. Avci, D. Erturk-Hasdemir, X. Lu, S. Zeissig, R.S. Blumberg, and D.L. Kasper. 2014. Sphingolipids from a symbiotic microbe regulate homeostasis of host intestinal natural killer T cells. *Cell*. 156:123–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.042.
- Artis, D., and H. Spits. 2015. The biology of innate lymphoid cells. *Nature*. 517:293–301. doi:10.1038/nature14189.
- Baccala, R., R. Gonzalez-Quintial, B.R. Lawson, M.E. Stern, D.H. Kono, B. Beutler, and A.N.
  Theofilopoulos. 2009. Sensors of the innate immune system: their mode of action. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 5:448–456. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2009.136.
- Bal, S.M., J.H. Bernink, M. Nagasawa, J. Groot, M.M. Shikhagaie, K. Golebski, C.M. van
  Drunen, R. Lutter, R.E. Jonkers, P. Hombrink, M. Bruchard, J. Villaudy, J.M. Munneke, W.
  Fokkens, J.S. Erjefält, H. Spits, and X.R. Ros. 2016. IL-1β, IL-4 and IL-12 control the fate
  of group 2 innate lymphoid cells in human airway inflammation in the lungs. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:636–645. doi:10.1038/ni.3444.
- Bando, J.K., S. Gilfillan, C. Song, K.G. McDonald, S.C.-C. Huang, R.D. Newberry, Y.
  Kobayashi, D.S.J. Allan, J.R. Carlyle, M. Cella, and M. Colonna. 2018. The Tumor
  Necrosis Factor Superfamily Member RANKL Suppresses Effector Cytokine Production in
  Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity*. 48:1208–1219.e4.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.04.012.
- Bando, J.K., H. Liang, and R.M. Locksley. 2015. Identification and distribution of developing innate lymphoid cells in the fetal mouse intestine. 16. doi:10.1038/ni.3057.
- Bando, J.K., J.C. Nussbaum, H.-E. Liang, and R.M. Locksley. 2013. Type 2 innate lymphoid cells constitutively express arginase-I in the naive and inflamed lung. *J. Leukoc. Biol.*

94:877-84. doi:10.1189/jlb.0213084.

- Barton, K., N. Muthusamy, C. Fischer, C.-N. Ting, T.L. Walunas, L.L. Lanier, and J.M. Leiden. 1998. The Ets-1 Transcription Factor Is Required for the Development of Natural Killer Cells in Mice. *Immunity*. 9:555–563. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80638-X.
- Benlagha, K., D.G. Wei, J. Veiga, L. Teyton, and A. Bendelac. 2005. Characterization of the early stages of thymic NKT cell development. *J. Exp. Med.* 202:485–92. doi:10.1084/jem.20050456.
- Benz, C., M.R.R. Copley, D.G.G. Kent, S. Wohrer, A. Cortes, N. Aghaeepour, E. Ma, H. Mader, K. Rowe, C. Day, D. Treloar, R.R.R. Brinkman, and C.J.J. Eaves. 2012. Hematopoietic stem cell subtypes expand differentially during development and display distinct lymphopoietic programs. *Cell Stem Cell*. 10:273–83. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2012.02.007.
- Bernink, J.H., L. Krabbendam, K. Germar, E. de Jong, K. Gronke, M. Kofoed-Nielsen, J.M.
  Munneke, M.D. Hazenberg, J. Villaudy, C.J. Buskens, W.A. Bemelman, A. Diefenbach, B.
  Blom, and H. Spits. 2015. Interleukin-12 and -23 Control Plasticity of CD127+ Group 1 and
  Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells in the Intestinal Lamina Propria. *Immunity*. 43:146–160.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.019.
- Bhandoola, A., H. von Boehmer, H.T. Petrie, and J.C. Zúñiga-Pflücker. 2007. Commitment and Developmental Potential of Extrathymic and Intrathymic T Cell Precursors: Plenty to Choose from. *Immunity*. 26:678–689. doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2007.05.009.
- Bhandoola, A., and A. Sambandam. 2006. From stem cell to T cell: one route or many? *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6:117–26. doi:10.1038/nri1778.
- Björklund, Å.K., M. Forkel, S. Picelli, V. Konya, J. Theorell, D. Friberg, R. Sandberg, and J.Mjösberg. 2016. The heterogeneity of human CD127+ innate lymphoid cells revealed by

single-cell RNA sequencing. Nat. Immunol. doi:10.1038/ni.3368.

- Boos, M.D., Y. Yokota, G. Eberl, and B.L. Kee. 2007. Mature natural killer cell and lymphoid tissue-inducing cell development requires Id2-mediated suppression of E protein activity. J. *Exp. Med.* 204:1119–1130. doi:10.1084/jem.20061959.
- Borowski, C., C. Martin, F. Gounari, L. Haughn, I. Aifantis, F. Grassi, and H. von Boehmer. 2002. On the brink of becoming a T cell. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 14:200–6.
- Branzk, N., K. Gronke, and A. Diefenbach. 2018. Innate lymphoid cells, mediators of tissue homeostasis, adaptation and disease tolerance. *Immunol. Rev.* 286:86–101. doi:10.1111/imr.12718.
- Brestoff, J.R., B.S. Kim, S.A. Saenz, R.R. Stine, L.A. Monticelli, G.F. Sonnenberg, J.J. Thome,
  D.L. Farber, K. Lutfy, P. Seale, and D. Artis. 2015. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells promote beiging of white adipose tissue and limit obesity. *Nature*. 519:242–246.
  doi:10.1038/nature14115.
- Brigl, M., L. Bry, S.C. Kent, J.E. Gumperz, and M.B. Brenner. 2003. Mechanism of CD1d-restricted natural killer T cell activation during microbial infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 4:1230–7. doi:10.1038/ni1002.
- Brubaker, S.W., K.S. Bonham, I. Zanoni, and J.C. Kagan. 2015. Innate Immune Pattern Recognition: A Cell Biological Perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 33:257–290. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112240.
- Busslinger, M. 2004. Transcriptional Control of Early B Cell Development. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 22:55–79. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104807.
- Butler, A., P. Hoffman, P. Smibert, E. Papalexi, and R. Satija. 2018. Integrating single-cell transcriptomic data across different conditions, technologies, and species. *Nat. Biotechnol.*

36:411-420. doi:10.1038/nbt.4096.

- Califano, D., J.J. Cho, M.N. Uddin, K.J. Lorentsen, Q. Yang, A. Bhandoola, H. Li, and D.
  Avram. 2015. Transcription Factor Bcl11b Controls Identity and Function of Mature Type 2
  Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity*. 43:354–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.07.005.
- Cardoso, V., J. Chesné, H. Ribeiro, B. Garcia-Cassani, T. Carvalho, T. Bouchery, K. Shah, N.L.
   Barbosa-Morais, N. Harris, and H. Veiga-Fernandes. 2017. Neuronal regulation of type 2
   innate lymphoid cells via neuromedin U. *Nature*. 549:277–281. doi:10.1038/nature23469.
- Carneiro, F.R.G., R. Ramalho-Oliveira, G.P. Mognol, and J.P.B. Viola. 2011. Interferon
   Regulatory Factor 2 Binding Protein 2 Is a New NFAT1 Partner and Represses Its
   Transcriptional Activity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 31:2889–2901. doi:10.1128/MCB.00974-10.
- Carotta, S., S.H.M. Pang, S.L. Nutt, and G.T. Belz. 2011. Identification of the earliest NK cell precursor in the mouse bone marrow. *Blood*. 117:5449–52. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-11-318956.
- Cerutti, A., I. Puga, and M. Cols. 2011. Innate control of B cell responses. *Trends Immunol*. 32:202–11. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.02.004.
- Challen, G.A., N. Boles, K.K.-Y. Lin, and M.A. Goodell. 2009. Mouse hematopoietic stem cell identification and analysis. *Cytometry*. A. 75:14–24. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.20674.
- Chang, Y.J., H.Y. Kim, L.A. Albacker, N. Baumgarth, A.N.J. McKenzie, D.E. Smith, R.H. Dekruyff, and D.T. Umetsu. 2011. Innate lymphoid cells mediate influenza-induced airway hyper-reactivity independently of adaptive immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 12:631–638. doi:10.1038/ni.2045.
- Chea, S., T. Perchet, M. Petit, T. Verrier, D. Guy-Grand, E.-G. Banchi, C.A.J. Vosshenrich, J.P. Di Santo, A. Cumano, and R. Golub. 2016a. Notch signaling in group 3 innate lymphoid

cells modulates their plasticity. Sci. Signal. 9:ra45-ra45. doi:10.1126/scisignal.aaf2223.

- Chea, S., S. Schmutz, C. Berthault, T. Perchet, M. Petit, O. Burlen-Defranoux, A.W. Goldrath,
  H.-R. Rodewald, A. Cumano, and R. Golub. 2016b. Single-Cell Gene Expression Analyses
  Reveal Heterogeneous Responsiveness of Fetal Innate Lymphoid Progenitors to Notch
  Signaling. *Cell Rep.* 14:1500–1516. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.01.015.
- Chen, L., Y. Youssef, C. Robinson, G.F. Ernst, M.Y. Carson, K.A. Young, S.D. Scoville, X.
  Zhang, R. Harris, P. Sekhri, A.G. Mansour, W.K. Chan, A.P. Nalin, H.C. Mao, T. Hughes,
  E.M. Mace, Y. Pan, N. Rustagi, S.S. Chatterjee, P.H. Gunaratne, G.K. Behbehani, B.L.
  Mundy-Bosse, M.A. Caligiuri, and A.G. Freud. 2018. CD56 Expression Marks Human
  Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Divergence from a Shared NK Cell and Group 3 Innate
  Lymphoid Cell Developmental Pathway. *Immunity*. 49:464–476.e4.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.08.010.
- Cherrier, M., S. Sawa, and G. Eberl. 2012. Notch, Id2, and RORγt sequentially orchestrate the fetal development of lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 209:729–40. doi:10.1084/jem.20111594.
- Chiossone, L., J. Chaix, N. Fuseri, C. Roth, E. Vivier, and T. Walzer. 2009. Maturation of mouse NK cells is a 4-stage developmental program. *Blood*. 113:5488–96. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-10-187179.
- Chou, S.-J., Z. Babot, A. Leingartner, M. Studer, Y. Nakagawa, and D.D.M. O'Leary. 2013.
   Geniculocortical Input Drives Genetic Distinctions Between Primary and Higher-Order
   Visual Areas. *Science (80-. ).* 340:1239–1242. doi:10.1126/science.1232806.
- Ciofani, M., G.C. Knowles, D.L. Wiest, H. von Boehmer, and J.C. Zúñiga-Pflücker. 2006. Stage-Specific and Differential Notch Dependency at the αβ and γδ T Lineage Bifurcation.

Immunity. 25:105–116. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.05.010.

- Colonna, M. 2018. Review Innate Lymphoid Cells : Diversity, Plasticity, and Unique Functions in Immunity. *Immunity*. 48:1104–1117. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.05.013.
- Constantinides, M.G., H. Gudjonson, B.D. McDonald, I.E. Ishizuka, P.A. Verhoef, A.R. Dinner, and A. Bendelac. 2015. PLZF expression maps the early stages of ILC1 lineage development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 112:5123–5128. doi:10.1073/pnas.1423244112.
- Constantinides, M.G., B.D. McDonald, P. a Verhoef, and A. Bendelac. 2014. A committed precursor to innate lymphoid cells. *Nature*. 508:397–401. doi:10.1038/nature13047.
- Cooper, M.A., J.E. Bush, T.A. Fehniger, J.B. VanDeusen, R.E. Waite, Y. Liu, H.L. Aguila, and M.A. Caligiuri. 2002. In vivo evidence for a dependence on interleukin 15 for survival of natural killer cells. *Blood*. 100:3633–3638. doi:10.1182/blood-2001-12-0293.
- Cortez, V.S., L. Cervantes-Barragan, M.L. Robinette, J.K. Bando, Y. Wang, T.L. Geiger, S. Gilfillan, A. Fuchs, E. Vivier, J.C. Sun, M. Cella, and M. Colonna. 2016. Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling Guides the Differentiation of Innate Lymphoid Cells in Salivary Glands. *Immunity*. 44:1–13. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.007.
- Cortez, V.S., and M. Colonna. 2016. Diversity and function of group 1 innate lymphoid cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 179:19–24. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2016.07.005.
- Dalli, J., R.A. Colas, H. Arnardottir, and C.N. Serhan. 2017. Vagal Regulation of Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells and the Immunoresolvent PCTR1 Controls Infection Resolution. *Immunity*. 46:92–105. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.12.009.
- Daussy, C., F. Faure, K. Mayol, S. Viel, G. Gasteiger, E. Charrier, J. Bienvenu, T. Henry, E.Debien, U.A. Hasan, J. Marvel, K. Yoh, S. Takahashi, I. Prinz, S. De Bernard, L. Buffat, S.de Bernard, L. Buffat, and T. Walzer. 2014. T-bet and Eomes instruct the development of

two distinct natural killer cell lineages in the liver and in the bone marrow. *J. Exp. Med.* 211:563–77. doi:10.1084/jem.20131560.

- Delconte, R.B., W. Shi, P. Sathe, T. Ushiki, C. Seillet, M. Minnich, T.B. Kolesnik, L.C. Rankin, L.A. Mielke, J.-G. Zhang, M. Busslinger, M.J. Smyth, D.S. Hutchinson, S.L. Nutt, S.E. Nicholson, W.S. Alexander, L.M. Corcoran, E. Vivier, G.T. Belz, S. Carotta, and N.D. Huntington. 2016. The Helix-Loop-Helix Protein ID2 Governs NK Cell Fate by Tuning Their Sensitivity to Interleukin-15. *Immunity*. 44:103–115. doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2015.12.007.
- Diefenbach, A. 2015. Profiling the diversity of innate lymphoid cells. doi:10.1038/nature14115.
- Diefenbach, A., M. Colonna, and S. Koyasu. 2014. Development, Differentiation, and Diversity of Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity*. 41:354–365. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.005.
- Diefenbach, A., M. Colonna, and C. Romagnani. 2017. Meeting Report The ILC World Revisited. *Immunity*. 46:327–332. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.03.008.
- Djuretic, I.M., D. Levanon, V. Negreanu, Y. Groner, A. Rao, and K.M. Ansel. 2007. Transcription factors T-bet and Runx3 cooperate to activate Ifng and silence II4 in T helper type 1 cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 8:145–153. doi:10.1038/ni1424.
- Doherty, T.A., N. Khorram, S. Lund, A.K. Mehta, M. Croft, and D.H. Broide. 2013. Lung type 2 innate lymphoid cells express cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1, which regulates TH2 cytokine production. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 132:205–213. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.03.048.
- Duerr, C.U., C.D.A. McCarthy, B.C. Mindt, M. Rubio, A.P. Meli, J. Pothlichet, M.M. Eva, J.-F.Gauchat, S.T. Qureshi, B.D. Mazer, K.L. Mossman, D. Malo, A.M. Gamero, S.M. Vidal,I.L. King, M. Sarfati, and J.H. Fritz. 2015. Type I interferon restricts type 2

immunopathology through the regulation of group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:65–75. doi:10.1038/ni.3308.

- Dunon, D., D. Courtois, O. Vainio, A. Six, C.H. Chen, M.D. Cooper, J.P. Dangy, and B.A.Imhof. 1997. Ontogeny of the immune system: gamma/delta and alpha/beta T cells migrate from thymus to the periphery in alternating waves. *J. Exp. Med.* 186:977–88.
- Van Dyken, S.J., J.C. Nussbaum, J. Lee, A.B. Molofsky, H.-E. Liang, J.L. Pollack, R.E. Gate, G.E. Haliburton, C.J. Ye, A. Marson, D.J. Erle, and R.M. Locksley. 2016. A tissue checkpoint regulates type 2 immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:1381–1387. doi:10.1038/ni.3582.
- Eberl, G. 2005. Inducible lymphoid tissues in the adult gut: recapitulation of a fetal developmental pathway? *Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2005 55*. 5:413. doi:10.1038/nri1600.
- Eberl, G., M. Colonna, J.P. Di Santo, and A.N.J. McKenzie. 2015. Innate lymphoid cells: A new paradigm in immunology. *Science (80-. ).* 348:aaa6566-aaa6566. doi:10.1126/science.aaa6566.
- Eberl, G., S. Marmon, M.-J. Sunshine, P.D. Rennert, Y. Choi, and D.R. Littman. 2004. An essential function for the nuclear receptor RORγt in the generation of fetal lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 5:64–73. doi:10.1038/ni1022.
- Ebihara, T., C. Song, S.H. Ryu, B. Plougastel-Douglas, L. Yang, D. Levanon, Y. Groner, M.D.
  Bern, T.S. Stappenbeck, M. Colonna, T. Egawa, and W.M. Yokoyama. 2015. Runx3
  specifies lineage commitment of innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:1124–1133.
  doi:10.1038/ni.3272.
- Egawa, T., G. Eberl, I. Taniuchi, K. Benlagha, F. Geissmann, L. Hennighausen, A. Bendelac, and D.R. Littman. 2005. Genetic Evidence Supporting Selection of the Vα14i NKT Cell Lineage from Double-Positive Thymocyte Precursors. *Immunity*. 22:705–716.

doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2005.03.011.

- Egawa, T., and D.R. Littman. 2008. ThPOK acts late in specification of the helper T cell lineage and suppresses Runx-mediated commitment to the cytotoxic T cell lineage. *Nat. Immunol.* 9:1131–1139. doi:10.1038/ni.1652.
- Egawa, T., R.E. Tillman, Y. Naoe, I. Taniuchi, and D.R. Littman. 2007. The role of the Runx transcription factors in thymocyte differentiation and in homeostasis of naive T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 204:1945–1957. doi:10.1084/jem.20070133.
- Emgård, J., H. Kammoun, B. García-Cassani, J. Chesné, S.M. Parigi, J.-M. Jacob, H.-W. Cheng,
  E. Evren, S. Das, P. Czarnewski, N. Sleiers, F. Melo-Gonzalez, E. Kvedaraite, M.
  Svensson, E. Scandella, M.R. Hepworth, S. Huber, B. Ludewig, L. Peduto, E.J. Villablanca,
  H. Veiga-Fernandes, J.P. Pereira, R.A. Flavell, and T. Willinger. 2018. Oxysterol Sensing
  through the Receptor GPR183 Promotes the Lymphoid-Tissue-Inducing Function of Innate
  Lymphoid Cells and Colonic Inflammation. *Immunity*. 48:120–132.e8.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.11.020.
- Fang, D., K. Cui, G. Hu, R.K. Gurram, C. Zhong, A.J. Oler, R. Yagi, M. Zhao, S. Sharma, P. Liu, B. Sun, K. Zhao, and J. Zhu. 2018. Bcl11b, a novel GATA3-interacting protein, suppresses Th1 while limiting Th2 cell differentiation. *J. Exp. Med.* 215:1449–1462. doi:10.1084/jem.20171127.
- Fathman, J.W., D. Bhattacharya, M.A. Inlay, J. Seita, H. Karsunky, and I.L. Weissman. 2011. Identification of the earliest natural killer cell-committed progenitor in murine bone marrow. *Blood.* 118:5439–47. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-04-348912.
- Flach, M., and A. Diefenbach. 2015. Adipose tissue: ILC2 crank up the heat. *Cell Metab*. 21:152–153. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.01.015.

- Fuchs, A., W. Vermi, J.S. Lee, S. Lonardi, S. Gilfillan, R.D. Newberry, M. Cella, and M.
  Colonna. 2013. Intraepithelial Type 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells Are a Unique Subset of IL12- and IL-15-Responsive IFN-γ-Producing Cells. *Immunity*. 38:769–781.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.010.
- Gandhapudi, S.K., C. Tan, J.H. Marino, A.A. Taylor, C.C. Pack, J. Gaikwad, C.J. Van De Wiele, J.D. Wren, and T.K. Teague. 2015. IL-18 Acts in Synergy with IL-7 To Promote Ex Vivo Expansion of T Lymphoid Progenitor Cells. *J. Immunol.* 194:3820–3828. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301542.
- García-Ojeda, M.E., R.G.J.K. Wolterink, F. Lemaître, O.R.-L. Goff, M. Hasan, R.W. Hendriks,
  A. Cumano, and J.P. Di Santo. 2013. GATA-3 promotes T-cell specification by repressing
  B-cell potential in pro–T cells in mice. *Blood*. 121:1749–1759. doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2012-06-440065.
- Garner, L.C., P. Klenerman, and N.M. Provine. 2018. insights into Mucosal-Associated invariant T Cell Biology From Studies of invariant Natural Killer T Cells. *Front. Immunol.* 9. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01478.
- Gascoyne, D.M., E. Long, H. Veiga-Fernandes, J. de Boer, O. Williams, B. Seddon, M. Coles,
  D. Kioussis, and H.J.M. Brady. 2009. The basic leucine zipper transcription factor E4BP4 is essential for natural killer cell development. *Nat. Immunol.* 10:1118–1124.
  doi:10.1038/ni.1787.
- Gasteiger, G., X. Fan, S. Dikiy, S.Y. Lee, and A.Y. Rudensky. 2015. Tissue residency of innate lymphoid cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid organs. *Science (80-. ).* 350.
- Geering, B., C. Stoeckle, S. Conus, and H.-U. Simon. 2013. Living and dying for inflammation: neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils. *Trends Immunol.* 34:398–409.

doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.04.002.

- Geiger, T.L., M.C. Abt, G. Gasteiger, M.A. Firth, M.H. O'Connor, C.D. Geary, T.E. O'Sullivan, M.R. van den Brink, E.G. Pamer, A.M. Hanash, and J.C. Sun. 2014. Nfil3 is crucial for development of innate lymphoid cells and host protection against intestinal pathogens. *J. Exp. Med.* 211:1723–1731. doi:10.1084/jem.20140212.
- Geiger, T.L., and J.C. Sun. 2016. Development and maturation of natural killer cells. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 39:82–89. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2016.01.007.
- Germar, K., M. Dose, T. Konstantinou, J. Zhang, H. Wang, C. Lobry, K.L. Arnett, S.C. Blacklow, I. Aifantis, J.C. Aster, and F. Gounari. 2011. T-cell factor 1 is a gatekeeper for Tcell specification in response to Notch signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 108:20060–20065. doi:10.1073/pnas.1110230108.
- Ghaedi, M. 2015. COMMON LYMPHOID PROGENITOR-INDEPENDENT PATHWAYS OF INNATE AND T LYMPHOCYTE DEVELOPMENT.
- Ghaedi, M., C.A. Steer, I. Martinez-Gonzalez, T.Y.F. Halim, N. Abraham, and F. Takei. 2016.
  Common-Lymphoid-Progenitor-Independent Pathways of Innate and T Lymphocyte
  Development. *Cell Rep.* 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.03.039.
- Ginhoux, F., and M. Guilliams. 2016. Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis Florent. *Immunity*. 44:439–449. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.024.
- Gleimer, M., H. von Boehmer, and T. Kreslavsky. 2012. PLZF controls the expression of a limited number of genes essential for NKT cell function. *Front. Immunol.* 3:1–13. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00374.
- Godfrey, D.I., A.P. Uldrich, J. McCluskey, J. Rossjohn, and D.B. Moody. 2015. The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:1114–1123. doi:10.1038/ni.3298.

- Gordon, S.M., J. Chaix, L.J. Rupp, J. Wu, S. Madera, J.C. Sun, T. Lindsten, and S.L. Reiner.
  2012. The Transcription Factors T-bet and Eomes Control Key Checkpoints of Natural
  Killer Cell Maturation. *Immunity*. 36:55–67. doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2011.11.016.
- Gronke, K., and A. Diefenbach. 2015. Regenerative biology: Innate immunity repairs gut lining. *Nature*. doi:10.1038/nature16325.
- Gronke, K., and A. Diefenbach. 2016. Tuft cell-derived IL-25 activates and maintains ILC2. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 94:221–223. doi:10.1038/icb.2016.10.
- Gronke, K., M. Kofoed-Nielsen, and A. Diefenbach. 2016. Innate lymphoid cells, precursors and plasticity. *Immunol. Lett.* 179:9–18. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2016.07.004.
- Guo, Y., I. Maillard, S. Chakraborti, E. V Rothenberg, and N.A. Speck. 2008. Core binding factors are necessary for natural killer cell development and cooperate with Notch signaling during T-cell specification. *Blood*. 112:480–92. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-10-120261.
- Gury-BenAri, M., C.A.A. Thaiss, N. Serafini, D.R.R. Winter, A. Giladi, D. Lara-Astiaso, M. Levy, T.M.M. Salame, A. Weiner, E. David, H. Shapiro, M. Dori-Bachash, M. Pevsner-Fischer, E. Lorenzo-Vivas, H. Keren-Shaul, F. Paul, A. Harmelin, G. Eberl, S. Itzkovitz, A. Tanay, J.P. Di Santo, E. Elinav, I. Amit, J.P. Di Santo, E. Elinav, I. Amit, J.P. Di Santo, E. Elinav, I. Amit, J.P. Di Santo, E. Elinav, and I. Amit. 2016. The Spectrum and Regulatory Landscape of Intestinal Innate Lymphoid Cells Are Shaped by the Microbiome. *Cell*. 166:1231–1246.e13. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.043.
- Halim, T.Y.F., Y.Y. Hwang, S.T. Scanlon, H. Zaghouani, N. Garbi, P.G. Fallon, and A.N.J.
  Mckenzie. 2016. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells license dendritic cells to potentiate memory TH2 cell responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:57–64. doi:10.1038/ni.3294.

Halim, T.Y.F., R.H. Krauss, A.C. Sun, and F. Takei. 2012a. Lung natural helper cells are a

critical source of Th2 cell-type cytokines in protease allergen-induced airway inflammation. *Immunity*. 36:451–63. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.020.

- Halim, T.Y.F., A. MacLaren, M.T. Romanish, M.J. Gold, K.M. McNagny, and F. Takei. 2012b.
  Retinoic-acid-receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor alpha is required for natural helper cell development and allergic inflammation. *Immunity*. 37:463–74.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.012.
- Halim, T.Y.F., B.M.J. Rana, J.A. Walker, B. Kerscher, M.D. Knolle, H.E. Jolin, E.M. Serrao, L. Haim-Vilmovsky, S.A. Teichmann, H.R. Rodewald, M. Botto, T.J. Vyse, P.G. Fallon, Z. Li, D.R. Withers, and A.N.J. McKenzie. 2018. Tissue-Restricted Adaptive Type 2 Immunity Is Orchestrated by Expression of the Costimulatory Molecule OX40L on Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity*. 1195–1207. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.05.003.
- Halim, T.Y.F., C. a Steer, L. Mathä, M.J. Gold, I. Martinez-Gonzalez, K.M. McNagny, A.N.J.
  McKenzie, and F. Takei. 2014. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. *Immunity*. 40:425–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.011.
- Hams, E., M.E. Armstrong, J.L. Barlow, S.P. Saunders, C. Schwartz, G. Cooke, R.J. Fahy, T.B.
  Crotty, N. Hirani, R.J. Flynn, D. Voehringer, A.N.J. McKenzie, S.C. Donnelly, and P.G.
  Fallon. 2014. IL-25 and type 2 innate lymphoid cells induce pulmonary fibrosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 111:367–372. doi:10.1073/pnas.1315854111.
- Harly, C., and A. Bhandoola. 2017. A doppelgänger of T cell development. 4101:0–2. doi:10.1080/15384101.2015.1125244.
- Harly, C., M. Cam, J. Kaye, and A. Bhandoola. 2017. Development and differentiation of early innate lymphoid progenitors. *J. Exp. Med.* jem.20170832. doi:10.1084/jem.20170832.

- Harris, E.N., S. V. Kyosseva, J.A. Weigel, and P.H. Weigel. 2007. Expression, processing, and glycosaminoglycan binding activity of the recombinant human 315-kDa Hyaluronic Acid Receptor for Endocytosis (HARE). *J. Biol. Chem.* 282:2785–2797.
  doi:10.1074/jbc.M607787200.
- Harris, E.N., and P.H. Weigel. 2008. The ligand-binding profile of HARE: Hyaluronan and chondroitin sulfates A, C, and D bind to overlapping sites distinct from the sites for heparin, acetylated low-density lipoprotein, dermatan sulfate, and CS-E. *Glycobiology*. 18:638–648. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwn045.
- Hayakawa, Y., and M.J. Smyth. 2006. CD27 Dissects Mature NK Cells into Two Subsets with Distinct Responsiveness and Migratory Capacity. J. Immunol. 176:1517–1524. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1517.
- Held, W., H. Clevers, and R. Grosschedl. 2003. Redundant functions of TCF-1 and LEF-1 during T and NK cell development, but unique role of TCF-1 for Ly49 NK cell receptor acquisition. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33:1393–1398. doi:10.1002/eji.200323840.
- Held, W., B. Kunz, B. Lowin-Kropf, M. van de Wetering, and H. Clevers. 1999. Clonal acquisition of the Ly49A NK cell receptor is dependent on the trans-acting factor TCF-1. *Immunity*. 11:433–42.
- Henderson, A.J., S. McDougall, J. Leiden, and K.L. Calame. 1994. GATA elements are necessary for the activity and tissue specificity of the T-cell receptor beta-chain transcriptional enhancer. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:4286–94.
- Hepworth, M.R., T.C. Fung, S.H. Masur, J.R. Kelsen, F.M. McConnell, J. Dubrot, D.R. Withers,S. Hugues, M.A. Farrar, W. Reith, G. Eberl, R.N. Baldassano, T.M. Laufer, C.O. Elson, andG.F. Sonnenberg. 2015. Immune tolerance. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells mediate

intestinal selection of commensal bacteria-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. *Science*. 348:1031–5. doi:10.1126/science.aaa4812.

- Hepworth, M.R., L.A. Monticelli, T.C. Fung, C.G.K. Ziegler, S. Grunberg, R. Sinha, A.R.
  Mantegazza, H.-L. Ma, A. Crawford, J.M. Angelosanto, E.J. Wherry, P.A. Koni, F.D.
  Bushman, C.O. Elson, G. Eberl, D. Artis, and G.F. Sonnenberg. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells
  regulate CD4 1 T-cell responses to intestinal commensal bacteria. *Nature*. 498.
  doi:10.1038/nature12240.
- Hernández-Hoyos, G., M.K. Anderson, C. Wang, E. V Rothenberg, and J. Alberola-Ila. 2003. GATA-3 expression is controlled by TCR signals and regulates CD4/CD8 differentiation. *Immunity*. 19:83–94.
- Hernández, P.P., T. Mahlakõiv, I. Yang, V. Schwierzeck, N. Nguyen, F. Guendel, K. Gronke, B. Ryffel, C. Hölscher, L. Dumoutier, J.C. Renauld, S. Suerbaum, P. Staeheli, and A. Diefenbach. 2015. Interferon-γ and interleukin 22 act synergistically for the induction of interferon-stimulated genes and control of rotavirus infection. *Nat. Immunol.* doi:10.1038/ni.3180.
- Hosoya, T., T. Kuroha, T. Moriguchi, D. Cummings, I. Maillard, K.-C. Lim, and J.D. Engel.
  2009. GATA-3 is required for early T lineage progenitor development. *J. Exp. Med.*206:2987–3000. doi:10.1084/jem.20090934.
- Howitt, M.R., S. Lavoie, M. Michaud, A.M. Blum, S. V Tran, J. V Weinstock, C.A. Gallini, K. Redding, R.F. Margolskee, L.C. Osborne, D. Artis, and W.S. Garrett. 2016. Tuft cells, tastechemosensory cells, orchestrate parasite type 2 immunity in the gut. *Science*. 351:1329–33. doi:10.1126/science.aaf1648.

Hoyler, T., C.S.N.N. Klose, A. Souabni, A. Turqueti-Neves, D. Pfeifer, E.L. Rawlins, D.

Voehringer, M. Busslinger, and A. Diefenbach. 2012. The transcription factor GATA-3 controls cell fate and maintenance of type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity*. 37:634–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.020.

- Huang, Y., L. Guo, J. Qiu, X. Chen, J. Hu-Li, U. Siebenlist, P.R. Williamson, J.F. Urban, and W.E. Paul. 2014. IL-25-responsive, lineage-negative KLRG1hi cells are multipotential 'inflammatory' type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:161–169. doi:10.1038/ni.3078.
- Huang, Y., L. Guo, J. Qiu, X. Chen, J. Hu-Li, U. Siebenlist, P.R. Williamson, J.F. Urban, and W.E. Paul. 2015. IL-25-responsive, lineage-negative KLRG1 hi cells are multipotential "inflammatory" type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:161–169. doi:10.1038/ni.3078.
- Huang, Y., K. Mao, X. Chen, M. Sun, T. Kawabe, W. Li, N. Usher, J. Zhu, J.F. Urban, W.E. Paul, and R.N. Germain. 2018a. S1P-dependent interorgan trafficking of group 2 innate SD. *Science* (80-. ). 359:114–119. doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.AAM5809.
- Huang, Y., K. Mao, X. Chen, M.A. Sun, T. Kawabe, W. Li, N. Usher, J. Zhu, J.F. Urban, W.E.
  Paul, and R.N. Germain. 2018b. S1P-dependent interorgan trafficking of group 2 innate
  lymphoid cells supports host defense. *Science (80-. )*. 359:114–119.
  doi:10.1126/science.aam5809.
- Ibiza, S., B. García-Cassani, H. Ribeiro, T. Carvalho, L. Almeida, R. Marques, A.M. Misic, C. Bartow-Mckenney, D.M. Larson, W.J. Pavan, G. Eberl, E.A. Grice, and H. Veiga-Fernandes. 2016. Glial-cell-derived neuroregulators control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and gut defence. *Nature*. 535:440–443. doi:10.1038/nature18644.

Inlay, M.A., D. Bhattacharya, D. Sahoo, T. Serwold, J. Seita, H. Karsunky, S.K. Plevritis, D.L.

Dill, and I.L. Weissman. 2009. Ly6d marks the earliest stage of B-cell specification and identifies the branchpoint between B-cell and T-cell development. 2376–2381. doi:10.1101/gad.1836009.ing.

- Ishizuka, I.E., S. Chea, H. Gudjonson, M.G. Constantinides, A.R. Dinner, A. Bendelac, and R. Golub. 2016. Single-cell analysis defines the divergence between the innate lymphoid cell lineage and lymphoid tissue inducer cell lineage. *Nat. Immunol.* 1–9. doi:10.1038/ni.3344.
- Jaradat, M., C. Stapleton, S.L. Tilley, D. Dixon, C.J. Erikson, J.G. McCaskill, H.S. Kang, M. Angers, G. Liao, J. Collins, S. Grissom, and A.M. Jetten. 2006. Modulatory role for retinoid-related orphan receptor alpha in allergen-induced lung inflammation. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 174:1299–309. doi:10.1164/rccm.200510-1672OC.
- Jetten. 2007. Retinoid-related orphan receptors (RORs): critical roles in development, immunity, circadian rhythm, and cellular metabolism. *Nucl. Recept. Signal.* 4. doi:10.1621/nrs.07003.
- Jetten, A.M. 2009. Retinoid-related orphan receptors (RORs): critical roles in development, immunity, circadian rhythm, and cellular metabolism. 7. doi:10.1621/nrs.07003.
- Kaech, S.M., and E.J. Wherry. 2007. Heterogeneity and Cell-Fate Decisions in Effector and Memory CD8+ T Cell Differentiation during Viral Infection. *Immunity*. 27:393–405. doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2007.08.007.
- Kamimura, Y., and L.L. Lanier. 2015. Homeostatic Control of Memory Cell Progenitors in the Natural Killer Cell Lineage. *Cell Rep.* 10:280–291. doi:10.1016/J.CELREP.2014.12.025.
- Kamizono, S., G.S. Duncan, M.G. Seidel, A. Morimoto, K. Hamada, G. Grosveld, K. Akashi,
  E.F. Lind, J.P. Haight, P.S. Ohashi, A.T. Look, and T.W. Mak. 2009. Nfil3/E4bp4 is
  required for the development and maturation of NK cells in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* 206:2977– 86. doi:10.1084/jem.20092176.

- Karo, J.M., D.G. Schatz, J.C. Sun, F. Masson, T. Putoczki, and T. Gabrielle. 2014. The RAG Recombinase Dictates Functional Heterogeneity and Cellular Fitness in Natural Killer Cells. *Cell*. 159:94–107. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.026.
- Karsunky, H., M.A. Inlay, T. Serwold, D. Bhattacharya, and I.L. Weissman. 2008. Flk2 2 common lymphoid progenitors possess equivalent differentiation potential for the B and T lineages. *Blood.* 111:5562–5570. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-11-126219.The.
- Kee, B.L. 2009. E and ID proteins branch out. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9:175–84. doi:10.1038/nri2507.
- Kim, S., K. Iizuka, H.-S.P. Kang, A. Dokun, A.R. French, S. Greco, and W.M. Yokoyama. 2002.
  In vivo developmental stages in murine natural killer cell maturation. *Nat. Immunol.* 3:523–528. doi:10.1038/ni796.
- Kiss, E.A., and A. Diefenbach. 2012. Role of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Controlling Maintenance and Functional Programs of RORyt+ Innate Lymphoid Cells and Intraepithelial Lymphocytes. *Front. Immunol.* 3:124. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00124.
- Kiss, E.A., C. Vonarbourg, S. Kopfmann, E. Hobeika, D. Finke, C. Esser, and A. Diefenbach.
  2011. Natural aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands control organogenesis of intestinal
  lymphoid follicles. *Science*. 334:1561–5. doi:10.1126/science.1214914.
- Kitoh, A., M. Ono, Y. Naoe, N. Ohkura, T. Yamaguchi, H. Yaguchi, I. Kitabayashi, T. Tsukada, T. Nomura, Y. Miyachi, I. Taniuchi, and S. Sakaguchi. 2009. Indispensable Role of the Runx1-Cbfβ Transcription Complex for In Vivo-Suppressive Function of FoxP3+ Regulatory T Cells. *Immunity*. 31:609–620. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.003.
- de Kleer, I.M., M. Kool, M.J.W. de Bruijn, M. Willart, J. van Moorleghem, M.J. Schuijs, M. Plantinga, R. Beyaert, E. Hams, P.G. Fallon, H. Hammad, R.W. Hendriks, and B.N.

Lambrecht. 2016. Perinatal Activation of the Interleukin-33 Pathway Promotes Type 2 Immunity in the Developing Lung. *Immunity*. 45:1285–1298. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.031.

- Klein, L., B. Kyewski, P.M. Allen, and K.A. Hogquist. 2014. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14:377–391. doi:10.1038/nri3667.
- Klose, C.S.N., and D. Artis. 2016. Innate lymphoid cells as regulators of immunity, inflammation and tissue homeostasis. 17:765–774. doi:10.1038/ni.3489.
- Klose, C.S.N., M. Flach, L. Möhle, L. Rogell, T. Hoyler, K. Ebert, C. Fabiunke, D. Pfeifer, V. Sexl, D. Fonseca-Pereira, R.G. Domingues, H. Veiga-Fernandes, S.J. Arnold, M. Busslinger, I.R. Dunay, Y. Tanriver, and A. Diefenbach. 2014. Differentiation of type 1 ILCs from a common progenitor to all helper-like innate lymphoid cell lineages. *Cell*. 157:340–56. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.030.
- Klose, C.S.N., E.A. Kiss, V. Schwierzeck, K. Ebert, T. Hoyler, Y. d'Hargues, N. Göppert, A.L. Croxford, A. Waisman, Y. Tanriver, and A. Diefenbach. 2013. A T-bet gradient controls the fate and function of CCR6–RORγt+ innate lymphoid cells. *Nature*. 494:261–265. doi:10.1038/nature11813.
- Klose, C.S.N.N., T. Mahlakõiv, J.B. Moeller, L.C. Rankin, A.-L.L. Flamar, H. Kabata, L.A.
  Monticelli, S. Moriyama, G.G. Putzel, N. Rakhilin, X. Shen, E. Kostenis, G.M. König, T.
  Senda, D. Carpenter, D.L. Farber, and D. Artis. 2017. The neuropeptide neuromedin U
  stimulates innate lymphoid cells and type 2 inflammation. *Nature*. 549:282–286.
  doi:10.1038/nature23676.

Koch, U., and F. Radtke. 2011. Mechanisms of T Cell Development and Transformation. Annu.

Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 27:539–562. doi:10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154008.

- Koga, S., K. Hozumi, K. Hirano, M. Yazawa, T. Terooatea, A. Minoda, T. Nagasawa, S. Koyasu, and K. Moro. 2018. Peripheral PDGFRα <sup>+</sup> gp38 <sup>+</sup> mesenchymal cells support the differentiation of fetal liver–derived ILC2. *J. Exp. Med.* 215:1609–1626. doi:10.1084/jem.20172310.
- Kohu, K., H. Ohmori, W.F. Wong, D. Onda, T. Wakoh, S. Kon, M. Yamashita, T. Nakayama,
  M. Kubo, and M. Satake. 2009. The Runx3 Transcription Factor Augments Th1 and DownModulates Th2 Phenotypes by Interacting with and Attenuating GATA3. *J. Immunol.*183:7817–7824. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802527.
- Kondo, M. 2010. Lymphoid and myeloid lineage commitment in multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. *Immunol. Rev.* 238:37–46. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00963.x.
- Kondo, M., I.L. Weissman, and K. Akashi. 1997. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell*. 91:661–72.
- Koues, O.I., P.L. Collins, M. Cella, M.L. Robinette, S.I. Porter, S.C. Pyfrom, J.E. Payton, M. Colonna, and E.M. Oltz. 2016. Distinct Gene Regulatory Pathways for Human Innate versus Adaptive Lymphoid Cells. *Cell*. 165:1134–1146. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.014.
- Kovalovsky, D., O.U. Uche, S. Eladad, R.M. Hobbs, W. Yi, E. Alonzo, K. Chua, M. Eidson, H.-J. Kim, J.S. Im, P.P. Pandolfi, and D.B. Sant'Angelo. 2008. The BTB-zinc finger transcriptional regulator PLZF controls the development of invariant natural killer T cell effector functions. *Nat. Immunol.* 9:1055–64. doi:10.1038/ni.1641.
- Koyasu, S., R.M. Locksley, A.N.J. Mckenzie, R.E. Mebius, and F. Powrie. 2018. Review Innate Lymphoid Cells : 10 Years On. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.017.

Kreslavsky, T., M. Gleimer, A.I. Garbe, and H. von Boehmer. 2010. αβ versus γδ fate choice:
counting the T-cell lineages at the branch point. *Immunol. Rev.* 238:169–81. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00947.x.

- Krueger, A., N. Ziętara, and M. Łyszkiewicz. 2017. T Cell Development by the Numbers. *Trends Immunol.* 38:128–139. doi:10.1016/j.it.2016.10.007.
- Kruglov, A.A., S.I. Grivennikov, D. V Kuprash, C. Winsauer, S. Prepens, G.M. Seleznik, G.
  Eberl, D.R. Littman, M. Heikenwalder, A. V Tumanov, and S.A. Nedospasov.
  Nonredundant Function of Soluble LTa 3 Produced by Innate Lymphoid Cells in Intestinal Homeostasis.
- Lacorazza, H.D., Y. Miyazaki, A. Di Cristofano, A. Deblasio, C. Hedvat, J. Zhang, C. Cordon-Cardo, S. Mao, P.P. Pandolfi, and S.D. Nimer. 2002. The ETS Protein MEF Plays a Critical Role in Perforin Gene Expression and the Development of Natural Killer and NK-T Cells. *Immunity*. 17:437–449. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00422-3.
- Lauritsen, J.P.H., M.C. Haks, J.M. Lefebvre, D.J. Kappes, and D.L. Wiest. 2006. Recent insights into the signals that control ??/??-lineage fate. *Immunol. Rev.* 209:176–190. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00349.x.
- Lee, J.S., M. Cella, K.G. McDonald, C. Garlanda, G.D. Kennedy, M. Nukaya, A. Mantovani, R. Kopan, C.A. Bradfield, R.D. Newberry, and M. Colonna. 2012. AHR drives the development of gut ILC22 cells and postnatal lymphoid tissues via pathways dependent on and independent of Notch. *Nat. Immunol.* 13:144–152. doi:10.1038/ni.2187.
- Lee, M.-W., J.I. Odegaard, L. Mukundan, Y. Qiu, A.B. Molofsky, J.C. Nussbaum, K. Yun, R.M. Locksley, and A. Chawla. 2015. Activated Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Regulate Beige Fat Biogenesis. *Cell*. 160:74–87. doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2014.12.011.

Levanon, D., V. Negreanu, J. Lotem, K.R. Bone, O. Brenner, D. Leshkowitz, and Y. Groner.

2014. Transcription Factor Runx3 Regulates Interleukin-15-Dependent Natural Killer Cell Activation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 34:1158–1169. doi:10.1128/MCB.01202-13.

- Li, L., M. Leid, and E. V Rothenberg. 2010a. An Early T Cell Lineage Commitment Checkpoint Dependent on the Transcription Factor Bcl11b. *Science (80-. ).* 329:89–93. doi:10.1126/science.1188989.
- Li, P., S. Burke, J. Wang, X. Chen, M. Ortiz, S.C. Lee, D. Lu, L. Campos, D. Goulding, B.L. Ng, G. Dougan, B. Huntly, B. Gottgens, N.A. Jenkins, N.G. Copeland, F. Colucci, and P. Liu. 2010b. Reprogramming of T cells to natural killer-like cells upon Bcl11b deletion. *Science* (80-.). doi:10.1126/science.1188063.
- Li, S., J.W. Bostick, J. Ye, J. Qiu, B. Zhang, J.F. Urban, D. Avram, and L. Zhou. 2018. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Signaling Cell Intrinsically Inhibits Intestinal Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Function. *Immunity*. 49:915–928. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.09.015.
- Liang, H.-E., R.L. Reinhardt, J.K. Bando, B.M. Sullivan, I.-C. Ho, and R.M. Locksley. 2012. Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 13:58–66. doi:10.1038/ni.2182.
- Lim, A.I., Y. Li, S. Lopez-lastra, I. Amit, H. Yssel, J.P. Di Santo, A.I. Lim, Y. Li, S. Lopezlastra, R. Stadhouders, F. Paul, and A. Casrouge. 2017a. Systemic Human ILC Precursors Provide a Substrate for Tissue ILC Differentiation Systemic Human ILC Precursors Provide a Substrate for Tissue ILC Differentiation. *Cell*. 168:1086–1100.e10. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.021.
- Lim, A.I., Y. Li, S. Lopez-Lastra, R. Stadhouders, F. Paul, A. Casrouge, N. Serafini, A. Puel, J.Bustamante, L. Surace, G. Masse-Ranson, E. David, H. Strick-Marchand, L. Le Bourhis, R.Cocchi, D. Topazio, P. Graziano, L.A. Muscarella, L. Rogge, X. Norel, J.M. Sallenave, M.

Allez, T. Graf, R.W. Hendriks, J.L. Casanova, I. Amit, H. Yssel, and J.P. Di Santo. 2017b.
Systemic Human ILC Precursors Provide a Substrate for Tissue ILC Differentiation. *Cell*.
168:1086–1100.e10. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.021.

- Lim, A.I., S. Menegatti, J. Bustamante, L. Le Bourhis, M. Allez, L. Rogge, J.-L. Casanova, H. Yssel, and J.P. Di Santo. 2016. IL-12 drives functional plasticity of human group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 213:569–583. doi:10.1084/jem.20151750.
- Lim, A.I., J.P. Di Santo, A.I. Lim, and J.P. Di Santo. 2018. ILC-poiesis : Ensuring tissue ILC differentiation at the right place and time. 1:1–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201747294.
- Lindemans, C.A., M. Calafiore, A.M. Mertelsmann, M.H. O, J.A. Dudakov, R.R. Jenq, E.
  Velardi, L.F. Young, O.M. Smith, G. Lawrence, J.A. Ivanov, Y.-Y. Fu, S. Takashima, G.
  Hua, M.L. Martin, K.P. O, Y.-H. Lo, M. Mokry, M. Romera-Hernandez, T. Cupedo, L.E.
  Dow, E.E. Nieuwenhuis, N.F. Shroyer, C. Liu, R. Kolesnick, M.R. M van den Brink, and
  A.M. Hanash. 2015. Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal-stem-cell-mediated epithelial
  regeneration. *Nature*. 528. doi:10.1038/nature16460.
- Liu, P., P. Li, and S. Burke. 2010. Critical roles of Bcl11b in T-cell development and maintenance of T-cell identity. *Immunol. Rev.* 238:138–149. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00953.x.
- Lo, B.C., M.J. Gold, M.R. Hughes, F. Antignano, Y. Valdez, C. Zaph, K.W. Harder, and K.M. McNagny. 2016. The orphan nuclear receptor RORα and group 3 innate lymphoid cells drive fibrosis in a mouse model of Crohn's disease. *Sci. Immunol.* 1:eaaf8864-eaaf8864. doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.aaf8864.
- Luci, C., A. Reynders, I.I. Ivanov, C. Cognet, L. Chiche, L. Chasson, J. Hardwigsen, E. Anguiano, J. Banchereau, D. Chaussabel, M. Dalod, D.R. Littman, E. Vivier, and E.

Tomasello. 2009. Influence of the transcription factor RORγt on the development of NKp46+ cell populations in gut and skin. *Nat. Immunol.* 10:75–82. doi:10.1038/ni.1681.

- Maazi, H., N. Patel, I. Sankaranarayanan, Y. Suzuki, D. Rigas, P. Soroosh, G.J.J. Freeman,
  A.H.H. Sharpe, and O. Akbari. 2015. ICOS: ICOS-Ligand Interaction Is Required for Type
  2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Function, Homeostasis, and Induction of Airway Hyperreactivity. *Immunity*. 42:538–551. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.02.007.
- Mackay, L.K., M. Minnich, N.A.M. Kragten, Y. Liao, D. Freestone, A. Braun, E. Wynne-jones,F.M. Behr, and R. Stark. 2016. Hobit and Blimp1 instruct a universal transcriptionalprogram of tissue residency in lymphocytes. 352:459–464.
- Magri, G., and A. Cerutti. 2015. Role of group 3 innate lymphoid cells in antibody production. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 33:36–42. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2015.01.008.
- Magri, G., M. Miyajima, S. Bascones, A. Mortha, I. Puga, L. Cassis, C.M. Barra, L. Comerma,
  A. Chudnovskiy, M. Gentile, D. Llige, M. Cols, S. Serrano, J.I. Aróstegui, M. Juan, J.
  Yagüe, M. Merad, S. Fagarasan, and A. Cerutti. 2014. Innate lymphoid cells integrate
  stromal and immunological signals to enhance antibody production by splenic marginal
  zone B cells. *Nat. Immunol.* doi:10.1038/ni.2830.
- Male, V., I. Nisoli, T. Kostrzewski, D.S.J. Allan, J.R. Carlyle, G.M. Lord, A. Wack, and H.J.M. Brady. 2014. The transcription factor E4bp4/Nfil3 controls commitment to the NK lineage and directly regulates Eomes and Id2 expression. *J. Exp. Med.* 211:635–642. doi:10.1084/JEM.20132398.
- Marçais, A., J. Cherfils-Vicini, C. Viant, S. Degouve, S. Viel, A. Fenis, J. Rabilloud, K. Mayol,A. Tavares, J. Bienvenu, Y.-G. Gangloff, E. Gilson, E. Vivier, and T. Walzer. 2014. Themetabolic checkpoint kinase mTOR is essential for IL-15 signaling during the development

and activation of NK cells. Nat. Immunol. 15:749-757. doi:10.1038/ni.2936.

- Maric, J., A. Ravindran, L. Mazzurana, Å.K. Björklund, A. Van Acker, A. Rao, D. Friberg, S.E. Dahlén, A. Heinemann, V. Konya, and J. Mjösberg. 2018. Prostaglandin E2suppresses human group 2 innate lymphoid cell function. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 141:1761–1773.e6. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2017.09.050.
- Martinez-Gonzalez, I., M. Ghaedi, C.A. Steer, L. Mathä, E. Vivier, and F. Takei. 2018. ILC2 memory: Recollection of previous activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 283:41–53. doi:10.1111/imr.12643.
- Martinez-Gonzalez, I., L. Mathä, C.A. Steer, M. Ghaedi, G.F.T. Poon, and F. Takei. 2016. Allergen-Experienced Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Acquire Memory-like Properties and Enhance Allergic Lung Inflammation. *Immunity*. 45:198–208. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.017.
- Martinez-Gonzalez, I., C.A. Steer, and F. Takei. 2015. Lung ILC2s link innate and adaptive responses in allergic inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* 36:189–195. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.01.005.
- Matmati, M., P. Jacques, J. Maelfait, E. Verheugen, M. Kool, M. Sze, L. Geboes, E. Louagie,
  C.M. Guire, L. Vereecke, Y. Chu, L. Boon, S. Staelens, P. Matthys, B.N. Lambrecht, M.
  Schmidt-Supprian, M. Pasparakis, D. Elewaut, R. Beyaert, and G. Van Loo. 2011. A20
  (TNFAIP3) deficiency in myeloid cells triggers erosive polyarthritis resembling rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat. Genet.* 43:908–912. doi:10.1038/ng.874.
- Mebius, R.E., P. Rennert, and I.L. Weissman. 1997. Developing Lymph Nodes Collect
   CD4+CD3- LTβ+ Cells That Can Differentiate to APC, NK Cells, and Follicular Cells but
   Not T or B Cells. *Immunity*. 7:493–504. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80371-4.

- Merad, M., P. Sathe, J. Helft, J. Miller, and A. Mortha. 2013. The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 31:563–604. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950.
- Meylan, F., E.T. Hawley, L. Barron, J.L. Barlow, P. Penumetcha, M. Pelletier, G. Sciumè, A.C. Richard, E.T. Hayes, J. Gomez-Rodriguez, X. Chen, W.E. Paul, T.A. Wynn, A.N.J. McKenzie, and R.M. Siegel. 2014. The TNF-family cytokine TL1A promotes allergic immunopathology through group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* 7:958–968. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.114.
- Mielke, L.A., J.R. Groom, L.C. Rankin, F. Masson, T. Putoczki, T. Gabrielle, L.A. Mielke, J.R. Groom, L.C. Rankin, C. Seillet, F. Masson, T. Putoczki, and G.T. Belz. 2017. TCF-1
  Controls ILC2 and NKp46 + ROR γ t + Innate Lymphocyte Differentiation and Protection in Intestinal Inflammation. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301228.
- Mildner, A., and S. Jung. 2014. Development and function of dendritic cell subsets. *Immunity*. 40:642–56. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.04.016.
- Min-Oo, G., Y. Kamimura, D.W. Hendricks, T. Nabekura, and L.L. Lanier. 2013. Natural killer cells: walking three paths down memory lane. *Trends Immunol.* 34:251–258. doi:10.1016/J.IT.2013.02.005.
- Mjösberg, J., J. Bernink, K. Golebski, J.J. Karrich, C.P. Peters, B. Blom, A.A. te Velde, W.J. Fokkens, C.M. van Drunen, and H. Spits. 2012. The transcription factor GATA3 is essential for the function of human type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity*. 37:649–59. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.08.015.

Mjösberg, J.M., S. Trifari, N.K. Crellin, C.P. Peters, C.M. Van Drunen, B. Piet, W.J. Fokkens, T.

Cupedo, and H. Spits. 2011. Human IL-25-and IL-33-responsive type 2 innate lymphoid cells are defined by expression of CRTH2 and CD161. *Nat. Immunol.* 12:1055–1062. doi:10.1038/ni.2104.

- Moffatt, M.F., I.G. Gut, F. Demenais, D.P. Strachan, E. Bouzigon, S. Heath, E. von Mutius, M. Farrall, M. Lathrop, and W.O.C.M. Cookson. 2010. A large-scale, consortium-based genomewide association study of asthma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 363:1211–21. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0906312.
- Mogensen, T.H. 2009. Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 22:240–73, Table of Contents. doi:10.1128/CMR.00046-08.
- Molofsky, A.B., F. Van Gool, H.E. Liang, S.J. Van Dyken, J.C. Nussbaum, J. Lee, J.A. Bluestone, and R.M. Locksley. 2015. InterleuKin-33 And Interferon-Γ Counter-Regulate Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Activation During Immune Perturbation. *Immunity*. 43:161– 174. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.019.
- von Moltke, J., M. Ji, H.-E. Liang, and R.M. Locksley. 2015. Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2–epithelial response circuit. *Nature*. 529:221–225. doi:10.1038/nature16161.
- von Moltke, J., C.E. O'Leary, N.A. Barrett, Y. Kanaoka, K.F. Austen, and R.M. Locksley. 2017. Leukotrienes provide an NFAT-dependent signal that synergizes with IL-33 to activate ILC2s. *J. Exp. Med.* 214:27–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20161274.
- Montaldo, E., L.G. Teixeira-alves, T. Glatzer, P. Durek, U. Stervbo, W. Hamann, L. Lozza, K. Juelke, N. Matzmohr, M. Babic, D. Paclik, K. Sto, F. Loiacono, F. Petronelli, N.D. Huntington, L. Moretta, and M.C. Mingari. 2012. Article Are Lineage-Specified
  Progenitors of Group 3 ROR g t + Innate Lymphoid Cells. 44.

doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.11.010.

- Montecino-Rodriguez, E., and K. Dorshkind. 2012. B-1 B Cell Development in the Fetus and Adult. *Immunity*. 36:13–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.017.
- Monticelli, L.A., M.D. Buck, A.L. Flamar, S.A. Saenz, E.D.T. Wojno, N.A. Yudanin, L.C.
  Osborne, M.R. Hepworth, S. V. Tran, H.R. Rodewald, H. Shah, J.R. Cross, J.M. Diamond,
  E. Cantu, J.D. Christie, E.L. Pearce, and D. Artis. 2016. Arginase 1 is an innate lymphoid-cell-intrinsic metabolic checkpoint controlling type 2 inflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:656–665. doi:10.1038/ni.3421.
- Monticelli, L.A., L.C. Osborne, M. Noti, S. V. Tran, D.M.W. Zaiss, and D. Artis. 2015. IL-33 promotes an innate immune pathway of intestinal tissue protection dependent on amphiregulin–EGFR interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 112:10762–10767. doi:10.1073/pnas.1509070112.
- Monticelli, L.A., G.F. Sonnenberg, M.C. Abt, T. Alenghat, C.G.K.K. Ziegler, T.A. Doering, J.M. Angelosanto, B.J. Laidlaw, C.Y. Yang, T. Sathaliyawala, M. Kubota, D. Turner, J.M. Diamond, A.W. Goldrath, D.L. Farber, R.G. Collman, E.J. Wherry, and D. Artis. 2011.
  Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. *Nat. Immunol.* 12:1045–1054. doi:10.1038/ni.2131.
- Moriyama, S., J.R. Brestoff, A.-L. Flamar, J.B. Moeller, C.S.N. Klose, L.C. Rankin, N.A.
  Yudanin, L.A. Monticelli, G.G. Putzel, H.-R. Rodewald, and D. Artis. 2018. B 2 Adrenergic Receptor–Mediated Negative Regulation of Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell
  Responses. 1061:1056–1061. doi:10.1126/science.aan4829.
- Moro, K., H. Kabata, M. Tanabe, S. Koga, N. Takeno, M. Mochizuki, K. Fukunaga, K. Asano,T. Betsuyaku, and S. Koyasu. 2016. Interferon and IL-27 antagonize the function of group 2

innate lymphoid cells and type 2 innate immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:76–86. doi:10.1038/ni.3309.

- Mortha, A., A. Chudnovskiy, D. Hashimoto, M. Bogunovic, S.P. Spencer, Y. Belkaid, and M. Merad. 2014. Microbiota-dependent crosstalk between macrophages and ILC3 promotes intestinal homeostasis. *Science*. 343:1249288. doi:10.1126/science.1249288.
- Nagashima, H., Y. Okuyama, T. Fujita, T. Takeda, Y. Motomura, K. Moro, T. Hidaka, K.
  Omori, T. Sakurai, T. Machiyama, L.C. Ndhlovu, C. Riccardi, T. So, and N. Ishii. 2018.
  GITR cosignal in ILC2s controls allergic lung inflammation. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*141:1939–1943.e8. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2018.01.028.
- Naoe, Y., R. Setoguchi, K. Akiyama, S. Muroi, M. Kuroda, F. Hatam, D.R. Littman, and I. Taniuchi. 2007. Repression of interleukin-4 in T helper type 1 cells by Runx/Cbfβ binding to the *Il4* silencer. *J. Exp. Med.* 204:1749–1755. doi:10.1084/jem.20062456.
- Narayan, K., K.E. Sylvia, N. Malhotra, C.C. Yin, G. Martens, T. Vallerskog, H. Kornfeld, N. Xiong, N.R. Cohen, M.B. Brenner, L.J. Berg, J. Kang, and T.I.G.P. Immunological Genome Project Consortium. 2012. Intrathymic programming of effector fates in three molecularly distinct γδ T cell subtypes. *Nat. Immunol.* 13:511–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2247.
- Nussbaum, J.C., S.J. Van Dyken, J. von Moltke, L.E. Cheng, A. Mohapatra, A.B. Molofsky, E.E. Thornton, M.F. Krummel, A. Chawla, H.-E. Liang, and R.M. Locksley. 2013. Type 2 innate lymphoid cells control eosinophil homeostasis. *Nature*. 502:245–8. doi:10.1038/nature12526.
- O'Shea, J.J., and W.E. Paul. 2010. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science*. 327:1098–102. doi:10.1126/science.1178334.

Obaldia, M.E. De, and A. Bhandoola. 2015. Transcriptional Regulation of Innate and Adaptive

Lymphocyte Lineages. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112032.

- Ohkura, N., Y. Kitagawa, and S. Sakaguchi. 2013. Development and maintenance of regulatory T cells. *Immunity*. 38:414–23. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.03.002.
- Ohne, Y., J.S. Silver, L. Thompson-Snipes, M.A. Collet, J.P. Blanck, B.L. Cantarel, A.M. Copenhaver, A.A. Humbles, and Y.-J. Liu. 2016. IL-1 is a critical regulator of group 2 innate lymphoid cell function and plasticity. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:646–655. doi:10.1038/ni.3447.
- Ohno, S., T. Sato, K. Kohu, K. Takeda, K. Okumura, M. Satake, and S. Habu. 2008. Runx proteins are involved in regulation of CD122, Ly49 family and IFN-γ expression during NK cell differentiation. *Int. Immunol.* 20:71–79. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxm120.
- Ohteki, T., A. Wilson, S. Verbeek, H.R. MacDonald, and H. Clevers. 1996. Selectively impaired development of intestinal T cell receptor γδ+ cells and liver CD4+ NK1+ T cell receptor αβ+ cells in T cell factor-1-deficient mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26:351–355. doi:10.1002/eji.1830260213.
- Orange, J.S., C.A. Biron, M.Y. Dalod, J.B. Van Deusen, X. Wei, F.Y. Liew, M.A. Caligiuri, J.E. Durbin, and C.A. Biron. 1996. Characterization of early IL-12, IFN-alphabeta, and TNF effects on antiviral state and NK cell responses during murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J. Immunol.* 156:4746–56. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4279.
- Pai, S.-Y., M.L. Truitt, and I.-C. Ho. 2004. GATA-3 deficiency abrogates the development and maintenance of T helper type 2 cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101:1993–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308697100.
- Pai, S.-Y., M.L. Truitt, C.-N. Ting, J.M. Leiden, L.H. Glimcher, and I.-C. Ho. 2003. Critical roles for transcription factor GATA-3 in thymocyte development. *Immunity*. 19:863–75.

- Van De Pavert, S.A., M. Ferreira, R.G. Domingues, H. Ribeiro, R. Molenaar, L. Moreira-Santos, F.F. Almeida, S. Ibiza, I. Barbosa, G. Goverse, C. Labão-Almeida, C. Godinho-Silva, T. Konijn, D. Schooneman, T. Oâ Toole, M.R. Mizee, Y. Habani, E. Haak, F.R. Santori, D.R. Littman, S. Schulte-Merker, E. Dzierzak, J.P. Simas, R.E. Mebius, and H. Veiga-Fernandes. 2014. Maternal retinoids control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and set the offspring immunity. *Nature*. 508:123–127. doi:10.1038/nature13158.
- Pelly, V.S., Y. Kannan, S.M. Coomes, L.J. Entwistle, D. Rückerl, B. Seddon, A.S. Macdonald, A. Mckenzie, and M.S. Wilson. 2016. IL-4-producing ILC2s are required for the differentiation of TH2 cells following Heligmosomoides polygyrus infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* 9:1407–1417. doi:10.1038/mi.2016.4.
- Pickert, G., C. Neufert, M. Leppkes, Y. Zheng, N. Wittkopf, M. Warntjen, H.-A. Lehr, S. Hirth,
  B. Weigmann, S. Wirtz, W. Ouyang, M.F. Neurath, and C. Becker. 2009. STAT3 links IL22 signaling in intestinal epithelial cells to mucosal wound healing. *J. Exp. Med.* 206:1465–72. doi:10.1084/jem.20082683.
- Possot, C., S. Schmutz, S. Chea, L. Boucontet, A. Louise, A. Cumano, and R. Golub. 2011. Notch signaling is necessary for adult, but not fetal, development of RORγ+innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 12:949–958. doi:10.1038/ni.2105.
- Post, M., A. Cuapio, M. Osl, D. Lehmann, U. Resch, D.M. Davies, M. Bilban, B. Schlechta, W. Eppel, A. Nathwani, D. Stoiber, J. Spanholtz, E. Casanova, and E. Hofer. 2017. The Transcription Factor ZnF683 / hOBiT regulates human nK-cell Development. 8. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00535.
- Pui, J.C., D. Allman, L. Xu, S. DeRocco, F.G. Karnell, S. Bakkour, J.Y. Lee, T. Kadesch, R.R.Hardy, J.C. Aster, and W.S. Pear. 1999. Notch1 Expression in Early Lymphopoiesis

Influences B versus T Lineage Determination. *Immunity*. 11:299–308. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80105-3.

- Qiu, J., J.J. Heller, X. Guo, Z.-E. Chen, K. Fish, Y.-X. Fu, and L. Zhou. 2011. Article The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Regulates Gut Immunity through Modulation of Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity*. 36:92–104. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.011.
- R core team. 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. *R Found. Stat. Comput. Vienna, Austria.* doi:http://www.R-project.org/.
- Radtke, F., N. Fasnacht, and H.R. MacDonald. 2010. Notch Signaling in the Immune System. *Immunity*. 32:14–27. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.01.004.
- Radtke, F., A. Wilson, G. Stark, M. Bauer, J. van Meerwijk, H.R. MacDonald, and M. Aguet.
  1999. Deficient T cell fate specification in mice with an induced inactivation of Notch1. *Immunity*. 10:547–58.
- Ramirez, K., K.J. Chandler, C. Spaulding, S. Zandi, M. Sigvardsson, B.J. Graves, and B.L. Kee. 2012. Gene Deregulation and Chronic Activation in Natural Killer Cells Deficient in the Transcription Factor ETS1. *Immunity*. 36:921–932. doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2012.04.006.
- Rankin, L.C., M.J.H. Girard-Madoux, C. Seillet, L.A. Mielke, Y. Kerdiles, A. Fenis, E.
  Wieduwild, T. Putoczki, S. Mondot, O. Lantz, D. Demon, A.T. Papenfuss, G.K. Smyth, M.
  Lamkanfi, S. Carotta, J.-C. Renauld, W. Shi, S. Carpentier, T. Soos, C. Arendt, S. Ugolini,
  N.D. Huntington, G.T. Belz, and E. Vivier. 2016. Complementarity and redundancy of IL22-producing innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:179–186. doi:10.1038/ni.3332.
- Rankin, L.C., J.R. Groom, M. Chopin, M.J. Herold, J.A. Walker, L.A. Mielke, A.N.J. Mckenzie,
  S. Carotta, S.L. Nutt, and G.T. Belz. 2013. The transcription factor T-bet is essential for the development of NKp46 + innate lymphocytes via the Notch pathway. *Nat. Immunol.*

14:389–395. doi:10.1038/ni.2545.

- Ranson, T., C.A.J. Vosshenrich, E. Corcuff, O. Richard, W. Müller, and J.P. Di Santo. 2003. IL-15 is an essential mediator of peripheral NK-cell homeostasis. *Blood*. 101:4887–93. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-11-3392.
- Rauber, S., M. Luber, S. Weber, L. Maul, A. Soare, T. Wohlfahrt, N.Y. Lin, K. Dletel, A. Bozec, M. Herrmann, M.H. Kaplan, B. Weigmann, M.M. Zaiss, U. Fearon, D.J. Veale, J.D. Cañete, O. DIstler, F. Rivellese, C. Pitzalis, M.F. Neurath, A.N.J. McKenzie, S. Wirtz, G. Schett, J.H.W. DIstler, and A. Ramming. 2017. Resolution of inflammation by interleukin-9-producing type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Med.* 23:938–944. doi:10.1038/nm.4373.
- Renoux, V.M., A. Zriwil, C. Peitzsch, J. Michaëlsson, D. Friberg, S. Soneji, and E. Sitnicka. 2015. Identification of a Human Natural Killer Cell Lineage-Restricted Progenitor in Fetal and Adult Tissues. *Immunity*. 43:394–407. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.07.011.
- Reynders, A., N. Yessaad, T.-P. Vu Manh, M. Dalod, A. Fenis, C. Aubry, G. Nikitas, B.
  Escalière, J.C. Renauld, O. Dussurget, P. Cossart, M. Lecuit, E. Vivier, and E. Tomasello.
  2011. Identity, regulation and in vivo function of gut NKp46+RORγt+ and NKp46+RORγtlymphoid cells. *EMBO J.* 30:2934–47. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.201.
- Ricardo-Gonzalez, R.R., S.J. Van Dyken, C. Schneider, J. Lee, J.C. Nussbaum, H.-E. Liang, D. Vaka, W.L. Eckalbar, A.B. Molofsky, D.J. Erle, and R.M. Locksley. 2018. Tissue signals imprint ILC2 identity with anticipatory function. *Nat. Immunol.* doi:10.1038/s41590-018-0201-4.
- Rivera, A., M.C. Siracusa, G.S. Yap, and W.C. Gause. 2016. Innate cell communication kickstarts pathogen-specific immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:356–63. doi:10.1038/ni.3375.

Robinette, M.L., M. Cella, J.B. Telliez, T.K. Ulland, A.D. Barrow, K. Capuder, S. Gilfillan, L.-

L. Lin, L.D. Notarangelo, and M. Colonna. 2018. Jak3 deficiency blocks innate lymphoid cell development. *Mucosal Immunol*. 11:50–60. doi:10.1038/mi.2017.38.

- Robinette, M.L., A. Fuchs, V.S. Cortez, J.S. Lee, Y. Wang, S.K. Durum, S. Gilfillan, and M. Colonna. 2015. Transcriptional programs define molecular characteristics of innate lymphoid cell classes and subsets. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:306–317. doi:10.1038/ni.3094.
- Rosmaraki, E.E., I. Douagi, C. Roth, F. Colucci, A. Cumano, and J.P. Di Santo. 2001.
  Identification of committed NK cell progenitors in adult murine bone marrow. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31:1900–1909. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200106)31:6<1900::AID-</li>
  IMMU1900>3.0.CO;2-M.
- Rossjohn, J., D.G. Pellicci, O. Patel, L. Gapin, and D.I. Godfrey. 2012. Recognition of CD1drestricted antigens by natural killer T cells. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12:845–57. doi:10.1038/nri3328.
- Rothenberg, E. V. 2012. Transcriptional drivers of the T-cell lineage program. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 24:132–138. doi:10.1016/J.COI.2011.12.012.
- Rothenberg, E. V. 2014. Transcriptional control of early T and B cell developmental choices. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 32:283–321. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100024.
- Saluzzo, S., A.D. Gorki, B.M.J. Rana, R. Martins, S. Scanlon, P. Starkl, K. Lakovits, A. Hladik,
  A. Korosec, O. Sharif, J.M. Warszawska, H. Jolin, I. Mesteri, A.N.J. McKenzie, and S.
  Knapp. 2017. First-Breath-Induced Type 2 Pathways Shape the Lung Immune
  Environment. *Cell Rep.* 18:1893–1905. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.01.071.
- Samson, S.I., O. Richard, M. Tavian, T. Ranson, C.A.J. Vosshenrich, F. Colucci, J. Buer, F. Grosveld, I. Godin, and J.P. Di Santo. 2003. GATA-3 promotes maturation, IFN-gamma production, and liver-specific homing of NK cells. *Immunity*. 19:701–11.

- Sanos, S.L., V.L. Bui, A. Mortha, K. Oberle, C. Heners, C. Johner, and A. Diefenbach. 2009. RORγt and commensal microflora are required for the differentiation of mucosal interleukin 22–producing NKp46+ cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 10:83–91. doi:10.1038/ni.1684.
- Satoh-Takayama, N., C.A.J. Vosshenrich, S. Lesjean-Pottier, S. Sawa, M. Lochner, F. Rattis, J.-J. Mention, K. Thiam, N. Cerf-Bensussan, O. Mandelboim, G. Eberl, and J.P. Di Santo.
  2008. Microbial Flora Drives Interleukin 22 Production in Intestinal NKp46+ Cells that
  Provide Innate Mucosal Immune Defense. *Immunity*. 29:958–970.
  doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.001.
- Satpathy, A.T., C.G. Briseño, X. Cai, D.G. Michael, C. Chou, S. Hsiung, D. Bhattacharya, N.A. Speck, and T. Egawa. 2014. Runx1 and Cbfβ regulate the development of Flt3<sup>+</sup> dendritic cell progenitors and restrict myeloproliferative disorder. *Blood*. 123:2968–2977. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-11-539643.
- Savage, A.K., M.G. Constantinides, J. Han, D. Picard, E. Martin, B. Li, O. Lantz, and A. Bendelac. 2008. The transcription factor PLZF directs the effector program of the NKT cell lineage. *Immunity*. 29:391–403. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.07.011.
- Schledzewski, K., C. Géraud, B. Arnold, S. Wang, H.J. Gröne, T. Kempf, K.C. Wollert, B.K.
  Straub, P. Schirmacher, A. Demory, H. Schönhaber, A. Gratchev, L. Dietz, H.J. Thierse, J.
  Kzhyshkowska, and S. Goerdt. 2011. Deficiency of liver sinusoidal scavenger receptors
  stabilin-1 and -2 in mice causes glomerulofibrotic nephropathy via impaired hepatic
  clearance of noxious blood factors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121:703–714. doi:10.1172/JCI44740.
- Schotte, R., W. Dontje, M. Nagasawa, Y. Yasuda, A.Q. Bakker, H. Spits, and B. Blom. 2010.Synergy between IL-15 and Id2 Promotes the Expansion of Human NK Progenitor Cells,Which Can Be Counteracted by the E Protein HEB Required To Drive T Cell Development.

J. Immunol. 184:6670–6679. doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.0901508.

- Schwarz, B. a, and A. Bhandoola. 2004. Circulating hematopoietic progenitors with T lineage potential. *Nat. Immunol.* 5:953–60. doi:10.1038/ni1101.
- Scoville, S.D., B.L. Mundy-Bosse, M.H. Zhang, L. Chen, X. Zhang, K.A. Keller, T. Hughes, L. Chen, S. Cheng, S.M. Bergin, H.C. Mao, S. McClory, J. Yu, W.E. Carson, M.A. Caligiuri, and A.G. Freud. 2016. A Progenitor Cell Expressing Transcription Factor RORγt Generates All Human Innate Lymphoid Cell Subsets. *Immunity*. 44:1140–1150. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.04.007.
- Seach, N., L. Guerri, L. Le Bourhis, Y. Mburu, Y. Cui, S. Bessoles, C. Soudais, and O. Lantz. 2013. Double Positive Thymocytes Select Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells. J. *Immunol.* 191:6002–6009. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301212.
- Seehus, C.R., P. Aliahmad, B. de la Torre, I.D. Iliev, L. Spurka, V.A. Funari, and J. Kaye. 2015a.
  The development of innate lymphoid cells requires TOX-dependent generation of a common innate lymphoid cell progenitor. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:599–608. doi:10.1038/ni.3168.
- Seehus, C.R., P. Aliahmad, B. De Torre, I.D. Iliev, L. Spurka, V.A. Funari, and J. Kaye. 2015b. Articles The development of innate lymphoid cells requires TOX-dependent generation of a common innate lymphoid cell progenitor. 16. doi:10.1038/ni.3168.
- Seehus, C.R., A. Kadavallore, B.D. La Torre, A.R. Yeckes, Y. Wang, J. Tang, and J. Kaye.
  2017. Alternative activation generates IL-10 producing type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Commun.* 8. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-02023-z.
- Seillet, C., L.A. Mielke, D.B. Amann-Zalcenstein, S. Su, J. Gao, F.F. Almeida, W. Shi, M.E. Ritchie, S.H. Naik, N.D. Huntington, S. Carotta, and G.T. Belz. 2016. Deciphering the Innate Lymphoid Cell Transcriptional Program. *Cell Rep.* 17:436–447.

doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.025.

- Seillet, C., L.C. Rankin, J.R. Groom, L.A. Mielke, J. Tellier, M. Chopin, N.D. Huntington, G.T. Belz, and S. Carotta. 2014. Nfil3 is required for the development of all innate lymphoid cell subsets. *J. Exp. Med.* 211:1733–40. doi:10.1084/jem.20140145.
- Serafini, N., R.G.J. Klein Wolterink, N. Satoh-Takayama, W. Xu, C.A.J. Vosshenrich, R.W. Hendriks, and J.P. Di Santo. 2014. *Gata3* drives development of RORγt <sup>+</sup> group 3 innate lymphoid cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 211:199–208. doi:10.1002/bse.2021.
- Setoguchi, R., M. Tachibana, Y. Naoe, S. Muroi, K. Akiyama, C. Tezuka, T. Okuda, and I. Taniuchi. 2008. Repression of the Transcription Factor Th-POK by Runx Complexes in Cytotoxic T Cell Development. *Science (80-. ).* 319:822–825. doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.1151844.
- Shah, D.K., and J.C. Zúñiga-Pflücker. 2014. T Cell Development An Overview of the Intrathymic Intricacies of. *J Immunol Ref.* 192:4017–4023. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302259.
- Shih, H.Y., G. Sciumè, Y. Mikami, L. Guo, H.W. Sun, S.R. Brooks, J.F. Urban, F.P. Davis, Y. Kanno, and J.J. O'Shea. 2016. Developmental Acquisition of Regulames Underlies Innate Lymphoid Cell Functionality. *Cell*. 165:1120–1133. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.029.
- Shortman, K., and L. Wu. 1996. EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 14:29–47. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.29.

Silver, J.S., J. Kearley, A.M. Copenhaver, C. Sanden, M. Mori, L. Yu, G.H. Pritchard, A.A.
Berlin, C.A. Hunter, R. Bowler, J.S. Erjefalt, R. Kolbeck, and A.A. Humbles. 2016.
Inflammatory triggers associated with exacerbations of COPD orchestrate plasticity of group 2 innate lymphoid cells in the lungs. *Nat. Immunol.* 17:626–635. doi:10.1038/ni.3443.

Simoni, Y., M. Fehlings, H.N. Kløverpris, N. McGovern, S.-L. Koo, C.Y. Loh, S. Lim, A.

Kurioka, J.R. Fergusson, C.-L. Tang, M.H. Kam, K. Dennis, T.K.H. Lim, A.C.Y. Fui, C.W.
Hoong, J.K.Y. Chan, M. Curotto de Lafaille, S. Narayanan, S. Baig, M. Shabeer, S.-A.E.S.
Toh, H.K.K. Tan, R. Anicete, E.-H. Tan, A. Takano, P. Klenerman, A. Leslie, D.S.W. Tan,
I.B. Tan, F. Ginhoux, and E.W. Newell. 2017. Human Innate Lymphoid Cell Subsets
Possess Tissue-Type Based Heterogeneity in Phenotype and Frequency. *Immunity*. 46:148–161. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.11.005.

- Smith, S.G., R. Chen, M. Kjarsgaard, C. Huang, J.P. Oliveria, P.M. O'Byrne, G.M. Gauvreau, L.P. Boulet, C. Lemiere, J. Martin, P. Nair, and R. Sehmi. 2016. Increased numbers of activated group 2 innate lymphoid cells in the airways of patients with severe asthma and persistent airway eosinophilia. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 137:75–86.e8. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2015.05.037.
- Spencer, S.P., C. Wilhelm, Q. Yang, J.A. Hall, N. Bouladoux, A. Boyd, T.B. Nutman, J.F. Urban, J. Wang, T.R. Ramalingam, A. Bhandoola, T.A. Wynn, and Y. Belkaid. 2014.
  Adaptation of Innate Lymphoid Cells to a Micronutrient Deficiency Promotes Type 2 Barrier Immunity. *Science (80-. ).* 343.
- Spooner, C.J., J. Lesch, D. Yan, A.A. Khan, A. Abbas, V. Ramirez-Carrozzi, M. Zhou, R.
  Soriano, J. Eastham-Anderson, L. Diehl, W.P. Lee, Z. Modrusan, R. Pappu, M. Xu, J.
  DeVoss, and H. Singh. 2013. Specification of type 2 innate lymphocytes by the transcriptional determinant Gfi1. *Nat. Immunol.* 14:1229–36. doi:10.1038/ni.2743.
- Starr, T.K., S.C. Jameson, and K.A. Hogquist. 2003. P OSITIVE AND N EGATIVE S ELECTION OF T C ELLS. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21:139–176. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141107.

Steer, C.A., I. Martinez-Gonzalez, M. Ghaedi, P. Allinger, L. Mathä, and F. Takei. 2017. Group

2 innate lymphoid cell activation in the neonatal lung drives type 2 immunity and allergen sensitization. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 140:593–595.e3. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2016.12.984.

- Steinke, F.C., S. Yu, X. Zhou, B. He, W. Yang, B. Zhou, H. Kawamoto, J. Zhu, K. Tan, and H.H. Xue. 2014. TCF-1 and LEF-1 act upstream of Th-POK to promote the CD4 + T cell fate and interact with Runx3 to silence Cd4 in CD8 + T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 15:646–656. doi:10.1038/ni.2897.
- Stone, K.D., C. Prussin, and D.D. Metcalfe. 2010. IgE, mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125:S73-80. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.11.017.
- Sugimoto, T., N. Morioka, F.F. Zhang, K. Sato, H. Abe, K. Hisaoka-Nakashima, and Y. Nakata.
  2014. Clock gene Per1 regulates the production of CCL2 and interleukin-6 through p38,
  JNK1 and NF-κB activation in spinal astrocytes. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 59:37–46.
  doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2014.01.003.
- Sui, P., D.L. Wiesner, J. Xu, Y. Zhang, J. Lee, S. Van Dyken, A. Lashua, C. Yu, B.S. Klein, R.M. Locksley, G. Deutsch, and X. Sun. 2018. Pulmonary neuroendocrine cells amplify allergic asthma responses. *Science (80-. ).* 360. doi:10.1126/science.aan8546.
- Sullivan, T.E.O., M. Rapp, X. Fan, T. Walzer, A.J. Dannenberg, J.C. Sun, T.E.O. Sullivan, M. Rapp, X. Fan, O. Weizman, P. Bhardwaj, N.M. Adams, T. Walzer, A.J. Dannenberg, and J.C. Sun. 2016. Adipose-Resident Group 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells Promote Obesity-Associated Insulin Resistance Article Adipose-Resident Group 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells Promote Obesity-Associated Insulin Resistance. *Immunity*. 45:428–441. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.016.
- Tachibana, M., M. Tenno, C. Tezuka, M. Sugiyama, H. Yoshida, and I. Taniuchi. 2011.Runx1/Cbf 2 Complexes Are Required for Lymphoid Tissue Inducer Cell Differentiation at

Two Developmental Stages. J. Immunol. 186:1450–1457. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000162.

- Takeda, K., E. Cretney, Y. Hayakawa, T. Ota, H. Akiba, K. Ogasawara, H. Yagita, K. Kinoshita, K. Okumura, and M.J. Smyth. 2005. TRAIL identifies immature natural killer cells in newborn mice and adult mouse liver. *Blood*. 105:2082–2089. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-08-3262.
- Takeda, K., Y. Hayakawa, M.J. Smyth, N. Kayagaki, N. Yamaguchi, S. Kakuta, Y. Iwakura, H. Yagita, and K. Okumura. 2001. Involvement of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand in surveillance of tumor metastasis by liver natural killer cells. *Nat. Med.* 7:94–100. doi:10.1038/83416.
- Taniuchi, I., M. Osato, T. Egawa, M.J. Sunshine, S.C. Bae, T. Komori, Y. Ito, and D.R. Littman. 2002. Differential requirements for Runx proteins in CD4 repression and epigenetic silencing during T lymphocyte development. *Cell*. 111:621–33.
- Taylor, S., Y. Huang, G. Mallett, C. Stathopoulou, T.C. Felizardo, M.-A. Sun, E.L. Martin, N.Zhu, E.L. Woodward, M.S. Elias, J. Scott, N.J. Reynolds, W.E. Paul, D.H. Fowler, and S.Amarnath. 2017a. PD-1 regulates KLRG1+ group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *J. Exp. Med.*
- Taylor, S., Y. Huang, G. Mallett, C. Stathopoulou, T.C. Felizardo, M.-A. Sun, E.L. Martin, N.
  Zhu, E.L. Woodward, M.S. Elias, J. Scott, N.J. Reynolds, W.E. Paul, D.H. Fowler, and S.
  Amarnath. 2017b. PD-1 regulates KLRG1 <sup>+</sup> group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *J. Exp. Med.*214:1663–1678. doi:10.1084/jem.20161653.
- Teng, A.C.T., D. Kuraitis, S.A. Deeke, A. Ahmadi, S.G. Dugan, B.L.M. Cheng, M.G. Crowson, P.G. Burgon, E.J. Suuronen, H.-H. Chen, and A.F.R. Stewart. 2010. IRF2BP2 is a skeletal and cardiac muscle-enriched ischemia-inducible activator of VEGFA expression. *FASEB J*. 24:4825–4834. doi:10.1096/fj.10-167049.

- Thaiss, C.A., M. Levy, S. Itav, and E. Elinav. 2016. Integration of Innate Immune Signaling. *Trends Immunol.* 37:84–101. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.12.003.
- Tindemans, I., N. Serafini, J.P. DiSanto, and R.W. Hendriks. 2014. GATA-3 function in innate and adaptive immunity. *Immunity*. 41:191–206. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.006.
- Ting, C.-N., M.C. Olson, K.P. Barton, and J.M. Leiden. 1996. Transcription factor GATA-3 is required for development of the T-cell lineage. *Nature*. 384:474–478. doi:10.1038/384474a0.
- Townsend, M.J., A.S. Weinmann, J.L. Matsuda, R. Salomon, P.J. Farnham, C.A. Biron, L. Gapin, and L.H. Glimcher. 2004. T-bet Regulates the Terminal Maturation and Homeostasis of NK and Vα14i NKT Cells. *Immunity*. 20:477–494. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00076-7.
- Trapnell, C. 2015. Defining cell types and states with single-cell genomics. *Genome Res.* 25:1491–1498. doi:10.1101/gr.190595.115.
- Trapnell, C., D. Cacchiarelli, J. Grimsby, P. Pokharel, S. Li, M. Morse, N.J. Lennon, K.J. Livak, T.S. Mikkelsen, and J.L. Rinn. 2014. The dynamics and regulators of cell fate decisions are revealed by pseudotemporal ordering of single cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32:381–386. doi:10.1038/nbt.2859.
- Tsuji, M., K. Suzuki, H. Kitamura, M. Maruya, K. Kinoshita, I.I. Ivanov, K. Itoh, D.R. Littman, and S. Fagarasan. 2008. Requirement for Lymphoid Tissue-Inducer Cells in Isolated Follicle Formation and T Cell-Independent Immunoglobulin A Generation in the Gut. *Immunity*. 29:261–271. doi:10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2008.05.014.
- Verbeek, S., D. Izon, F. Hofhuis, E. Robanus-Maandag, H. te Riele, M. van de Watering, M. Oosterwegel, A. Wilson, H. Robson MacDonald, and H. Clevers. 1995. An HMG-box-containing T-cell factor required for thymocyte differentiation. *Nature*. 374:70–74.

doi:10.1038/374070a0.

- Verykokakis, M., V. Krishnamoorthy, A. Iavarone, A. Lasorella, M. Sigvardsson, and B.L. Kee. 2013. Essential functions for ID proteins at multiple checkpoints in invariant NKT cell development. *J. Immunol.* 191:5973–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301521.
- Viant, C., L.C. Rankin, M.J.H. Girard-Madoux, C. Seillet, W. Shi, M.J. Smyth, L. Bartholin, T. Walzer, N.D. Huntington, E. Vivier, and G.T. Belz. 2016. Transforming growth factor b and Notch ligands act as opposing environmental cues in regulating the plasticity of type 3 innate lymphoid cells. *Sci. Signal.* 9:ra46-ra46. doi:10.1126/scisignal.aaf2176.
- Vivier, E. 2017. i nsig h t s Immune checkpoints on innate lymphoid cells. 8–10.
- Vivier, E., E. Tomasello, M. Baratin, T. Walzer, and S. Ugolini. 2008. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 9:503–510. doi:10.1038/ni1582.
- Vonarbourg, C., A. Mortha, V.L. Bui, P.P. Hernandez, E.A. Kiss, T. Hoyler, M. Ho, U.
  Pannicke, M. Flach, B. Bengsch, R. Thimme, C. Ho, K. Schwarz, C.F. Ware, D. Finke, and
  A. Diefenbach. 2009. Article Regulated Expression of Nuclear Receptor ROR g t Confers
  Distinct Functional Fates to NK Cell Receptor-Expressing ROR g t + Innate Lymphocytes.
  17. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.017.
- Vosshenrich, C.A.J., T. Ranson, S.I. Samson, E. Corcuff, F. Colucci, E.E. Rosmaraki, and J.P. Di Santo. 2005. Roles for common cytokine receptor gamma-chain-dependent cytokines in the generation, differentiation, and maturation of NK cell precursors and peripheral NK cells in vivo. *J. Immunol.* 174:1213–21.
- Wakabayashi, Y., H. Watanabe, J. Inoue, N. Takeda, J. Sakata, Y. Mishima, J. Hitomi, T. Yamamoto, M. Utsuyama, O. Niwa, S. Aizawa, and R. Kominami. 2003. Bcl11b is required for differentiation and survival of αβ T lymphocytes. *Nat. Immunol.* 4:533–539.

doi:10.1038/ni927.

- Walker, J.A., C.J. Oliphant, A. Englezakis, Y. Yu, S. Clare, H.-R. Rodewald, G. Belz, P. Liu, P.G. Fallon, and A.N.J. McKenzie. 2015. Bcl11b is essential for group 2 innate lymphoid cell development. *J. Exp. Med.* 212:875–82. doi:10.1084/jem.20142224.
- Wallrapp, A., S.J. Riesenfeld, P.R. Burkett, R.-E.E. Abdulnour, J. Nyman, D. Dionne, M. Hofree, M.S. Cuoco, C. Rodman, D. Farouq, B.J. Haas, T.L. Tickle, J.J. Trombetta, P. Baral, C.S.N. Klose, T. Mahlakõiv, D. Artis, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, I.M. Chiu, B.D. Levy, M.S. Kowalczyk, A. Regev, and V.K. Kuchroo. 2017. The neuropeptide NMU amplifies ILC2-driven allergic lung inflammation. *Nature*. 549:351–356. doi:10.1038/nature24029.
- Wang, L.-H., and N.E. Baker. 2015. Developmental Cell Review E Proteins and ID Proteins: Helix-Loop-Helix Partners in Development and Disease. *Dev. Cell*. 35:269–280. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2015.10.019.
- Wang, L., K.F. Wildt, J. Zhu, X. Zhang, L. Feigenbaum, L. Tessarollo, W.E. Paul, B.J. Fowlkes, and R. Bosselut. 2008. Distinct functions for the transcription factors GATA-3 and ThPOK during intrathymic differentiation of CD4+ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 9:1122–1130. doi:10.1038/ni.1647.
- Wang, Q., T. Stacy, M. Binder, M. Marin-Padilla, A.H. Sharpe, and N.A. Speck. 1996.
  Disruption of the Cbfa2 gene causes necrosis and hemorrhaging in the central nervous system and blocks definitive hematopoiesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93:3444–9.
- Wang, Y., I. Misumi, A.-D. Gu, T.A. Curtis, L. Su, J.K. Whitmire, and Y.Y. Wan. 2013. GATA-3 controls the maintenance and proliferation of T cells downstream of TCR and cytokine signaling. *Nat. Immunol.* 14:714–722. doi:10.1038/ni.2623.

Weber, B.N., A.W. Chi, A. Chavez, Y. Yashiro-ohtani, Q. Yang, O. Shestova, and A.

Bhandoola. 2011. A critical role for TCF-1 in T-lineage specification and differentiation. *Nature*. 476:63–8. doi:10.1038/nature10279.

- Weizman, O., N.M. Adams, I.S. Schuster, C.S. Leslie, J.C. Sun, T.E.O. Sullivan, O. Weizman, N.M. Adams, I.S. Schuster, C. Krishna, Y. Pritykin, C. Lau, M.A. Degli-esposti, C.S. Leslie, J.C. Sun, and T.E.O. Sullivan. 2017. ILC1 Confer Early Host Protection at Initial Sites of Article ILC1 Confer Early Host Protection at Initial Sites of Viral Infection. *Cell*. 171:795–808.e12. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.052.
- Welinder, E., J. Åhsberg, and M. Sigvardsson. 2011. B-lymphocyte commitment: Identifying the point of no return. *Semin. Immunol.* 23:335–340. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2011.08.005.
- Wilhelm, C., K. Hirota, B. Stieglitz, J. Van Snick, M. Tolaini, K. Lahl, T. Sparwasser, H.
  Helmby, and B. Stockinger. 2011. An IL-9 fate reporter demonstrates the induction of an innate IL-9 response in lung inflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 12:1071–1077.
  doi:10.1038/ni.2133.
- Wilkinson, B., J.Y.F. Chen, P. Han, K.M. Rufner, O.D. Goularte, and J. Kaye. 2002. TOX: An HMG box protein implicated in the regulation of thymocyte selection. *Nat. Immunol.* 3:272–280. doi:10.1038/ni767.
- Wong, S.H., J.A. Walker, H.E. Jolin, L.F. Drynan, E. Hams, A. Camelo, J.L. Barlow, D.R. Neill,
  V. Panova, U. Koch, F. Radtke, C.S. Hardman, Y.Y. Hwang, P.G. Fallon, and A.N.J.
  McKenzie. 2012. Transcription factor RORα is critical for nuocyte development. *Nat. Immunol.* 13:229–36. doi:10.1038/ni.2208.
- Wong, W.F., K. Kohu, T. Chiba, T. Sato, and M. Satake. 2011. Interplay of transcription factors in T-cell differentiation and function: The role of Runx. *Immunology*. 132:157–164. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03381.x.

- Woolf, E., C. Xiao, O. Fainaru, J. Lotem, D. Rosen, V. Negreanu, Y. Bernstein, D. Goldenberg,
  O. Brenner, G. Berke, D. Levanon, and Y. Groner. 2003. Runx3 and Runx1 are required for
  CD8 T cell development during thymopoiesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 100:7731–7736.
  doi:10.1073/pnas.1232420100.
- Xu, W., R.G. Domingues, J.P. Di Santo, and S. Lopez-lastra. 2015. NFIL3 Orchestrates the Emergence of Common Helper Innate Lymphoid Cell Precursors Article NFIL3 Orchestrates the Emergence of Common Helper Innate Lymphoid Cell Precursors. 2043– 2054. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.02.057.
- Xue, L., M. Salimi, I. Panse, J.M. Mjösberg, A.N.J. McKenzie, H. Spits, P. Klenerman, and G. Ogg. 2014. Prostaglandin D2activates group 2 innate lymphoid cells through chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on TH2 cells. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 133. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.056.
- Yagi, R., C. Zhong, D.L.L. Northrup, F. Yu, N. Bouladoux, S. Spencer, G. Hu, L. Barron, S. Sharma, T. Nakayama, Y. Belkaid, K. Zhao, and J. Zhu. 2014. The transcription factor GATA3 is critical for the development of all IL-7Rα-expressing innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity*. 40:378–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.012.
- Yang, M., D. Li, Z. Chang, Z. Yang, Z. Tian, and Z. Dong. 2015a. PDK1 orchestrates early NK cell development through induction of E4BP4 expression and maintenance of IL-15 responsiveness. *J. Exp. Med.* 212:253–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20141703.
- Yang, Q., F. Li, C. Harly, S. Xing, L. Ye, X. Xia, H. Wang, X. Wang, S. Yu, X. Zhou, M. Cam,
  H.-H.H. Xue, and A. Bhandoola. 2015b. TCF-1 upregulation identifies early innate
  lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow. *Nat. Immunol.* 16:1044–1050.
  doi:10.1038/ni.3248.

- Yang, Q., L.A. Monticelli, S. a Saenz, A.W. Chi, G.F. Sonnenberg, J. Tang, M.E. De Obaldia, W. Bailis, J.L. Bryson, K. Toscano, J. Huang, A. Haczku, W.S. Pear, M.E. De Obaldia, W. Bailis, J.L. Bryson, K. Toscano, J. Huang, A. Haczku, W.S. Pear, D. Artis, and A. Bhandoola. 2013. T cell factor 1 is required for group 2 innate lymphoid cell generation. *Immunity*. 38:694–704. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.12.003.
- Yang, Q., S. a Saenz, D. a Zlotoff, D. Artis, and A. Bhandoola. 2011. Cutting edge: Natural helper cells derive from lymphoid progenitors. *J. Immunol.* 187:5505–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102039.
- Yang, X.O., B.P. Pappu, R. Nurieva, A. Akimzhanov, H.S. Kang, Y. Chung, L. Ma, B. Shah,
  A.D. Panopoulos, K.S. Schluns, S.S. Watowich, Q. Tian, A.M. Jetten, and C. Dong. 2008. T
  Helper 17 Lineage Differentiation Is Programmed by Orphan Nuclear Receptors RORα and
  RORγ. *Immunity*. 28:29–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.11.016.
- Ying, X., Z. Su, Q. Bie, P. Zhang, H. Yang, Y. Wu, Y. Xu, J. Wu, M. Zhang, S. Wang, and H. Xu. 2016. Synergistically increased ILC2 and Th9 cells in lung tissue jointly promote the pathological process of asthma in mice. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 13:5230–5240. doi:10.3892/mmr.2016.5174.
- Yokota, Y., A. Mansouri, S. Mori, S. Sugawara, S. Adachi, S.-I. Nishikawa, and P. Gruss. 1999.
  Development of peripheral lymphoid organs and natural killer cells depends on the helix– loop–helix inhibitor Id2. *Nature*. 397:702–706. doi:10.1038/17812.
- Yoshida, H., K. Honda, R. Shinkura, S. Adachi, S. Nishikawa, K. Maki, K. Ikuta, and S.I. Nishikawa. 1999. IL-7 receptor alpha+ CD3(-) cells in the embryonic intestine induces the organizing center of Peyer's patches. *Int. Immunol.* 11:643–55.

Yoshida, H., H. Kawamoto, S.M. Santee, H. Hashi, K. Honda, S. Nishikawa, C.F. Ware, Y.

Katsura, and S.-I. Nishikawa. 2001. Expression of 4 7 Integrin Defines a Distinct Pathway of Lymphoid Progenitors Committed to T Cells, Fetal Intestinal Lymphotoxin Producer, NK, and Dendritic Cells. *J. Immunol.* 167:2511–2521. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.5.2511.

- Yu, Q., A. Sharma, S.Y. Oh, H.-G. Moon, M.Z. Hossain, T.M. Salay, K.E. Leeds, H. Du, B. Wu, M.L. Waterman, Z. Zhu, and J.M. Sen. 2009. T cell factor 1 initiates the T helper type 2 fate by inducing the transcription factor GATA-3 and repressing interferon-γ. *Nat. Immunol.* 10:992–999. doi:10.1038/ni.1762.
- Yu, X., Y. Wang, M. Deng, Y. Li, K.A. Ruhn, C.C. Zhang, and L. V. Hooper. 2014. The basic leucine zipper transcription factor NFIL3 directs the development of a common innate lymphoid cell precursor. *Elife*. 3:1–20. doi:10.7554/eLife.04406.
- Yu, Y., J.C.H.H. Tsang, C. Wang, S. Clare, J. Wang, X. Chen, C. Brandt, L. Kane, L.S. Campos,
  L. Lu, G.T. Belz, A.N.J. McKenzie, S.A. Teichmann, G. Dougan, and P. Liu. 2016. Singlecell RNA-seq identifies a PD-1hi ILC progenitor and defines its developmental pathway. *Nature*. 539:102–106. doi:10.1038/nature20105.
- Yu, Y., C. Wang, S. Clare, J. Wang, S.-C. Lee, C. Brandt, S. Burke, L. Lu, D. He, N.A. Jenkins, N.G. Copeland, G. Dougan, and P. Liu. 2015. The transcription factor Bcl11b is specifically expressed in group 2 innate lymphoid cells and is essential for their development. *J. Exp. Med.* 212:865–874. doi:10.1084/jem.20142318.
- Zhang, F., G. Meng, and W. Strober. 2008. Interactions among the transcription factors Runx1, RORγt and Foxp3 regulate the differentiation of interleukin 17–producing T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 9:1297–1306. doi:10.1038/ni.1663.
- Zhang, N., and M.J. Bevan. 2011. CD8(+) T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. *Immunity*. 35:161–8. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.07.010.

- Zhong, C., K. Cui, C. Wilhelm, G. Hu, K. Mao, Y. Belkaid, K. Zhao, and J. Zhu. 2016. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells continuously require the transcription factor GATA-3 after commitment. *Nat. Immunol.* 17. doi:10.1038/ni.3318.
- Zhou, W., S. Toki, J. Zhang, K. Goleniewksa, D.C. Newcomb, J.Y. Cephus, D.E. Dulek, M.H.
  Bloodworth, M.T. Stier, V. Polosuhkin, R.D. Gangula, S.A. Mallal, D.H. Broide, and R.S.
  Peebles. 2016. Prostaglandin I2 signaling and inhibition of group 2 innate lymphoid cell
  responses. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 193:31–42. doi:10.1164/rccm.201410-1793OC.
- Zhu, J. 2017. GATA3 Regulates the development and functions of innate lymphoid cell subsets at multiple stages. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1–8. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01571.
- Zhu, J. 2018. Mysterious ILC2 tissue adaptation. *Nat. Immunol.* 19:2–4. doi:10.1038/s41590-018-0214-z.
- Zhu, J., T.S. Davidson, G. Wei, D. Jankovic, K. Cui, D.E. Schones, L. Guo, K. Zhao, E.M. Shevach, and W.E. Paul. 2009. Down-regulation of Gfi-1 expression by TGF-beta is important for differentiation of Th17 and CD103+ inducible regulatory T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 206:329–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20081666.
- Zhu, J., B. Min, J. Hu-Li, C.J. Watson, A. Grinberg, Q. Wang, N. Killeen, J.F. Urban, L. Guo, and W.E. Paul. 2004. Conditional deletion of Gata3 shows its essential function in T(H)1-T(H)2 responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 5:1157–65. doi:10.1038/ni1128.
- Zook, E.C., K. Ramirez, X. Guo, G. van der Voort, M. Sigvardsson, E.C. Svensson, Y.-X. Fu, and B.L. Kee. 2016. The ETS1 transcription factor is required for the development and cytokine-induced expansion of ILC2. *J. Exp. Med.* 213:687–696. doi:10.1084/jem.20150851.